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Glossary and Selected Abbreviations

Bbl One stock tank barrel, of 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used herein in reference to crude oil or other
liquid hydrocarbons.

Bbls/d Barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons produced per day.

Bcf One billion cubicu feet of natural gas or CO2.

BOE One barrel of oil equivalent, using the ratio of one barrel of crude oil, condensate or naturalt gas
liquids to 6 Mcf of naturalt gas.

BOE/d BOEs produced per day.

Btu Bt ritish thermal unit, which is the heat required to raise the temperaturet of a one-pound mass of water
from 58.5 to 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit (°F).

CCUS Carbon Capture,t Use, and Storage.

CO2 Carbon dioxide.

EOR Enhanced oil recovery. In the context of our oil production, EOR is also referred to as tertiary
recovery. Primary types of EOR include thermal, gas injection (such as naturalt gas, nitrogen, or
CO2) and chemical injection (such as the use of polymers).

Finding and
development costs

The average cost per BOE to find and develop proved reserves during a given period. It is calculated
by dividing (a) costs, which include the sum of (i) the total acquisition, exploration and development
costs incurred during the period plus (ii) future development and abandonment costs related to the
specified property or group of properties, by (b) the sum of (i) the change in total proved reserves
during the period plus (ii) total production during that period.

GAAP Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

MBbls One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

MBOE One thousand BOEs.

Mcf One thousand cubic feet of naturalt gas or CO2 at a temperature base of 60 degrees Fahrenheit (°F)
and at the legal pressure base (14.65 to 15.025 pounds per square inch absolute) of the state or area in
which the reserves are located or sales are made.

Mcf/d One thousand cubicu feet of natural gas or CO2 per day.

MMBOE One million BOEs.

MMBtu One million Btus.t

MMcf One million cubic feet of naturalt gas or CO2.

MMcf/d One million cubicu feet of natural gas or CO2 produced per day.

Noncash fair value
gains (losses) on
commodity
derivatives

The net change during the period in the fair market value of commodity derivative positions.
Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives is a non-GAAP measure and makes up
only a portion of “Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, which also includes the impact of settlements on commodity derivatives during the
period. Its use is further discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysisll of FinFF ancial Condition
and Results of Operations – Resultstt of Operations – Financial and Operating Results Tables.

NYMEX The New York Mercantile Exchange. In the context of prices received for oil and naturalt gas,
NYMEX prices represent the West Texas Intermediate benchmark price for crude oil and Henry Hub
benchmark price for natural gas.

Probable
Reserves*

Reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves but which, together with proved
reserves, are as likely as not to be recovered.

Proved Developed
Reserves*

Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and
operating methods.

Proved Reserves* Reserves that geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be
recoverablea in futuret years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

Denbury Inc.
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Proved
Undeveloped
Reserves*

Reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from existing
wells, in each case where a relatively majora expenditure is required.

PV-10 Value The estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the production of proved reserves, net of
estimated future production, development and abandonment costs, and before income taxes,
discounted to a present value using an annual discount rate of 10%. PV-10 Values were prepared
using average hydrocarbon prices equal to the unweighted arithmetic average of hydrocarbon prices
on the first day of each month within the 12-month period preceding the reporting date. PV-10
Value is a non-GAAP measure and does not purport to represent the fair value of our oil and naturalt
gas reserves; its use is further discussed in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysll is of
Financial Condition and Resultstt of Operations – Non-GAAP Financial Measure and Reconciliation.

Tcf One trillion cubic feet of naturalt gas or CO2.

Tertiary Recovery A term used to represent techniques for extracting incremental oil out of existing oil fields (as
opposed to primary and secondary recovery or “non-tertiary” recovery). See also “EOR.”

* This definition is an abbreviated version of the complete definition set forth in Rule 4-10(a) of Regulation S-X. For the
complete definition see:
http:/t /www.e// cfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?
SID=2d916841db86d079fa060fa63b08d34e&mc=true&node=se17.3.210_14_610&rgn=div8.
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PART I

Item 1. Business and Propertiesp

GENERAL

Denbury Inc., a Delaware corporation, is an independent energy company with 143.1 MMBOE of estimated proved oil
and naturalt gas reserves as of December 31, 2020, of which 98% is oil. Our operations are focused in two key operating
areas: the Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions. The Company is differentiated by its focus on CO2 EOR and the
emerging CCUS industry, supported by the Company’s CO2 EOR technical and operational expertise and its extensive CO2
pipeline infrastructure.t The utilization of capturea d industrial-sourced CO2 in EOR significantly reduces the carbon
footprint of the oil that Denbury produces, underpinning the Company’s goal to fully offset its Scope 1, 2, and 3 CO2
emissions within the decade. Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) we use the terms “Denbury,”
“Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” to refer to Denburyrr Inc. and, as the context may require, its subsidiaries.

As part of our corporate strategy, we are committed to creating long-term value for our shareholders through the
following key principles:

• target specific regions where we either have, or believe we can create, a competitive advantage as a result of our
ownership or use of CO2 reserves, oil fields and CO2 infrastructr ure;t

• increase the value of our assets through applying our technical expertise in CO2 tertiaryrr recovery, together with a
combination of other exploration, development, exploitation and marketing skills and practices;

• seek to expand the use of industrial-sourced CO2 in our tertiary recovery operations, with an ultimate objective of
producing oil with a negative carbon footprintt ;

• leverage our extensive CO2 pipeline assets and CO2 EOR expertise to expand our operations and leadership
position in the emerging CCUS industry;

• acquire properties that give us a majoria ty working interest and operational control or where we believe we can
ultimately obtain it;

• maximize the value and cash flow generated from our operations by increasing production and reserves while
controlling costs;

• optimize the timing and allocation of capita al among our investment opportunities to maximize the rates of returnt
on our investments;

• exercise financial discipline and maintain a strong balance sheet; and
• attract and maintain a highly competitive team of experienced and incentivized personnel.

As further described in Emergencr e from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcyc Code below,
Denbury Inc. became the successor reporting company (the “Successor”) of Denbury Resources Inc. (the “Predecessor”)
upon the Predecessor’s emergence from bankruptcy on September 18, 2020. On September 18, 2020, Denbury filed the
Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretaryrr of State to effect a change of the Company’s
corporate name from Denbury Resources Inc. to Denbury Inc. On September 21, 2020, the Successor’s new common
stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol DEN, as distinguished from, Denbury
Resources Inc.’s common stock having been publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange since 1997. Our corporate
headquarters is located at 5851 Legacy Circle, Plano, Texas 75024, and our phone number is 972-673-2000. We make our
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reports, filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, available free of
charge on or through our website, www.denbury.comy , as soon as reasonably practicablea after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC also maintains a website,
http:/t /www.se// c.govp g , which contains periodic reports on Forms 8-K, 10-Q and 10-K filed with the SEC, along with other
reports, proxy and information statements and other information filed by Denbury.

Emergence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code

On July 30, 2020 (the “Petition Date”), Denbury Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries filed petitions for reorganization in
a “prepackaged” voluntary bankruptcy (the “Chapta er 11 Restructuring”) under chaptea r 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”) under the capta ion “In“ re
Denbury Resources Inc., et al., Case No. 20-33801”. On September 2, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the
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“Confirmation Order”) confirming the chapter 11 plan of reorganization (the “Plan”) and approving the Disclosure
Statement, and on September 18, 2020 (the “Emergence Date”), the Plan became effeff ctive in accordance with its terms and
the Company emerged from the Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. Key accomplishments of the Chapter 11
Restructuring included the following:

• Adopted an amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws with authorized capita alization of
250,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Denbury (the “New Common Stock”) and
50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share;

• Cancelled all outstanding senior secured second lien notes, convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes
issued by the Predecessor. In accordance with the Plan, claims against and interests in the Predecessor were treated as
follows:

◦ Holders of senior secured second lien notes claims received their pro rata share of 47,499,999 shares
representing 95% of the New Common Stock issued on the Emergence Date, subject to dilution on account of
warrants and a management incentive plan;

◦ Holders of convertible senior notes claims received their pro rata share of (a) 2,500,000 shares representing
5% of the New Common Stock issued on the Emergence Date, subject to dilution on account of warrants and
a management incentive plan and (b) 100% of the series A warrants (see below), reflecting up to a maximum
of 5% ownership stake in the reorganized company’s equity interests;

◦ Holders of subordinated notes claims received their pro rata share of 54.55% of the series B warrants (see
below), reflecting up to a maximum of 3% of the reorganized company’s equity interests after giving effect to
the exercise of the series A warrants;

◦ Holders of existing equity interests received their pro rata share of 45.45% of the series B warrants (see
below), reflecting up to a maximum of 2.5% of the reorganized company’s equity interests after giving effect
to the exercise of the series A warrants;

◦ Issued 2,631,579 five-year series A warrants at an exercise price of $32.59 per share to former holders of the
Predecessor’s convertible senior notes and 2,894,740 three-year series B warrants at an exercise price of
$35.41 per share to former holders of the Predecessor’s senior subordinated notes and Predecessor’s equity
interests; and

◦ Holders of general unsecured claims received payment in full in cash, reimbursement, or such other treatment
rendering such general unsecured claim unimpaired.

• Reduced d ongoing annual interest expense by approximately $165 million, significantly lowering our cash flow
breakeven level;

• Establia shed a new $575 million senior secured bank credit facility with $482.0 million of availability at December 31,
2020 after outstanding letters of credit; and

• Appointed a new board of directors (the “Board”) consisting of four new independent members: Anthony Abate,
Caroline Angoorly, Brett Wiggs and James N. “Jim” Chapman, and three continuing members: Dr. Kevin O. Meyers
(Chairman of the Board), Lynn A. Peterson and Chris Kendall, Denbury’s President and Chief Executive Officer.

For more information on the Chapter 11 Restructuring and related matters, refer to Note 1, Nature of Operations and
Summary of Signifii cant Accounting Policies – EmergEE ence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the
Bankruptcykk Code, and Note 8, Long-Term Debt, to the consolidated financial statements.

Fresh Start Accounting

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we met the criteria and were required to adopt fresh start accounting in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification (“FASC”) Topic 852, Reorganizations, which on the Emergence
Date resulted in a new entity, the Successor, for financial reporting purposes, with no beginning retained earnings or deficit
as of the fresh start reporting date. References to “Successor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of
the Company subsequent to the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy on September 18, 2020, and references to
“Predecessor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the Company prior to, and including, September
18, 2020. In order to assist investors in understanding the comparability of our financial results for the applicablea periods,
we have provided certain comparative analysis on a combined basis, which management believes provides meaningful
information to assist investors in understanding our financial results for the applicablea period, but should not be considered
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in isolation, as a substitute for, or more meaningful than, independent results of the Predecessor and Successor periods for
the year reported in accordance with GAAP.

Fresh start accounting requires that new fair values be established for the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity as of
the date of emergence from bankruptcy, September 18, 2020, and therefore certain values and operational results of the
consolidated financial statements subsequentu to September 18, 2020 are not comparablea to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements prior to, and including September 18, 2020, principally due to the Emergence Date re-evaluation of the
fair value of our oil and naturalt gas properties, CO2 properties, and pipelines, together with the conversion of over $2
billion of previously outstanding debt into new common stock and/or warrants in the Successor. The reorganization value
derived from the range of enterprise values associated with the Plan was allocated to the Company’s identifiablea tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities based on their fair values. The Emergence Date fair values of the Successor’s assets
and liabilities differff materially from their recorded values as reflected on the historical balance sheet of the Predecessor and
may materially affect our results of operations in Successor reporting periods.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the ongoing COVID-19 coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak
a pandemic, and the President of the United States declared the COVID-19 pandemic a national emergency. The
COVID-19 pandemic has caused a rapid and precipitous drop in oil demand, which worsened an already deteriorated oil
market that followed the early-March 2020 failure by the group of oil producing nations known as OPEC+ to reach an
agreement over proposed oil production cuts. Uncertainty about the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its resulting
economic consequences has resulted in abnormally high worldwide inventories of produced oil. While oil prices as of mid-
February 2021 have improved to the low-$60s per barrel, which is significantly higher than the low points experienced
during the second quarter of 2020, the concerns and uncertainties around the balance of supply and demand for oil are
expected to continue for some time. Because the realized oil prices we received during 2020 were significantly reduced,
our operating cash flow and liquidity were adversely affecff ted.

2020 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS

Since our production is 97% oil, oil prices generally constitute the single largest variable in our operating results. Over
the last several years, NYMEX oil prices have been extremely volatile, declining from a three-year peak of $76 per Bbl in
October 2018 to lows averaging $17 per Bbl in April 2020 due to the significant interruption in worldwide economic
activity and reduction in oil demand amid the COVID-19 pandemic, plus OPEC supply pressures, before gradually
increasing to an average of $47 per Bbl in December 2020. Throughout this time, we have focused primarily on
preservation of cash and liquidity, together with cost reductions and debt management, rather than concentration on
expansion and growth. Our 2020 key business developments included the following:

• Completed financial restructuring and emerged from Chapter 11 reorganization on September 18, 2020 with a strong
balance sheet and liquidity position (refer to Note 1, Nature of Operations and Summary of Signifii cant Accounting
Policies – EmergEE ence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcyc Code, and Note 8, Long-
Term Debt, to the consolidated financial statements).

• Reduced d our originally planned capita al expenditures in March 2020, deferred the CO2 pipeline extension to Cedar
Creek Anticline and implementation of the enhanced oil recovery development project beyond 2020; implemented cost
reduction measures including shutting down compressors, negotiating reductions with vendors, and delaying
uneconomic well repairs and workovers.

• Restructured our CO2 pipeline financing arrangements with Genesis Energy, L.P. (“Genesis”), whereby we (1)
reacquired the NEJD pipeline system from Genesis in exchange for $70 million to be paid in four equal payments
during 2021, representing full settlement of all remaining obligations under the NEJD secured financing lease; and (2)
reacquired the Free State Pipeline from Genesis in exchange for a one-time payment of $22.5 million on October 30,
2020. As a result, we reduced debt by $25 million and lowered interest expense while maximizing flexibility for
future CCUS operations on these lines.

• Closed a farm-down transaction in March 2020 for the sale of half of our nearly 100% working interest positions in
four conventional southeast Texas oil fields (consisting of Webster, Thompson, Manvel and East Hastings) for $40
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million net cash and a carried interest in ten wells to be drilled by the purchaser (the “Gulf Coast Working Interests
Sale”).

• Continued the monetization of valuable surface land with no active oil and naturalt gas operations, including the sale of
multiple parcels primarily around Houston, Texas in transactions totaling $29 million in 2020.

• Entered into an agreement in December 2020 to acquire a nearly 100% working interest (approximately 83% net
revenue interest) in the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek oil fields located in Wyoming for $12 million cash,
including surface facilities and a 46-mile CO2 transportation pipeline to the acquired fields. The agreement provides
for us to make two contingent cash payments of $4 million each in 2021 and 2022 if NYMEX WTI oil prices average
at least $50 per Bbl during the respective calendar years. The acquisition closed on March 3, 2021.

• Settled the Riley Ridge helium supplyu contract claim with APMTG Helium, LLC for $52.1 million, which was
previously accrued as a liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

2021 BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Oil prices continued to strengthen during the first two months of 2021, reaching the low-$60s per barrel in mid-
February. Considering the current oil price environment and strategic importance of the CO2 flood at Cedar Creek
Anticline (“CCA”), we plan to move forward in 2021 with the development of this significant long-term project. We
expect to allocate approximately $150 million of capita al in 2021 to this CCA development, consisting of approximately
$100 million dedicated to the 105-mile extension of the Greencore CO2 pipeline from Bell Creek to CCA, with the
remainder dedicated to facilities, well work and field development at CCA. In total, we estimate that our total development
capita al expenditures in 2021, excluding acquisitions and capita alized interest, will be in a range of $250 million to $270
million. Based on current oil prices and the Company’s hedge positions, we estimate that our 2021 cash flows from
operations will exceed our budgeted level of planned development capia tal expenditures. In addition to our 2021 planned
development capia tal, we acquired the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek oil fields in Wyoming in early March 2021 for a
cash purchase price of $12 million before closing adjustments. Also, we plan to settle the remaining debt obligation to
Genesis for the NEJD CO2 pipeline, with $70 million in payments to be made over the course of 2021. We expect to fulfill
these remaining obligations from cash flow and borrowings under our bank credit facility. At December 31, 2020, we had
$482 million of availability under our bank credit facility, which we believe is more than adequate to cover any near-term
liquidity needs. To supplement our liquidity, we may seek other sources of funding for all or a portion of the CCA CO2
Pipeline expenditure.

Based on our capita al spending plans, we currently anticipate 2021 average daily production to be between 47,500
BOE/d and 51,500 BOE/d, including the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek working interests acquisition expected to close
in early March 2021. Our anticipated 2021 production level compares to 2020 average continuing production of 50,957
BOE/d, afteff r reduction for 2020 property divestitures.t

HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our employees are our greatest resource, and each individual helps shape Denbury into a unique and exceptional place
to work. We recognize that our employees are crucial to Denbury’s future, and we care about our employees’ and their
families’ well-being beyond the work environment. As of December 31, 2020, we had 657 employees, of whom 365 were
employed in our field operations or at our field offices and 292 were employed at our headquarters in Plano, TX.

Workforce Health and Safety

We continuously seek to improve our health and safetyt performance by fostering a culture that prioritizes safe work,
then ensuring that this culture is exemplified in all levels of leadership. We provide our employees with tools to succeed,
including relevant and timely training, and we monitor our performance using establia shed measurement statistics. Each
year, Denbury establia shes corporate goals specifically related to employee and contractor safetyt performance and monitors
progress toward those goals throughout the year using performance metrics. Results are regularly reported to our Board of
Directors, senior management and all employees to ensure accountability and to reinforce their importance. Two safetyt
performance metrics Denbury closely monitors are the Total Recordable Incident Rate (“TRIR”) and the Significant Injury
or Fatality Rate (“SIFR”), which also capturea s near misses that may not have resulted in an injury. As detailed in our
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Corporate Responsibility Report available on our website at www.denbury.com under the “Responsibility” link, Denbury
has set new record lows for TRIR over the last four consecutive years and our 2020 SIFR was our second lowest ever.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic, and the
President of the United States declared the COVID-19 pandemic a national emergency. In response to the COVID-19
pandemic, we formed a COVID-19 task force comprised of members of senior management and other key employees. The
task force developed a systematic, data-based approach to monitor national, state and local orders and guidelines related to
the COVID-19 pandemic, establia shed internal processes, training and communications, conducted contract tracing, and
engaged a third-party medical consulting firm to identify and clear COVID-19 cases and exposures. Additionally, we
provided voluntary COVID-19 testing for all employees and their dependents and ensured that necessary sanitation
supplies are availablea at all Denbury offices and locations.

Compensation and Benefits

As part of our compensation philosophy, we believe that we must offer and maintain competitive compensation and
benefit programs for our employees in order to attract and retain outstanding talent. In addition to competitive base wages,
other programs include an annual bonus plan, long-term incentive plan, Company matched 401(k) plan, healthcare and
insurance benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts and employee assistance programs.

Diversity and Inclusion

We are committed to increasing diversity and fostering an inclusive work environment that supports the workforce and
the communities where we operate. Denbury aims to ensure equal opportunity in recruitment, and we reach a pool of
diverse candidates by utilizing a digital recruiting program that posts available employment opportunities to websites
worldwide, several of which are specifically targeted to reach diverse candidates. In 2020, women and minorities
accounted for 21% and 14% of our workforce, respectively, and 46% and 23% of our new hires, respectively.

Our diversity, equity and inclusion principles are also reflected in our employee training and policies. To foster a
diverse and collaborata ive workplace, Denbury requires all employees to complete annual training to raise awareness and
encourage diversity and inclusion. Each year, our employee training program includes courses related to diversity, anti-
discrimination, and anti-harassment to help employees understand diversity, cultural differences, recognize unconscious
bias, and increase collaboration. We continue to enhance our diversity, equity and inclusion policies which are guided by
our Board and executive leadership team.

Talent Acquisition, Retention and Development

Our success depends to a significant degree upon our ability to hire, develop, and retain highly skilled and experienced
personnel, including our executive officers as well as other key management and technical specialists, such as geologists,
geophysicists, engineers and other oil and gas industry professionals. Denbury provides employees with many ways to
expand their skills and advance their careers through training and development initiatives. We believe this is critical to
each employee’s professional growth and success, as well as to our success as a company.m

Human Rights

Denbury is committed to protecting human rights in the workplace. This commitment includes respecting the dignity
and worth of all individuals, encouraging all individuals to reach their full potential, encouraging the initiative of each
employee, and providing equal opportunity for development to all employees. Specifically, Denbury recognizes its
responsibility with regards to: workplace health and safety,t the prohibition of forced and child labor,a a workplace free from
harassment or any form of discrimination, freedom of association, complying with all laws regarding hours and wages and
employee privacy. Denbury respects international human rights principles and our commitments to human rights are
guided by the United National Global Compact and the International Labora Organization’s Declaration of Fundamental
Principals and Rights at Work. Our Code of Conduct and Human Rights Policy require employees to report any suspected
human rights abuses. Denbury’s Human Rights Policy is availablea on our website at www.denbury.com under the
“Responsibility” link.
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ESTIMATED NET QUANTITIES OF PROVED OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES AND PRESENT VALUE
OF ESTIMATED FUTURE NET REVENUES

Oil and Natural Gas Reserve Estimates

DeGolyer and MacNaughton (“D&M”) prepared estimates of our net proved oil and naturalt gas reserves as of
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 (see the summary of D&M’s report as of December 31, 2020, included as an exhibit to
this Form 10-K). These estimates of reserves were prepared using an average price equal to the unweighted arithmetic
average of hydrocarbon prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period in accordance with rules and
regulations of the SEC. These oil and naturalt gas reserve estimates do not include any value for probable or possible
reserves that may exist, nor do they include any value for undeveloped acreage. The reserve estimates represent our net
revenue interest in our properties.
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The folff lowing table provides estimated proved reserve information prepared by D&M as of December 31, 2020, 2019
and 2018, as well as PV-10 Values and Standardized Measures forff each period. The Company’s December 31, 2020
proved oil and naturalt gas reserve quantities and PV-10 Values declined significantly from December 31, 2019 due largely
to the decrease in oil prices used in preparing the December 31, 2019 and 2020 reserve information, whereby the average
NYMEX oil price used in estimating our proved reserves declined from $55.69 per Bbl at December 31, 2019, to $39.57
per Bbl at December 31, 2020. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved oil and naturalt
gas reserves and their values, including many factors beyond our control, which are further discussed in Item 1A, Riskii
Factors – EstiEE mating our reserves, production and future net cash flows is diffiff cult to do with att ny certaintytt . See also Oil
and Natural Gas Operations – FieFF ld Summary Table and Supplemental Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures (Unaudite(( d) to
the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of reserve inputs and changes between periods.

December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Estimated proved reserves
Oil (MBbls) 140,499 226,133 255,042
Natural gas (MMcf) 15,604 24,334 43,008
Oil equivalent (MBOE) 143,100 230,189 262,210

Reserve volumes categories
Proved developed producing
Oil (MBbls) 123,802 178,538 200,852
Natural gas (MMcf) 14,132 21,627 39,562
Oil equivalent (MBOE) 126,158 182,143 207,446

Proved developed non-producing
Oil (MBbls) 12,600 24,278 21,884
Natural gas (MMcf) 1,472 2,706 3,350
Oil equivalent (MBOE) 12,845 24,729 22,442

Proved undeveloped
Oil (MBbls) 4,097 23,317 32,306
Natural gas (MMcf) — 1 96
Oil equivalent (MBOE) 4,097 23,317 32,322

Percentage of total MBOE
Proved developed producing 88 % 79 % 79 %
Proved developed non-producing 9 % 11 % 9 %
Proved undeveloped 3 % 10 % 12 %

Representative oil and natural gas prices(1)

Oil (NYMEX price per Bbl) $ 39.57 $ 55.69 $ 65.56
Natural gas (Henry Hub price per MMBtu) 1.99 2.58 3.10

Present values (in thousands)(2)

Discounted estimated futureff net cash flows beforeff income taxes
(PV-10 Value)(3) $ 703,080 $ 2,615,668 $ 4,025,139

Standardized measure of discounted estimated futuret net cash flows
after income taxes (“Standardized Measure”) $ 654,734 $ 2,261,039 $ 3,351,385

(1) The reference prices were based on the arithmetic average of the first-day-of-tff he-month NYMEX commodity prices
for each month duringd the respective year. These prices do not reflect adjustments forff market differentiff als and
transportation expenses by field that are utilized in the preparation of our reserve report to arrive at the appropriate net
price we receive. See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysisll of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations – Results of Operations – FinFF ancial and Operating Results Tables for details of oil and naturalt gas prices
received, both including and excluding the impact of derivative settlements.
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(2) Determined based on the average first-day-of-the-month prices for each month, adjusted to prices received by field in
accordance with standards set forth in the FASC. PV-10 Values and the Standardized Measure are significantly
impacted by the oil prices we receive relative to NYMEX oil prices (our NYMEX oil price differential). The
weighted-average oil price differentials utilized were $3.73 per Bbl below representative NYMEX oil prices as of
December 31, 2020, compared to $0.14 per Bbl below NYMEX oil prices as of December 31, 2019, and $0.24 per Bbl
below NYMEX oil prices as of December 31, 2018.

(3) PV-10 Value is a non-GAAP measure and is differentff from the Standardized Measure in that PV-10 Value is a pre-tax
number and the Standardized Measure is an after-tax number. See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysisll of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Non-GAAP Financial Measure and Reconciliation for further
discussion.

Our proved developed non-producing reserves primarily consist of (1) reserves within a proved tertiary flood in areas
that have not yet experienced a response from CO2 injection, (2) reserves that will be recovered from currently productive
zones utilizing minor modifications to manage the flow of CO2 or water within the reservoir, and (3) reserves that will be
recovered through recompletions to other intervals above or below the currently producing interval.

As of December 31, 2020, our estimated proved undeveloped reserves totaled approximately 4.1 MMBOE, or
approximately 3% of our estimated total proved reserves. Approximately 83% (3.4 MMBOE) of our proved undeveloped
oil reserves relate to planned future development within our CO2 tertiaryrr operating fields. We generally consider the CO2
tertiaryrr proved undeveloped reserves to be lower risk than other proved undeveloped reserves that require drilling at
locations offsetting existing production, because all of these proved undeveloped reserves are associated with tertiary
recovery operations in fields and reservoirs that historically produced substantial volumes of oil under primary production.
As of December 31, 2020, 3.2 MMBOE of our total proved undeveloped reserves are not scheduled to be developed within
five years of initial booking, all of which are part of CO2 EOR projects. We believe these reserves satisfyff the conditions to
be included as proved reserves because (1) we have established and continue to follow the previously adopted development
plan for each of these projects; (2) we have significant ongoing development activities in each of these CO2 EOR projects
and (3) we have a historical record of completing the development of comparable long-term projects.

Our proved undeveloped reserves at December 31, 2020 were 19.2 MMBOE (82%) lower than at December 31, 2019.
During 2020, we spent approximately $10 million to convert 1.5 MMBOE of proved undeveloped reserves to proved
developed reserves, primarily related to continued tertiary development activities at Oyster Bayou Field. The primary
changes in our proved undeveloped reserves during 2020 were related to recognizing net downward revisions of our proved
undeveloped reserves of 17.7 MMBOE, primarily the result of the significant decline in commodity prices between
December 31, 2019 and 2020.

During 2020, we provided oil and naturalt gas reserve estimates for 2019 to the United States Energy Information
Agency that were substantially the same as the reserve estimates included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2019.

Internal Controls Over Reserve Estimates

Reserve information in this report is based on estimates prepared by D&M, independent petroleum engineers located
in Dallas, Texas, utilizing data provided by our internal reservoir engineering team and is the responsibility of
management. We rely on D&M’s expertise to ensure that our reserve estimates are prepared in compliance with SEC rules
and regulations and that appropriate geologic, petroleum engineering, and evaluation principles and techniques are applied
in accordance with practices generally recognized by the petroleum industry as presented in the publication of the Society
of Petroleum Engineers entitled “Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information
(Revision as of June 2019)”. The person responsible for the preparation of the reserve report is a Senior Vice President and
Division Manager of North America at D&M. He received a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering in 2003
from Istanbul Technical University and a Master’s degree and Doctorate in Petroleum Engineering in 2005 and 2010,
respectively, from Texas A&M University, and he has in excess of 10 years of experience in oil and gas reservoir studies
and evaluations. Our Senior Vice President – Business Development and Technology is primarily responsible
for overseeing the independent petroleum engineers during the process. Our Senior Vice President – Business
Development and Technology has a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering from the Colorado School of
Mines and over 35 years of industry experience working with petroleum engineering and reserve estimates. D&M relies on
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various data provided by our internal reservoir engineering team in preparing its reserve estimates, including such items as
oil and naturalt gas prices, ownership interests, production information, operating costs, planned capita al expenditures and
other technical data. Our internal reservoir engineering team consists of qualified petroleum engineers who maintain the
Company’s internal evaluation of reserves and compare the Company’s information to the reserves prepared by D&M.
Management is responsible for designing the internal control procedures used in the preparation of our oil and gas reserves,
which include verification of data input into reserve forecasting and economics evaluation software, as well as multi-
discipline management reviews. The internal reservoir engineering team reports directly to our Senior Vice President –
Business Development and Technology. In addition, our Audit Committee of the Board of Directors oversees the
qualifications, independence, performance and hiring of our independent petroleum engineers and reviews the final report
and subsequent reporting of our oil and naturalt gas reserve estimates. The Chairman of the Board holds a Ph.D. in
Chemical Engineering from the Massachusetts Institutet of Technology and bachelor’s degrees in Chemistry and
Mathematics from Capital University in Ohio. He has more than 40 years of industry experience, with responsibilities
including reserves preparation and approval.

CARBON CAPTURE, USE AND STORAGE

In addition to our oil and naturalt gas operations, our strategically located and extensive CO2 pipeline infrastructure
provide a meaningful opportunity to grow our business in the emerging CCUS industry. We believe that the assets and
expertise required for CCUS are highly aligned with Denbury’s existing CO2 EOR operations, providing Denbury with an
advantage, particularly in the Gulf Coast region, where our CO2 infrastructure is located in close proximity to multiple
large sources of industrial emissions. We also believe that supportive U.S. government policy and public pressure on
industrial CO2 emitters could provide strong incentives for these entities to capturea their CO2 emissions. In early January
2021, the U.S. Treasury and the IRS issued final regulations under Section 45Q on the expanded carbon capturea tax credit,
implementing a number of changes and clarifications to previously proposed regulations, including (1) simplifying the
definition of carbon capturea equipment; (2) allowing smaller carbon capturea facilities to be aggregated for purposes of
meeting minimum capturea requirements; (3) reducing the tax credit recapturet period to three years; and (4) extending the
beginning construction date to January 1, 2026 for carbon capturea projects. The tax credit structuret provides the capta urt ing
parties a tax credit that escalates until 2026, when it reaches $35 per ton for CO2 used in EOR operations and $50 per ton
for CO2 directly stored in geologic formations. CCUS is a proven technology with the potential for safe, long-term, deep
underground containment of industrial-sourced CO2, and we believe Denbury is well positioned to leverage our existing
CO2 pipeline infrastructure and EOR expertise to be a leader in this industry.

OIL AND NATURAL GAS OPERATRR IONS

Summary. Our oil and naturalt gas properties are concentrated in the Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions of the
United States. Currently our properties with proved and producing reserves in the Gulf Coast region are situated in
Mississippi, Texas, and Louisiana, and in the Rocky Mountain region are situated in Montana, North Dakota and
Wyoming. The Company is differentiff ated by its focus on CO2 EOR and the emerging CCUS industry, supported by the
Company’s CO2 EOR technical and operational expertise and its extensive CO2 pipeline infrastructure. The utilization of
capturea d industrial-sourced CO2 in EOR significantly reduces the carbon footprint of the oil that Denbury produces,
underpinning the Company’s goal to fully offset its Scope 1, 2, and 3 CO2 emissions within the decade. Our current
portfolio of CO2 EOR projects provides us significant oil production and reserve growth potential in the future, assuming
crude oil prices are at levels that support the development of those projects.

We have been conducting and expanding EOR operations on our assets in the Gulf Coast region since 1999, and as a
result, we currently have many more CO2 EOR projects in this region than in the Rocky Mountain region. We began
operations in the Rocky Mountain region in 2010 in connection with, and following, our merger with Encore Acquisition
Company (“Encore”). In 2012, as part of a significant sale and exchange transaction with Exxon Mobil Corporation
(“ExxonMobil”), we sold to ExxonMobil our Bakken area assets in North Dakota and Montana in exchange for (1) $1.3
billion in cash, (2) operating interests in Hartzog Draw and Webster fields in Wyoming and Texas, respectively, and (3) an
overriding royalty interest equivalent to an approximate one-third ownership interest in ExxonMobil’s CO2 reserves in
LaBarge Field in Wyoming (the “Bakken Exchange Transaction”). In the Gulf Coast region, we own what is, to our
knowledge, the region’s only significff ant naturally occurring source of CO2, and these large volumes of naturally occurring
CO2 give us a significff ant competitive advantage in this area. In addition to this naturally occurring CO2 source, we utilize
CO2 captured from industrial sources which would otherwise be released into the atmosphere (sometimes referred to as
anthropogenic, man-made or industrial-sourced CO2) in our tertiary operations, including CO2 from the LaBarge Field in
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Wyoming, which is captured in conjunction with processing helium from the LaBarge Field gas stream at ExxonMobil’s
Shute Creek gas plant. These industrial sources of CO2 help us recover additional oil from mature oil fields and, we
believe, also provide an economical way to reduce atmospheric CO2 emissions through the associated underground storage
of CO2which incidentally occurs as part of our oil-producing EOR operations.

Field Summary Table. The following tablea provides a summary by field and region of selected proved oil and
naturalt gas reserve information, including total proved reserve quantities as of December 31, 2020, and average daily
production for 2020, all based on Denbury’srr net revenue interest (“NRI”). The reserve estimates presented were prepared
by D&M, independent petroleum engineers located in Dallas, Texas. We serve as operator of nearly all of our significant
properties, in which we also own most of the interests, although typically less than a 100% working interest, and a lesser
NRI dued to royalties and other burdens. For additional oil and naturalt gas reserves information, see Estimated Net
Quantities of Po roved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves and Present Value of Estimated Future Net Revenues above and
Supplemental Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures (Unaudited) to the consolidated finaff ncial statements.

Proved Reserves as of December 31, 2020(1)
2020 Average Daily

Production

Oil
(MBbls)

Natural
Gas

(MMcf) MBOEs

% of
Company
Total
MBOEs

Oil
(Bbls/d)

Natural
Gas
(Mcf/d)

Average
2020 NRI

Tertiary oil and gas properties
Gulf Coast region
Delhi 8,540 — 8,540 6.0 % 3,419 — 57.8 %
Hastings 19,722 — 19,722 13.8 % 4,755 — 79.9 %
Heidelberg 14,217 — 14,217 9.9 % 4,297 — 81.0 %
Oyster Bayou 13,691 — 13,691 9.6 % 3,818 — 87.3 %
Tinsley 6,916 — 6,916 4.8 % 3,959 — 81.9 %
West Yellow Creek 135 — 135 0.1 % 668 — 36.8 %
Mature properties(2) 7,356 — 7,356 5.1 % 5,759 — 80.0 %
Total Gulf Coast region 70,577 — 70,577 49.3 % 26,675 — 75.9 %

Rocky Mountain region
Bell Creek 9,616 — 9,616 6.7 % 5,518 — 84.7 %
Salt Creek 2,002 — 2,002 1.4 % 1,928 — 17.6 %
Grieve — — — — % 14 — 20.5 %
Total Rocky Mountain region 11,618 — 11,618 8.1 % 7,460 — 41.9 %
Total tertiary properties 82,195 — 82,195 57.4 % 34,135 — 64.6 %

Non-tertiary oil and gas properties
Gulf Coast region
Texas 10,481 5,548 11,406 8.0 % 2,729 2,313 58.4 %
Mississippi and other 1,245 7,926 2,566 1.8 % 347 2,071 7.9 %
Total Gulf Coast region 11,726 13,474 13,972 9.8 % 3,076 4,384 31.7 %

Rocky Mountain region
Cedar Creek Anticline(3) 45,217 4 45,218 31.6 % 11,745 1,439 80.6 %
Other 1,361 2,126 1,715 1.2 % 681 2,095 64.7 %
Total Rocky Mountain region 46,578 2,130 46,933 32.8 % 12,426 3,534 79.4 %
Total non-tertiary properties 58,304 15,604 60,905 42.6 % 15,502 7,918 59.7 %
Total continuing properties 140,499 15,604 143,100 100.0 % 49,637 7,918 63.0 %

Property sales
Property divestitures(4) — — — — % 191 20
Company Total 140,499 15,604 143,100 100.0 % 49,828 7,938
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(1) Reserve estimates were prepared in accordance with FASC Topic 932, Extractive Industries – Oil and Gas, using the
arithmetic averages of the first-day-of-the-month NYMEX commodity price for each month during 2020, which were
$39.57 per Bbl for cruder oil and $1.99 per MMBtu for natural gas.

(2) Mature properties include Brookhaven, Cranfield, Eucutta, Little Creek, Mallalieu, Martinville, McComb and Soso
fields in Mississippi.

(3) The Cedar Creek Anticline consists of a series of 13 different operating areas.

(4) Includes non-tertiary production related to the March 2020 sale of 50% of our working interests in Webster,
Thompson, Manvel, and East Hastings fields.

Enhanced Oil Recovery Overview. CO2 used in EOR is one of the most efficient tertiary recovery mechanisms for
producing crude oil. When injected under pressure into underground, oil-bearing rock formations, CO2 acts somewhat like
a solvent as it travels through the reservoir rock, mixing with and modifying the characteristics of the oil so it can be
produced and sold. The terms “tertiary flood,” “CO2 flood” and “CO2 EOR” are used interchangeably throughout this
document.

While enhanced oil recovery projects utilizing CO2 have been successfully performed by numerous oil and gas
companies in a wide range of oil-bearing reservoirs in different oil-producing basins, we believe our investments,
experience and acquired knowledge give us a strategic and competitive advantage in the areas in which we operate. We
applya what we have learned and developed over the years to improve and increase sweep efficiency within the CO2 EOR
projects we operate.

We began our CO2 operations in August 1999, when we acquired Little Creek Field, followed by our acquisition of
Jackson Dome CO2 reserves and the NEJD pipeline in 2001. Based upon our success at Little Creek and the ownership of
the CO2 reserves, we began to transition our capita al spending and acquisition efforts to focus more heavily on CO2 EOR
and, over time, transformed our strategy to focus primarily on owning and operating oil fields that are well suited for CO2
EOR projects. Prior to tertiary flooding, we strive to maximize the currently sizeable primary and secondary production
from our prospective tertiaryrr fields and from fields in which tertiary floods have commenced but still contain significant
non-tertiary production. Our asset base today almost entirely consists of, or otherwise relates to, oil fields that we are
currently flooding with CO2 or plan to flood with CO2 in the future,t or assets that produce CO2.

Our tertiary operations have grown so that (1) 57% of our proved reserves at December 31, 2020 are proved tertiary oil
reserves; (2) 67% of our 2020 total production was related to tertiary oil operations (on a BOE basis); and (3) 59% of our
2020 capita al expenditures (excluding acquisitions) were related to our tertiary oil operations. At year-end 2020, the proved
oil reserves in our tertiary recovery oil fields had an estimated PV-10 Value of approximately $449.9 million, or 64% of
our total PV-10 Value. In addition, there are significant probable and possible reserves at several other fields for which
tertiary operations are underway or planned.

Although the up-front cost of tertiary production infrastructure and time to construct pipelines and production facilities
is greater than in primary oil recovery in most circumstances, we believe tertiary recovery has several favorable, offsetting
and unique attributes, including (1) a lower exploration risk, as we are operating oil fields that have significant historical
production and reservoir and geological data, (2) lower production decline rates than unconventional development, (3)
reasonable return metrics at our anticipated long-term prices, (4) limited competition for this recovery method in our
geographica regions and a strategic advantage due to our ownership of the CO2 reserves and CO2 pipeline infrastructure,t (5)
our EOR operations are generally less disruptir ve to new habitats in comparison to other oil and naturalt gas development
because we further develop existing (as opposed to new) oil fields, and (6) through our oil-producing EOR operations, we
concurrently store CO2 capturea d from industrial sources in the same underground formations that previously trappeda and
stored oil and naturalt gas.
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Tertiary Oil Properties

Gulf Coast Regie on

CO2 Sources and Pipeli ines

Jackson Dome. Our primary Gulf Coast CO2 source, Jackson Dome, located near Jackson, Mississippi, was
discovered during the 1970s by oil and gas companies that were exploring for hydrocarbons. This large and relatively pure
source of naturalt ly occurring CO2 (98% CO2) is, to our knowledge, the only significant underground deposit of CO2 in the
United States east of the Mississippi River. Together with the related CO2 pipeline infrastructure, Jackson Dome provides
us a significant strategic advantage in the acquisition of properties in Mississippi, Louisiana and southeastern Texas that are
well suited for CO2 EOR.

We acquired Jackson Dome in February 2001 in a purchase that also gave us ownership and control of the NEJD CO2
pipeline and provided us with a reliablea supply of CO2 at a reasonable and predictable cost for our Gulf Coast CO2 tertiaryrr
recovery operations. Since Februaryrr 2001, we have acquired and drilled numerous CO2-producing wells, significantly
increasing our estimated proved Gulf Coast CO2 reserves from approximately 800 Bcf at the time of acquisition of Jackson
Dome to approximately 4.6 Tcf as of December 31, 2020. The proved CO2 reserve estimates are based on a gross (8/8ths)
basis, of which our net revenue interest is approximately 3.7 Tcf, and is included in the evaluation of proved CO2 reserves
prepared by D&M, independent petroleum engineers. In discussing our available CO2 reserves, we make reference to the
gross amount of proved and probable reserves, as this is the amount that is availablea both for our own tertiary recovery
programs and for industrial users who are customers of Denbury and others, as we are responsible for distributing the entire
CO2 production stream.

In addition to our proved reserves, we estimate that we have 910.1 Bcf, on a gross (8/8ths) basis, of probable CO2
reserves at Jackson Dome. While the majoa rity of these probable reserves are located in structurest that have been drilled
and tested, such reserves are still considered probable reserves because (1) the original well is plugged; (2) they are located
in fault blocks that are immediately adjacd ent to fault blocks with proved reserves; or (3) they are reserves associated with
increasing the ultimate recovery factor from our existing reservoirs with proved reserves. In addition, a significant portion
of these probable reserves at Jackson Dome are located in undrilled structurest where we have sufficient subsurface and
seismic data indicating geophysical attributes that, coupled with our historically high drilling success rate, provide a
reasonably high degree of certainty that CO2 is present.

In addition to our drilling at Jackson Dome, we have the capabia lity to expand our processing and dehydration
capaca ities and install additional pipelines and/or pumping stations necessary to transport the CO2 through our controlled
pipeline network. We expect our current proved reserves of CO2, coupled with a risked drilling program at Jackson Dome
and CO2 expected to be capturea d from industrial sources, to provide sufficient quantities of CO2 for us to develop our
proved and probable EOR reserves in the Gulf Coast region. In the future, we believe that once a CO2 flood in a field
reaches its productive economic limit, we could recycle a portion of the CO2 that remains in that field’s reservoir and
utilize it for oil production in another field’s tertiary flood.

In the Gulf Coast region, approximately 78% of our average daily CO2 produced from Jackson Dome or capturea d from
industrial sources in 2020 was used in our tertiary recovery operations, compared to 84% in 2019 and 83% in 2018, with
the balance delivered to third-party industrial users. During 2020, we used an average of 358 MMcf/d of CO2 (including
CO2 capturea d from industrial sources) for our tertiary activities.

Gulf Coast CO2 Captured from Industrial Sources. In addition to our naturalt source of CO2, we are currently party
to two long-term contracts to purchase CO2 from industrial plants. We have purchased CO2 from an industrial facility in
Port Arthur, Texas since 2012 and from an industrial facility in Geismar, Louisiana since 2013, which supplied an average
of approximately 57 MMcf/d of CO2 to our EOR operations during 2020. Additionally, we are in ongoing discussions with
other parties that are planning to capturea CO2 from currently existing industrial facilities or proposed new industrial
facilities near the Green Pipeline. In order to capturea such volumes, we (or the plant owner) would need to install
additional equipment, which includes, at a minimum, compression and dehydration facilities.

Gulf Coast CO2 Pipelines. We acquired the 183-mile NEJD CO2 pipeline that runs from Jackson Dome to near
Donaldsonville, Louisiana, as part of the 2001 acquisition of our Jackson Dome CO2 source. Since 2001, we have acquired
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or constructed nearly 750 miles of CO2 pipelines in the Gulf Coast, and as of December 31, 2020, we own nearly 925 miles
of CO2 pipelines, which gives us the ability to deliver CO2 throughout the Gulf Coast region. In addition to the NEJD CO2
pipeline, the majoa r pipelines in the Gulf Coast region are the Free State Pipeline (90 miles), Delta Pipeline (110 miles),
Green Pipeline Texas (120 miles), and Green Pipeline Louisiana (200 miles). In late October 2020, we restructuredt our
NEJD and Free State CO2 pipeline agreements with Genesis (see 2020 Business Developments above).

Completion of the Green Pipeline allowed for the first CO2 injection into Hastings Field, located near Houston, Texas,
in 2010, and gives us the ability to deliver CO2 to oil fields all along the Gulf Coast from Baton Rouge, Louisiana, to
Alvin, Texas. At the present time, most of the CO2 flowing in the Green Pipeline is delivered from the Jackson Dome area,
but also includes the CO2 we are receiving from the industrial facilities in Port Arthur, Texas and Geismar, Louisiana, and
we are currently transporting a third party’s CO2 for a fee to the sales point at Hastings Field. We currr ently have ample
capaca ity within the Green Pipeline to handle additional volumes that may be required to develop our inventory of CO2
EOR projects in this area, as well as to supportu the transportation of CO2 for the emerging CCUS business.

Tertiary Properties with Tertiary Production and Proved Tertiary Reserves at December 31, 2020

Delhi Field. Delhi Field is located east of Monroe, Louisiana. In May 2006, we purchased our initial interest in Delhi
for $50 million. We began well and facility development in 2008, began delivering CO2 to the field in 2009 via the Delta
Pipeline, which runs from Tinsley Field to Delhi Field, and first tertiary production occurred at Delhi Field in
2010. During 2016, we completed construction of a naturalt gas liquids extraction plant, which provides us with the ability
to sell natural gas liquids from the produced stream, improve the efficiency of the CO2 flood, and utilize extracted methane
to power the plant and reduce field operating expenses. Production from Delhi Field in the fourth quarter of 2020 averaged
3,132 Bbls/d, compared to 4,085 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Hastings Field. Hastings Field is located south of Houston, Texas. We acquired a majoria ty interest in this field in
February 2009 for $247 million. We initiated CO2 injn ection in the West Hastings Unit during 2010 upon completion of the
construction of the Green Pipeline. Due to the large vertical oil column that exists in the field, we are developing the Frio
reservoir using dedicated CO2 injection and producing wells for each of the majoa r sand intervals. We began producing oil
from our EOR operations at Hastings Field in 2012, and we booked initial proved tertiary reserves for the West Hastings
Unit in 2012. The Company also has future plans for continued tertiary development of existing proved undeveloped
reserves at the field. During the fourth quarter of 2020, tertiary production from Hastings Field averaged 4,598 Bbls/d,
compared to 5,097 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Heidelberg Field. Heidelberg Field is located in Mississippi off of the Free State Pipeline and consists of an East Unit
and a West Unit. Construction of the CO2 facility, connecting pipeline and well work commenced on the West Heidelberg
Unit during 2008, with our first CO2 injections into the Eutaw zone. Our first tertiary oil production occurred in 2009, and
we began flooding the Christmas and Tuscaloosa zones in 2013 and 2014, respectively. During 2019, we expanded our
tertiary flood of the Christmas zone and invested in non-tertiary behind pipe projects. During the fourth quarter of 2020,
tertiary production at Heidelberg Field averaged 4,198 Bbls/d, compared to 4,409 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Oyster Bayou Field. We acquired a majoria ty interest in Oyster Bayou Field in 2007. The field is located in southeast
Texas, east of Galveston Bay, and is somewhat unique when compared to our other CO2 EOR projects because the field
covers a relatively small area of 3,912 acres. We began CO2 injections into Oyster Bayou Field in 2010, commenced
tertiary production in 2011 from the Frio A-1 zone, and booked initial proved tertiary reserves for the field in 2012. In
2014, we completed development of the Frio A-2 zone, and we further expanded the A-2 flood and increased compression
capaca ity during 2020. During the fourth quarter of 2020, tertiary production at Oyster Bayou Field averaged 3,880 Bbls/d,
compared to 4,261 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Tinsley Field. We acquired Tinsley Field in 2006. This Mississippi field was discovered and first developed in the
1930s and is separated by different fault blocks. As is the case with the majoria ty of fields in Mississippi, Tinsley Field
produces from multiple reservoirs. Our CO2 enhanced oil recovery operations at Tinsley Field have thus far targeted the
Woodruff formation, although there is additional potential in the Perryrr sandstone and other smaller reservoirs. We
commenced tertiaryrr oil production from Tinsley Field in 2008 and substantially completed development of the Woodruff
formation during 2014. During the fourth quarter of 2020, tertiary oil production from the field averaged 3,654 Bbls/d,
compared to 4,343 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019. Although production from Tinsley Field peaked in 2015 and is
generally on decline, we continue to evaluate futuret potential investment opportunities in this field.
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West Yellow Creek Field. We acquired an approximate 48% non-operated working interest in West Yellow Creek
Field in Mississippi in March 2017 for approximately $16 million, a field in which the operator had previously invested
significant capia tal converting the field to a CO2 EOR flood. Under our arrangement with the operator, we supply CO2 to
the field for a fee. West Yellow Creek Field is in close proximity and analogous to Eucutta Field, a very successful CO2
flood that we developed and continue to operate. We booked initial proved tertiary oil reserves at West Yellow Creek
Field as of year-end 2017 and commenced tertiary production in early 2018. During the fourth quarter of 2020, tertiary oil
production from the field averaged 614 Bbls/d, compared to 807 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Mature properties. Mature properties include our longest-producing properties which are generally located along our
NEJD CO2 pipeline in southwest Mississippi and Louisiana and our Free State Pipeline in east Mississippi. This group of
properties includes our initial CO2 field, Little Creek, as well as several other fields (Brookhaven, Cranfield, Eucutta,
Mallalieu, Martinville, McComb and Soso fields). These fields accounted for 17% of our total 2020 CO2 EOR production
and approximately 5% of our year-end proved reserves. These fields have been producing under CO2 flood for more than a
decade, and their production is generally declining, though we continue to evaluate future potential investment
opportunities in these fields.

Potential Future Tertiary Properties with No Tertiary Production or Proved Tertiary Reserves at December 31, 2020

Webster Field. We acquired our interest in Webster Field in 2012 as part of the Bakken Exchange Transaction. The
field is located southeast of Houston, Texas, approximately eight miles northeast of our Hastings Field which we are
currently flooding with CO2. At December 31, 2020, Webster Field had estimated proved non-tertiary reserves of
approximately 1.3 MMBOE, net to our interest, all of which are proved developed. During the fourth quarter of 2020, non-
tertiary production at Webster Field averaged 442 BOE/d, compared to 923 BOE/d in the fourth quarter of 2019. In March
2020, we sold half of our working interest in Webster Field as part of our Gulf Coast Working Interests Sale (see Gulf
Coast Working Interest Partner below). Webster Field is geologically similar to our Hastings Field, producing oil from the
Frio zone at similar depths; as a result, we believe it is well suited for CO2 EOR. In 2014, we completed a nine-mile lateral
between the Green Pipeline and Webster Field, which we plan will eventually deliver CO2 to the field. Although we sold
half of our working interest in Webster Field in 2020, we retained the right to execute a future CO2 flood in this field, the
timing of which is primarily dependent upon capita al availability and priorities and futuret oil prices.

Conroe Field. Conroe Field, our largest potential tertiaryrr flood in the Gulf Coast region, is located north of Houston,
Texas. We acquired a majoria ty interest in this field in 2009 for $271 million in cash and 11.6 million shares of Denbury
common stock, for a total aggregate value of $439 million. Conroe Field had estimated proved non-tertiary reserves of
approximately 7.8 MMBOE at December 31, 2020, net to our interest, all of which are proved developed. During the
fourth quarter of 2020, non-tertiary production at Conroe Field averaged 1,624 BOE/d, compared to 1,861 BOE/d in the
fourth quarter of 2019.

To initiate a CO2 flood at Conroe Field, a pipeline must be constructed so that CO2 can be delivered to the field. This
pipeline, which is planned as an extension of our Green Pipeline, is preliminarily estimated to cover approximately 90
miles. The timing of the development of a CO2 flood at Conroe Field is primarily dependent upon capita al availabila ity and
priorities, future oil prices and pipeline construction.

In addition to the currently-producing oil-bearing formations at Conroe Field, we are evaluating exploitation
opportunities in other formations. We currently do not have any additional wells planned for 2021 but continue to evaluate
additional opportunities and plan to de-risk other areas of the field in the future.t

Thompson Field. We acquired our interest in Thompson Field in June 2012 for $366 million. The field is located in
Texas, approximately 18 miles west of our Hastings Field. Thompson Field had estimated proved non-tertiary reserves of
approximately 1.7 MMBOE at December 31, 2020, net to our interest, all of which are proved developed. During the
fourth quarter of 2020, non-tertiary production at Thompson Field averaged 455 BOE/d, compared to 1,008 BOE/d in the
fourth quarter of 2019. In March 2020, we sold half of our working interest in Thompson Field as part of our Gulf Coast
Working Interests Sale (see Gulf Coast Working Interest Partner below). Thompson Field is geologically similar to
Hastings Field, producing oil from the Frio zone at similar depths, and we therefore believe it has CO2 EOR potential.
Under the terms of the Thompson Field acquisition agreement, after the initiation of CO2 injection, the seller will retain
approximately a 5% gross revenue interest (less severance taxes) once average monthly oil production exceeds 3,000 Bbls/d.
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The timing of the development of a CO2 flood at Thompson Field is primarily dependent upon capita al availabila ity and
priorities and futuret oil prices.

Gulf Coast Working Interest Partner. In Ma hrch 2020, we ldsold h lhalf of our nearlyrly 100% kiworki gng iinterest ipositiions iin
four conve inti lonal hsoutheast Texas iloil fifieldlds ((c ionsis iti gng of Webbster, hThompson, Ma lnvel dand East Ha istings)ngs) for $$40 imilllliion
net ca hsh andd a ca irriedd iinterest iin ten welllls to bbe d ildrillledd byby hthe hpurchaser. dUnder hthe gagreement, hthe hpurchaser iis com imitt ded
to fundingfunding 100% of hthe ca ipia ltal re iquiredd to d ildrilll dand com lplete an i iini iti lal ten h ihorizontall welllls across hthe fifielldds wiithihin 18
monthhs fafter lclosing.osing. On hthese i iinitiiall ten welllls, Denburynbury ilwilll rec ieive a 6.25% ioverridingding royalroyal yty iinterest iprior to hthe
combibinedd ypayout of hthe welllls iin a spe icififiedd fifieldld dand bsubsequent to ypayout, Denburynbury iwillll receiive dproductiion revenues
from, dand bbear hthe cost of, iits 50% kiworki gng iinterest iin ea hch wellll. As part of hthe gagreement, we iwillll re itain 100% owne hirship
of hthe future Webbster iUnit CO2 flfl dood, hwhe irein ( )(1) hthe hpurchaser mayy lelect to partiiciipate iin hthe future CO2 flfl dood throughthrough
irei bmbursement to Denburynbury of hthe hpurchaser’s kiworki gng iinterest hshare of projeproject costs iinc durred to ddate, or ( )(2) ifif hthe hpurchaser
ddeclilines to partiiciipate iin hthe CO2 flfl dood, we hhave hthe irightght to repurchhase hthe hpurchaser’s workingworking iinterest iin Webbster iFieldld
dunder a contractuallllyy gagre ded vallua ition me hcha inism.

Rocky Mountainii Region

CO2 Sources and Pipeli ines

LaBarge Field. We acquired an overriding royalty interest equivalent to an approximate one-third ownership interest
in ExxonMobil’s CO2 reserves in LaBarge Field in the fourth quarter of 2012 as part of the Bakken Exchange Transaction.
LaBarge Field is located in southwestern Wyoming, and as of December 31, 2020, our interest in LaBarge Field consisted
of approximately 1.1 Tcf of proved CO2 reserves.

During 2020, we received an average of approximately 85 MMcf/d of CO2 from the Shute Creek gas processing plant
at LaBarge Field that we used in our Rocky Mountain region CO2 floods. Based on current capaca ity, and subject to
availability of CO2, we currently expect our CO2 volumes from Shute Creek to increase in future years. We pay
ExxonMobil a fee to process and deliver the CO2, which we use in our Rocky Mountain region CO2 floods.

Other Rocky Mountain CO2 Sources. We have a contract in place to receive all of the CO2 from the
ConocoPhillips-operated Lost Cabia n gas plant in central Wyoming, which we estimate has the capability to provide us as
much as 30 MMcf/d of CO2 for use in our Rocky Mountain region CO2 floods, although we did not receive any CO2
volumes for the period May 2020 through December 2020. We currently estimate that our existing CO2 sources, plus
additional CO2 from those or other CO2 sources in the region, are sufficient to carry out our base Rocky Mountain region
EOR development plans.

Rocky Mountain CO2 Pipelines. The 20-inch Greencore pipeline in Wyoming is the first CO2 pipeline we
constructed in the Rocky Mountain region. We plan to use the pipeline as our trunk line in the Rocky Mountain region,
eventually connecting our various Rocky Mountain region CO2 sources to the Cedar Creek Anticline in eastern Montana
and western North Dakota. The 232-mile pipeline begins at the ConocoPhillips-operated Lost Cabin gas plant in Wyoming
and terminates at Bell Creek Field in Montana. We completed construction of the pipeline in 2012 and received our first
CO2 deliveries from the ConocoPhillips-operated Lost Cabin gas plant during 2013. During 2014, we completed
construction of an interconnect between our Greencore pipeline and an existing third-party CO2 pipeline in Wyoming,
which enables us to transport CO2 from LaBarge Field to our Bell Creek Field.

The CO2 enhanced oil recovery development project at Cedar Creek Anticline requires a 105-mile extension of the
Greencore CO2 pipeline to CCA from Bell Creek Field. The capita al outlay for the pipeline is projected to be approximately
$150 million, of which we have incurredrr approximately $50 million through December 31, 2020 (see also Cedar CreekCC
Anticline CO2 EOR Project below for further discussion).

Tertiary Properties with Tertiary Production and Proved Tertiary Reserves at December 31, 2020

Bell Creek Field. We acquired our interest in Bell Creek Field in southeast Montana as part of the Encore merger in
2010. The oil-producing reservoir in Bell Creek Field is a sandstone reservoir with characteristics similar to those we have
successfullff y flooded with CO2 in the Gulf Coast region. During 2013, we began first CO2 injecn tions into Bell Creek Field,
recorded our first tertiary oil production, and booked initial proved tertiary reserves. During 2018, we completed the phase
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five expansion at the field, and in April 2019, commenced CO2 injection into phase six of the field development. Tertiaryrr
production during the fourth quarter of 2020 averaged 5,079 Bbls/d of oil, compared to 5,618 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter
of 2019.

Grieve Field. Under a 2011 farm-in agreement, we obtained a 65% working interest in Grieve Field, located in
Natrona County, Wyoming, in exchange for developing the Grieve Field CO2 flood. During 2016, the Company and its
joint venturet partner in Grieve Field revised their development arrangement for the field so that our partner funded
development of the facility and fieldwork in exchange for a 14% higher working interest and a disproportionate sharing of
revenue from the first 2 million barrels of production. We commenced tertiaryrr production from Grieve Field during the
fourth quarter of 2018 and booked initial proved tertiary reserves during 2019. In October 2020, we foreclosed on the joint
venturet partner’s interest, and we obtained record title to their interest in February 2021.

Salt Creek Field. We acquired our 23% non-operated working interest in Salt Creek Field in Wyoming for
approximately $72 million in June 2017. Tertiaryrr production during the fourth quarter of 2020 averaged 2,007 Bbls/d of
oil, compared to 2,223 Bbls/d in the fourth quarter of 2019.

March 2021 Acquisition of Wyoming CO2 EOR Fields

Wyoming CO2 EOR Fields. In December 2020, we entered into an agreement to acquire a nearly 100% working
interest (approximately 83% net revenue interest) in the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek oil fields located in Wyoming
for $12 million cash, including surface facilities and a 46-mile CO2 transportation pipeline to the acquired fields. The
agreement provides for us to make two contingent cash payments of $4 million each in 2021 and 2022 if NYMEX WTI oil
prices average at least $50 per Bbl during the respective calendar years. Net production from the acquired fields was
approximately 2,800 BOE/d for the third quarter of 2020, of which approximately 85% was oil production. Based on
December 1, 2020 oil and naturalt gas futures strip prices, net proved reserves for the acquired fields, which are 93% oil,
were estimated at approximately 13.7 MMBOE, including 5.5 MMBOE of proved undeveloped reserves. The acquisition
closed on March 3, 2021.

Future Tertiaryrr Properties with No Tertiaryr Production or Proved Tertiary Reserves at December 31, 2020

Cedar Creek Anticline. CCA is the largest potential EOR property that we own and currently our largest producing
property, contributing approximately 23% of our 2020 total production. Historical production from the property has
primarily been from the Red River interval. The field is primarily located in Montana but extends over such a large area
(approximately 126 miles) that it also extends into North Dakota. CCA is a series of 13 different operating areas on a
common geological trend, each of which could be considered a field by itself. We acquired our initial interest in CCA as
part of the Encore merger in 2010 and acquired additional interests from a wholly-owned subsidiary of ConocoPhillips in
2013 for $1.0 billion, adding 42.2 MMBOE of incremental proved reserves at that date. Production from CCA averaged
11,433 BOE/d during the fourth quarter of 2020, compared to production during the fourth quarter of 2019 of 13,730 BOE/
d. The non-tertiary proved reserves associated with CCA were 45.2 MMBOE, net to our interest, as of December 31,
2020.

In addition to the Red River interval, CCA contains other oil-bearing intervals including Mission Canyon and Charles
B. We began pursuing these additional exploitation opportunities in late 2017. We have drilled nine successful Mission
Canyon exploitation wells and a successful initial test well in Cabin Creek’s Charles B formation over the last few years.
We continue to evaluate the Charles B formation and believe it has characteristics that would make it a good candidate for
secondary or tertiary flooding.

Cedar Creek Anticline CO2 EOR Project. CCA is located approximately 110 miles north of Bell Creek Field, and
our current plan is to extend the Greencore pipeline to CCA by the end of 2021, with first CO2 injection planned during the
first half of 2022. During 2021, we plan to spend approximately $100 million to complete the 105-mile extension of the
Greencore CO2 pipeline and an additional $50 million on facilities, well work and field development to prepare both the
Cedar Hills South Unit and East Lookout Butte for initial CO2 injections in the Red River formation. First tertiaryrr
production is currently expected in the latter part of 2023, or approximately 18 to 24 months after first injection, with
additional phases of development expected to target the Interlake, Stony Mountain and Red River formations at Cabia n
Creek Field.
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Hartzog Draw Field. We acquired our interest in Hartzog Draw Field in 2012 as part of the Bakken Exchange
Transaction. The field is located in the Powder River Basin of northeastern Wyoming, approximately 12 miles fromff our
Greencore pipeline. Hartzog Draw Field had estimated proved reserves of approxia mately 1.7 MMBOE at December 31,
2020, net to our interest, 0.3 MMBOE of which relate to the naturt al gas producing Big George coal zone. During the
fourth quarter of 2020, non-tertiary production averaged 955 BOE/d, compared to 1,172 BOE/d in the fourth quarter of
2019. Industry activity around this fieff ld has been increasing for the last several years, with several operators testing
various formations such as the Turner, Niobrara, Shannon, Parkman and Mowry for potential development. We believe the
oil reservoir characteristics of Hartzog Draw Field make it well suited for CO2 EOR in the future. The timing of
development of a CO2 flood at Hartzog Draw Field is primarily dependent upon capia tal availabila ity and priorities and future
oil prices.

Other Non-Tertiary Oil Properties

Despite the majoria ty of our oil and naturalt gas properties discussed above consisting of either existing or planned
future tertiary frr loods,ff we also produce oil and naturalt gas from fields in both our Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions
that are either not amenablea to EOR or from specific reservoirs (within an existing tertiary field) that are not amenablea to
EOR. For example, at Heidelberg Field, we produce naturalt gas from the Selma Chalk reservoir, which is separate from
the Christmas and Eutaw reservoirs currently being flooded with CO2. Continuing production from these other non-tertiary
properties totaled 1,016 BOE/d during the fourth quarter of 2020, compared to 1,362 BOE/d during the fourth quarter of
2019.

OIL AND GAS ACREAGE, PRODUCTIVE WELLS AND DRILLING ACTIVITY

In the data below, “gross” represents the total acres or wells in which we own a working interest and “net” represents
the gross acres or wells multiplied by our working interest percentage. For the wells that produce both oil and gas, the well
is typically classified as an oil or natural gas well based on the ratio of oil to natural gas production.

Oil and Gas Acreage

The following tablea sets forth our acreage position at December 31, 2020:
Developed Undeveloped Total

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Gulf Coast region 188,850 147,855 286,842 18,228 475,692 166,083
Rocky Mountain region 362,327 314,948 118,521 26,655 480,848 341,603
Total 551,177 462,803 405,363 44,883 956,540 507,686

The percentage of our net undeveloped acreage that is subject to expiration over the next three years, if not renewed, is
approximately 10% in 2021, 6% in 2022 and 4% in 2023.
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Productive Wells

The following tabla e sets forthff our gross and net productive oil and natural gas wells as of December 31, 2020:
Producing Oil Wells Producing Natural Gas Wells Total

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Operated wells
Gulf Coast region 1,041 913 125 116 1,166 1,029
Rocky Mountain region 872 833 268 186 1,140 1,019
Total 1,913 1,746 393 302 2,306 2,048

Non-operated wells
Gulf Coast region 43 18 1 — 44 18
Rocky Mountain region 581 130 2 — 583 130
Total 624 148 3 — 627 148

Total wells
Gulf Coast region 1,084 931 126 116 1,210 1,047
Rocky Mountain region 1,453 963 270 186 1,723 1,149
Total 2,537 1,894 396 302 2,933 2,196

Drilling Activity

The following tablea sets forth the results of our drilling activities over the last three years. As of December 31, 2020,
we did not have any wells in progress.

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Exploratory wells(1)

Productive(2) — — 1 1 2 2
Non-productive(3) — — — — — —

Development wells(1)

Productive(2) 5 3 19 18 14 12
Non-productive(3)(4) — — — — 3 3
Total 5 3 20 19 19 17

(1) An exploratory well is a well drilled to findff a new field or to find a new reservoir in a fieff ld previously found to be
productive of oil or naturalt gas in another reservoir. Generally, an exploratory well is any well that is not a
development well, an extension well, a service well or a stratigraphic test well. A development well is a well drilled
within the proved area of an oil or gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic horizon known to be productive.

(2) A productive well is an exploratory or development well drilled and completed during the year and found to be capaa blea
of producing either oil or naturalt gas in sufficient quantities to justify completion as an oil or naturat l gas well.

(3) A non-productive well is an exploratory or development well that is not a productive well.

(4) During 2019 and 2018, an additional 7 and 4 wells, respectively, were drilled for water or CO2 injection purposes.
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The folff lowing table summarizes sales volumes, sales prices and production cost information for our net oil and naturalt
gas production for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Net sales volume
Gulf Coast region
Oil (MBbls) 10,958 12,638 13,484
Natural gas (MMcf) 1,612 1,779 1,973
Total Gulf Coast region (MBOE) 11,227 12,935 13,813

Rocky Mountain region
Oil (MBbls) 7,278 8,047 7,880
Natural gas (MMcf) 1,293 1,595 1,988
Total Rocky Mountain region (MBOE) 7,494 8,313 8,211
Total Company (MBOE) 18,721 21,248 22,024

Average sales prices – excluding impact of derivative settlements
Gulf Coast region
Oil (per Bbl) $ 38.44 $ 60.32 $ 67.75
Natural gas (per Mcf) 1.98 2.49 3.16

Rocky Mountain region
Oil (per Bbl) $ 36.79 $ 55.02 $ 63.30
Natural gas (per Mcf) 0.77 1.57 2.01

Total Company
Oil (per Bbl) $ 37.78 $ 58.26 $ 66.11
Natural gas (per Mcf) 1.44 2.06 2.58

Average production cost (per BOE sold)(1)

Gulf Coast region(2) $ 18.20 $ 22.49 $ 22.22
Rocky Mountain region 19.63 22.40 22.27
Total Company(2) 18.78 22.46 22.24

(1) Excludes oil and natural gas ad valorem and production taxes.
(2) Production costs during 2020 include Delhi insurance reimbursements. If these amounts were excluded, production

cost per BOE for the Gulf Coast region and total Company would have averaged $19.58 and $19.60, respectively, for
the year ended December 31, 2020.

PRODUCTION AND UNIT PRICES

Further information regarding average production rates, unit sales prices and unit costs per BOE are set forth under
Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysisll of Financial Condition and Results ott f Oo peratiO ons – Results of Operations
– FinFF ancial and Operating Results Ttt ablesTT , included herein.

TITLE TO PROPERTIES

As is customary in the oil and naturalt gas industry, Denbury conducts a limited title examination at the time of its
acquisition of properties or leasehold interests targeted for enhanced recovery, and curative work is performff ed with respect
to significant defects on higher-value properties of the greatest significance. We believe that title to our oil and naturalt gas
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properties is good and defensible, subject only to such exceptions that we believe do not materially interfere with the use of
such properties, including encumbrances, easements, restrictions and royalty, overriding royalty and other similar interests.

SIGNIFICANT OIL AND GAS PURCHASERS AND PRODUCT MARKETING

Oil and naturalt gas sales are made on a day-to-day basis or under short-term contracts at the currentr area market price.
We would not expect the loss of any single purchaser to have a material adverse effect upon our operations; however, the
loss of a large single purchaser could potentially reduce the competition for our oil and naturalt gas production, which in
turn could negatively impact the prices we receive. For the Successor period September 19, 2020 through December 31,
2020, three purchasers accounted for 10% or more of our oil and naturalt gas revenues: Plains Marketing LP (30%),
Marathon Petroleum Corporation (13%) and Hunt Crude Oil Supply Company (12%), and for the Predecessor period
January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, three purchasers accounted for 10% or more of our oil and naturalt gas
revenues: Plains Marketing LP (30%), Hunt Crude Oil Supply Company (12%) and Marathon Petroleum Corporation
(12%). For the year ended December 31, 2019 (Predecessor), three purchasers accounted for 10% or more of our oil and
naturalt gas revenues: Plains Marketing LP (32%), Hunt Crude Oil Supply Company (11%) and Sunoco Inc. (11%). For the
year ended December 31, 2018 (Predecessor), two purchasers accounted for 10% or more of our oil and naturalt gas
revenues: Plains Marketing LP (24%) and Hunt Crude Oil Supply Company (10%).

Our ability to market oil and naturalt gas depends on many factors beyond our control, including the extent of domestic
production and imports of oil and naturalt gas, availablea oil storage at Cushing, Oklahoma, and other inventory hubs, the
proximity of our oil and naturalt gas production to pipelines and corresponding markets, the availablea capaa city in such
pipelines, the demand for oil and naturalt gas, the effects of weather, and the effects of state and federal regulation. While
we have not experienced significant difficulty in finding a market for our production as it becomes available or in
transporting our production to those markets, during 2020, we experienced some level of disruption in off-take capaca ity as
a result of storage constraints during the initial stages of the COVID-19 pandemic. There is no assurance that we will
always be able to market all of our production or obtain favorablea prices.

Oil Marketing

Prices received in a regional market fluctuate frequently and can differ from NYMEX pricing due to a variety of
reasons, including supply and/or demand factors, crude oil quality and location differentials. The oil differentiff als we
received in the Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions are discussed in further detail below.

With the recent exception of 2020, our crude oil prices in the Gulf Coast region have generally been positive to
NYMEX and highly correlated to the changes in prices of crude oil sold under Light Louisiana Sweet. Our average
NYMEX oil differentiff al in the Gulf Coast region was a negative $1.14 per Bbl during 2020, compared to a positive $3.30
per Bbl and a positive $2.94 per Bbl during 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our current markets at various sales points along
the Gulf Coast have sufficient demand to accommodate our production, but there can be no assurance of future demand.

The marketing of our Rocky Mountain region oil production is dependent on transportation through local pipelines to
our primary market centers in Guernsey, Wyoming and Cushing, Oklahoma, although some of our production may
ultimately be transported by third parties to Wood River, Illinois. Shipments on some of the pipelines are at or near
capaca ity and may be subject to apportionment. We currently have access to, or have contracted for, sufficient pipeline
capacity to move our oil production; however, there can be no assurance that we will be allocated sufficient pipeline
capacity to move all of our oil production in the future. Because local demand for production is small in comparison to
current production levels, much of the production in the Rocky Mountain region is transported to markets outside of the
region. Therefore, prices in the Rocky Mountain region are further influenced by fluctuations in prices (primarily Brent
and LLS) in coastal markets and by available pipeline capaca ity in the Midwest and Cushing markets. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, the discount for our oil production relative to NYMEX in the Rocky Mountain region averaged $2.80
per Bbl, compared to $2.01 per Bbl during 2019 and $1.50 per Bbl during 2018.

COMPETITION AND MARKETS

We face competition from other oil and naturalt gas companies in all aspects of our business, including acquisition of
producing properties, oil and gas leases, drilling rights, and CO2 properties; marketing of oil and naturalt gas; and obtaining
and maintaining goods, services and labor.a Many of our competitors have substantially larger financial and other
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resources. Factors that affect our ability to acquire producing properties include availablea liquidity, available information
about prospective properties and our expectations for earning a minimum projected returnt on our investments. Because of
the primary naturet of our core assets (our tertiary operations) and our ownership of relatively uncommon significant naturalt
sources of CO2 in the Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions, we believe that we are effeff ctive in competing in the market
and have less competition than our peers in certain aspects of our business.

The demand for qualified and experienced field personnel to drill wells and conduct field operations and for
geologists, geophysicists, engineers and other professionals in the oil and gas industry can fluctuate significantly, often in
correlation with commodity prices, causing periodic shortages in such personnel. Prior to the downturn in oil prices that
began in late 2014, the competition for qualified technical personnel had been extensive and personnel costs escalated.
There were also periods with shortages of drilling rigs and other equipment, as demand for rigs and equipment increased
along with the number of wells being drilled. These factors also cause significant increases in costs for equipment, services
and personnel. We cannot be certain when we will experience these issues, and these types of shortages or price increases
could significantly decrease our profit margin, cash flow and operating results and cause significant delays in our
development operations.

FEDERAL AND STATE REGULATIONS

Numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations govern the oil and gas industry. Additions or changes to these
laws and regulations are often made in response to the current political or economic environment. Compliance with the
evolving regulatory landscape is often difficult, and noncompliance can result in substantial penalties or the potential
shutdown of operations. Additionally, the future annual cost of complying with all laws and regulations applicablea to our
operations is uncertain and will be ultimately determined by several factors, including future changes to legal and
regulatory requirements. Management believes that continued compliance with existing laws and regulations applicablea to
our operations and future compliance therewith will not have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows, although such laws and regulations, and compliance therewith, could cause
significant delays or otherwise impede operations, which may, among other things, cause our expected production rates and
cash flows to be less than anticipated.

The following sections describe some specific laws and regulations that may affect us. We cannot predict the cost or
impact of these or other futuret legislative or regulatory initiatives.

Regulation of Oil and Gas Exploration and Production

Our operations are subject to various types of regulation at the federal, state and local levels. Such regulation includes
requiring permits for drilling wells; maintaining bonding requirements in order to drill or operate wells and regulating the
location of wells; the method of drilling and casing wells; the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells
are drilled; the plugging and abandoning of wells; and the composition or disposal of chemicals and fluids used in
connection with operations. Our operations are also subjeu ct to various environmental and conservation laws and
regulations. These include regulation of the size of drilling, spacing or proration units and the density of wells that may be
drilled in those units, and the unitization or pooling of oil and gas properties. In addition, federal and state environmental
and conservation laws, which establia sh maximum rates of production from oil and gas wells, generally prohibit or restrict
the venting or flaring of naturalt gas and impose certain requirements regarding the ratability of production. The effect of
these laws and regulations may limit the amount of oil and naturalt gas we can produce from our wells and may limit the
number of wells or the locations at which we can drill. Regulatory requirements and compliance relative to the oil and gas
industry increase our costs of doing business and, consequently, affect our profitability.

Federal Energy and Climate Change Legislation and Regulation

The Pipeline Safetyff , Regulatory Certainty and Job Creation Act of 2011, among other things, updated federal pipeline
safetyff standards, increased penalties for violations of such standards, gave the Department of Transportation’s Pipeline and
Hazardous Materials Safetyff Administration (the “PHMSA”) authority for new damage prevention and incident notification,
and directed the PHMSA to prescribe new minimum safetyff standards for CO2 pipelines, which safety standards could
affect our operations and the costs thereof. While the PHMSA has adopted or proposed to adopt a number of new
regulations to implem ment this act, there has not been a substantial overhaul as to the regulation of CO2 pipelines.
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Both federal and state authorities have in recent years proposed new regulations to limit the emission of pollutants,
including greenhouse gas emissions, as part of climate change initiatives and the Clean Air Act. For example, both the
EPA and Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) have issued regulations for the control of methane emissions from the oil
and gas industry. The EPA has promulgated regulations requiring permitting for certain sources of greenhouse gas
emissions, and in May 2016, during the Obama Administration, the EPA promulgated final regulations to reduce methane
and volatile organic compound emissions from the oil and gas sector. In July 2017, a federal appeals court rejected an
attempt by the EPA under the Trump Administration to delay implementation of the rule. In September 2018, the EPA
proposed amendments to the rule that were targeted at reducing regulatory requirements and streamlining the rule’s
implementation. In September 2019, the EPA also issued a notice of proposed rulemaking to remove the methane specificff
regulations imposed by the 2016 final rule and to remove certain other emission limitations placed on new or reconstructed
transmission and storage facilities. In August 2020, the EPA released final rules that, among other things, eliminated
standards for methane emissions and adjusted requirements for fugitive emissions. Those rules went into effect in the last
quarter of 2020. Immediate legal challenges ensued, and while the rules were initially stayed in light of the legal
challenges, the stay has been dissolved and the rules are currently in effect. The Biden Administration recently directed the
EPA to consider additional regulations to establia sh comprehensive standards of performance and guidelines for methane
and volatile organic compound emissions from existing operations in the oil and gas sector. Any resulting regulations
adopted by the EPA could possibly be similar to, or even more stringent than, those promulgated by the EPA in 2016.
Enforcement of such regulations may impose additional costs related to compliance with these new emission limits, as well
as inspections and maintenance of several types of equipment used in our operations.

Federal, State or Indian Leases

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 25% of our net developed acreage and 12% of our fourth quarter of 2020
production related to oil and naturalt gas operations performed on federal acreage, including portions of CCA. Our
operations on federal, state or Indian oil and gas leases, especially those in the Rocky Mountain region, are subject to
numerous restrictions, including nondiscrimination statutet s. Such operations must be conducted pursuant to certain on-site
security regulations and other permits and authorizations issued by the BLM, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management,
the Bureau of Safetyt and Environmental Enforcement, the Bureau of Indian Affairs, and other federal and state stakeholder
agencies. The Biden Administration has, through executive action, recently suspended new leasing and other oil and
naturalt gas approvals on federal lands. In addition, the Department of Interior recently has rescinded the ability to issue
permits to drill on existing federal leases. The inabila ity to secure new leases or permits to drill on existing leases could
prevent us from expanding our oil and gas operations, in both new locations and in areas currently leased for which permits
have not yet been obtained. In addition, any action by the federal government to rescind previously issued permits on the
Company’s existing leases could significantly disrupt our existing and futuret operations.

Environmental Regulations

Our oil and naturalt gas production, saltwater disposal operations, injection of CO2, and the processing, handling and
disposal of materials such as hydrocarbons and naturalt ly occurring radioactive materials (“NORM”) are subject to stringent
regulation. We could incur significant costs, including cleanup costs resulting from a release of product, third-party claims
for property damage and personal injuries, or penalties and other sanctions as a result of any violations or liabilities under
environmental laws and regulations or other laws and regulations applicablea to our operations. Changes in, or more
stringent enforcement of, environmental laws and other laws applicable to our operations could also result in delays or
additional operating costs and capia tal expenditures.

Various federal, state and local laws and regulations controlling the discharge of materials into the environment, or
otherwise relating to the protection of the environment and human health, directly impact our oil and gas exploration,
development and production operations. These include, among others, (1) regulations adopted by the EPA and various
state agencies regarding approved methods of disposal for certain hazardous and nonhazardous wastes; (2) the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act and analogous state laws that regulate the
removal or remediation of previously disposed wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or
operators), property contamination (including groundwater contamination), and remedial plugging operations to prevent
future contamination; (3) the Clean Air Act and comparable state and local requirements alreadyd applicablea to our
operations and new restrictions on air emissions from our operations, including greenhouse gas emissions and those that
could discourage the production of fossil fuels that, when used, ultimately release CO2; (4) the Clean Water Act and
comparablea state and local requirements already applicablea to our operations and new restrictions on wastewater discharges
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from our operations; (5) the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, which contains numerous requirements relating to the prevention of,
and response to, oil spills into waters of the United States; (6) the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, which is the
principal federal statutet governing the treatment, storage and disposal of hazardous wastes; (7) the Endangered Species Act
and counterpart state legislation, which protects certain species (and their related habitats), including certain species that
could be present on our leases, as threatened or endangered; and (8) state regulations and statutet s governing the handling,
treatment, storage and disposal of NORM and other wastes.

In the Rocky Mountain region, federal agencies’ actions based upon their environmental review responsibilities under
the National Environmental Policy Act can significantly impact the scope and timing of hydrocarbon development by
slowing the timing of individual applications for permits to drill and requests for rights-of-way and delaying large scale
planning associated with region-level resource management plans and project-level master development plans. The Biden
Administration has signaled an intent to bolster agency review pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act,
including the potential of requiring climate change assessments for proposed projects.

Management believes that we are currently in substantial compliance with existing applicable environmental laws and
regulations, and does not currently anticipate that future compliance will have a materially adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows, although such laws and regulations, and compliance
therewith, could cause significant delays or otherwise impede operations, which may, among other things, cause our
expected production rates and cash flows to be less than anticipated.

Hydraulic Fracturing

During 2020, we fracture stimulated three wells, at Bell Creek Field, consisting primarily of small skin fractures that
are utilized to remove contaminants caused by drilling muds and increase permeabila ity near the wellbore, utilizing water-
based fluids. We currently have plans to potentially hydraulically fracture up to five wells of a similar naturet during 2021.
We are familiar with the laws and regulations applicablea to hydraulic fracturing operations and take steps to ensure
compliance with these requirements.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

The risks described below fall into six broad categories related to (1) oil price volatility and demand, (2) future
executive, legislative or regulatory actions, (3) financial risks, (4) risks of owning our common stock, (5) cybersecurity
risks, and (6) those related to our operations and industry. These are not the only ones we faceff but are considered to be the
most material. There may be other unknown or unpredictable economic, business, competitive, regulatory or other factors
that could have material adverse effects on our future results. Past financial performance is not a reliablea indicator of
future performance, and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

Risks Relating to Volatility in Oil Pricing and Demand for Oil

Low oilii prices in recent yearsrr have led to significi ant periods of reduced cash flowsw and negatively affected our financial
conditiontt and resultsll of operations.

Oil prices are the most important determinant of our operational and financial success. Oil prices are highly impacted
by worldwide oil supply, demand and prices and have historically been subject to significant price changes over short
periods of time. Over the last several years, NYMEX oil prices have been extremely volatile, declining from a three-year
peak of $76 per Bbl in October 2018 to lows averaging $17 per Bbl in April 2020 due to the reduction in worldwide
economic activity and oil demand amid the COVID-19 pandemic, plus OPEC supply pressures, before gradually increasing
to the low-$60s per barrel in mid-February 2021. Based on rising COVID-19 case levels and their impact on worldwide
economic activity, volatility will remain, and prices could move downward on a rapid or repeated basis, which makes
planning and budgeting, acquisition transactions, capital raising, and sustaining business strategies more difficult. Our cash
flow from operations is highly dependent on the prices that we receive for oil, as oil comprised approximately 97% of our
2020 production and approximately 98% of our proved reserves at December 31, 2020. The prices for oil and naturalt gas
are subjeu ct to a variety of factors that are beyond our control. These factors include:

• the level of worldwide demand for oil and naturalt gas, which has been negatively affecff ted by the economic impact
of the worsening COVID-19 pandemic;

• worldwide economic conditions;
• the degree to which members of OPEC maintain oil price and production controls;
• the degree to which domestic oil and natural gas production affects worldwide supplyu of cruderr oil or its price; and
• worldwide political events, conditions and policies, including actions taken by foreign oil and naturalt gas

producing nations.

Negative movements in oil prices could harm us in a number of ways, including:

• lower cash flows from operations may require reduced levels of capita al expenditures; which in turn could lower
our present and future production levels and lower the quantities and value of our oil and gas reserves, which
constitute our majoa r asset;

• we could be forced to increase our level of indebtedness, issue additional equity, or sell assets; and/or
• we could be required to impair various assets, including a write-down of our oil and naturalt gas assets or the value

of other tangible or intangible assets.

Furthermore, some or all of our tertiary projects could become or remain uneconomical. We may also decide to
suspend future expansion projects, and if prices were to drop below our operating cash break-even points for an extended
period of time, we may decide to shut-in existing production, both of which could have a material adverse effect on our
operations and financial condition and reduce our production.

The continueii d COVID-19VV pandemic is likelii yll to continuett to suppress worldwidell economic activtt ity,tt which in turn could
negatively affect our cash flow.

The spread and emergence of new variants of the COVID-19 virus continues to evolve, both in the United States and
abroad. Its ultimate impact on our operational and financial performancff e will depend on future developments, including
(1) the timing and effectiveness of administration of available vaccines domestically and around the world, which is
currently thought to be the most important factor affecting the duration and intensityt of the pandemic, (2) the actions to
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contain the virus or mitigate its impact, and (3) related restrictions on business activity and travel, all of which have had a
direct impact on continued lower levels of domestic and global oil demand.

As described above, oil prices are the most important determinant of our operational and financial success. The
possibility of a continued reduction in cash flows for an indeterminant period of time could impair our ability to develop
our properties and grow our production and oil and gas reserve values.

A continuinii g financial downturn in one or more of the world’sll major marketstt could negatively affect our businessii and
financial condition.tt

In addition to the current impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the demand for oil, regional or worldwide increases in
tariffs or other trade restrictions, significant international currency fluctuations, evolving political and military tensions in
the Middle East and Asia, a sustained credit crisis, a severe economic contraction either regionally or worldwide or turmoil
in the global financial system could materially affect our business and financial condition or impact our ability to finance
operations. Negative credit market conditions could inhibit our lenders from funding our senior secured bank credit facility
or cause them to restrict our borrowing base or make the terms of our senior secured bank credit facility more costly and
more restrictive. Negative economic conditions could also adversely affect the collectability of our trade receivables or
performance by our suppliers or cause our commodity hedging arrangements to be ineffective if our counterparties are
unable to perform their obligations.

Risks Relating to Any Future Executive, Legislative or Regulatory Actions

Any future climate change initiaii tives by the Bidendd Administrii ation, by Congress or by state regue latory or legislate ivtt e
bodies couldll negatively affect our businessii and operations, especialli yll in the Rocky Mountaintt region.e

The new Biden Administration and Congress may adopt stricter standards for, and increase oversight and regulation
over, the exploration and production industry at the federal level, which measures could lead to increased costs or
additional operating restrictions. Also, there is the potential for climate change legislation which could affect demand for
oil on a long-term basis.

Our operations on federal, state or Indian oil and naturalt gas leases in the Rocky Mountain region must be conducted
pursuant to permits and authorizations issued by the Bureau of Land Management, the Bureau of Ocean Energy
Management, the Bureau of Safetyt and Environmental Enforcement, the Bureau of Indian Affairs, and other federal and
state stakeholder agencies. In late January 2021, the Biden Administration, through executive action, suspended for a 60-
day period new leasing and other oil and naturalt gas approvals on federal lands, pending review of such activity. Also, the
Department of Interior recently has rescinded the ability to issue new permits to drill oil and naturalt gas wells on existing
federal leases. Extension of these actions over a longer period could prevent us from expanding our oil and naturalt gas
operations, in both new locations and in areas currently leased for which permits have not yet been obtained. In addition,
any action by the federal government to rescind previously issued permits on the Company’s existing leases, or actions to
restrict our ability to access public lands or to obtain permits, including permits for additional pipeline infrastructure to
transport CO2, could significantly disrupt our existing and future operations, including our planned 105-mile CO2 pipeline
extension in the Cedar Creek Anticline area in Montana and North Dakota.

Tax proposalsll under discussion withintt the Biden Administii rationtt , if enacted,tt couldll change or remove long-timtt e tax
benefitsii availablii ell to the oilii and gas industrytt for drillii ingll and production activitiii es.

As part of its budgetary planning, the Biden Administration has discussed a number of changes to certain provisions of
federal tax law applia cablea to the exploration and production industry, including imposing a tax on carbon emissions, as
well as eliminating long-standing deductions that benefit the fossil fuel industry. Among the specific provisions being
focused upon are Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 263, which allows expensing of exploration, development and
intangible drilling costs, and IRC Section 613, which allows use of percentage depletion instead of cost depletion to
recover drilling and development costs of oil and gas wells. Any such changes would require the U.S. Congress to pass
new legislation and are likely to be part of a broader set of tax revisions. It is currently anticipated that new tax legislation
will be proposed by the Administration later in 2021, the timing and specifics of which are yet to be determined, and the
likelihood of passage of which is not assured.
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Environmental laws and regulate ionstt applicablell to our industrytt are costlyll and stringent.

Our exploration, production, and marketing operations are subject to complex and stringent federal, state, and local
laws and regulations governing, among other things, the discharge of substances into the environment or otherwise relating
to the protection of human health and the protection of endangered species. These laws and regulations and related public
policy considerations affect the costs, manner, and feasibility of our operations and require us to make significant
expenditurest in order to comply. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of
administrative, civil, and criminal penalties, the imposition of investigatory and remedial obligations, and the issuance of
injunctions that could limit or prohibit our operations. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several,
strict liability for contamination resulting from spills, discharges, and releases of substances, including petroleum
hydrocarbons and other wastes, without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct. Under such laws and
regulations, we could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed substances and property contamination,
including wastes disposed or released by prior owners or operators.

Risks Relating to Financial Results and Condition

On Septeee mber 18, 2020, we emerged from bankruptcytt ,yy which could adversely affect our businessii and relationshitt ps.ii

It is possible that our having filed for bankruptcy and our third-quarter 2020 emergence from the Chapter 11
bankruptcy proceedings could adversely affect our business and relationships with customers, employees and suppliers in
the following ways:

• key suppliu ers could terminate their relationship or require financial assurances or enhanced performance;
• the ability to renew existing contracts and competm e for new business may be adversely affected;
• the ability to attract, motivate and/or retain key executives and employem es may be adversely affected;
• employees may be distracted from performance of their duties or more easily attracted to other employment

opportunities; and
• competitors may take business away from us, and our ability to attract and retain customers may be negatively

impacted.

The occurrence of one or more of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our operations, financial
condition and reputation. We cannot assure you that having been subject to bankruptcy protection will not adversely affect
our operations in the future.

Our actual financial resultsll after emergence from bankruptcytt are not comparablem to our historicaltt finaii ncial
information as a resultll of the implem mentation of the plan of reorganizationii and our adoption of freff sh starttt accounting.tt

Upon our emergence from bankruptcy, we adopted fresh start accounting. Accordingly, certain values and financial
measures of the Company’s consolidated financial statements subsequentu to September 18, 2020 are not comparablea to
those in its consolidated financial statements prior to, and including September 18, 2020, although numerous operational
measures are roughly comparable to those in our historical financial statements and other disclosures.

In connection with proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court, and the late third-quarter 2020 hearing to consider
confirmation of the plan of reorganization, we prepared projected financial information to demonstrate to the Bankruptcy
Court the feasibility of the plan of reorganization and our ability to continue operations upon our emergence from
bankruptcy. Those projections were prepared at that time solely for the purpose of the bankruptcy proceedings and have
not been, and will not be, updated on an ongoing basis. The projections were prepared based upon then-current prevailing
economic assumptim ons at that time, are inherently subject to substantial and numerous uncertainties and to a wide variety of
significant business, economic and competitive risks, and the assumptim ons underlying the projections and/or valuation
estimates may prove to be wrong in material respects. Actual results will likely vary significantly from those contemplated
by the projections. As a result, investors should not rely on those projections.
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We may be unablell to access the equitytt or debt capitaltt markets to raise sufficient capitaltt to fund our developmell nt
activtt itiett s or other obligatii ons.

Recent reluctance of traditional capita al sources to invest in the exploration and production sector based on market
volatility, perceived underperformance and environmental, social and governance trends, has raised concerns regarding
capita al availabila ity for the sector. The cost of obtaining money from the credit markets has increased as many lenders and
institutit onal investors have increased interest rates, enacted tighter lending standards and reduced (and in some cases
ceased to provide) funding to borrowers. If those markets are unavailable, or if we are unable to access them or alternative
financing sources on acceptablea terms, we may be unable to carry out our business strategy, with an accompanying
negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Commoditydd derivativtt e contracts may expose us to potential financial loss.

To reduce our exposure to fluctuations in the prices of oil and naturalt gas, we enter into commodity derivative
contracts in order to economically hedge a portion of our forecasted oil and naturalt gas production. As of February 24,
2021, we have oil derivative contracts in place covering approximately 32,500 Bbls/d for 2021, 10,500 Bbls/d for the first
half of 2022, and 2,000 Bbls/d for the second half of 2022. Such derivative contracts expose us to risk of financial loss,
including when there is a change in the expected differential between the underlying price in the hedging agreement and
actual prices received, when the cash benefit from hedges including a sold put is limited to the extent oil prices fall below
the price of any sold puts in our derivative portfolio, or when the counterparty to the derivative contract is financially
constrained and defaults on its contractual obligations. In addition, these derivative contracts may limit the benefit we
would otherwise receive from increases in the prices for oil and naturalt gas.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Denbury Securities

Sales of a substantialtt number of shares of our common stock in the public market, including both those issuablell upon
exercise of our outstandingtt warrantstt and those regie straii ble for resalell under a registration rightstt agreement, could cause
the market price of our common stocktt to drop significi antly,yy even if our businessii is doing well.ll

Approximately 40% of our currently issued and outstanding shares of common stock, currently held by five
shareholders, are entitled to be registered for resale under a registration rights agreement (see Note 10, Stockholders’ll
Equity, to the consolidated financial statements), for the benefit of the largest holders of our pre-emergence debt, as agreed
as part of our bankruptcy plan of reorganization. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by these
holders, or the perception that such sales could occur, could reduce the market price of our common stock and might also
impair our ability to raise capita al through future sale of our equity. Additionally, in connection with our plan of
reorganization, we issued series A and series B warrants to holders of our pre-emergence debt and equity, entitling the
warrant holders to exercise the warrants for up to approximately 5.5 million shares (approxima ately 10%) of our currently
outstanding common stock on a fully diluted basis. See Note 1, Nature of Operations and Summary of Signifii cant
Accounting Policies – EmergEE ence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcyc Code, to the
consolidated financial statements regarding the specific terms of the warrants. The future exercise of a large number of
warrants, followed by the subsequent sale of the acquired stock into the market, could also negatively affect our common
stock price. We cannot predict the likelihood of sales of shares by these two groups of holders of our common stock or
their amounts, or the effecff t of any such sales on the prevailing market price of our common stock.

The trading market for our common stocktt and itstt market price maya be affectedtt by our limitedii tradindd g volume.ee

Upon our emergence from bankruptcy, our old common stock was canceled and we issued new common stock. The
market price and trading volume of our common stock is affected by numerous factors, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include, among other things, the overhang of shares of our common stock registered for resale under
a registration statement as discussed above, the concentration of holdings of our common stock, and on a longer-term basis,
the potential future dilution of up to 5.5 million shares of our common stock acquirablea upon exercise of our series A or
series B warrants, which dilution from exercise of the series A or series B warrants could be reduced to the extent warrants
are exercised on a cashless basis. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for the common stock.
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Risks Relating to a Cybersecurity Breach

A cyber breach couldll occur and resultll in informatrr iontt theft,e data corruption,tt operational disruption,tt and/or financial
loss.

Our business has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies to conduct day-to-day operations, including
certain of our exploration, development and production activities. We depend on digital technology, among other things, to
process and record financial and operating data; analyze seismic and drilling information; monitor and control pipeline and
plant equipment; and process and store personally identifiablea information of our employees, industry partners and royalty
owners. Cyberattacks on businesses have escalated in recent years, exemplim fied by the recent delayed discovery of the
Russian-sponsored hack of U.S. governmental agencies and hundreds of U.S. corporations which did not affect our
systems. Our technologies, systems and networks, or those of software providers that we use, may become the target of
cyberattacks or information security breaches that could compromise our process control networks or other critical systems
and infrastructure,t resulting in disruptions to our business operations, harm to the environment or our assets, disruptions in
access to our financial reporting systems, or loss, misuse or corruption of our critical data and proprietary information,
including our business information and that of our employees, partners and other third parties. Successful attacks which
disable third-party pipelines or processing facilities upon which we depend could materially adversely affect our
operations. Any of the foregoing may be exacerbated by a delay or failure to detect a cyber incident. Although we have
not incurred any material losses from cyberattacks, future cyberattacks could result in significant financial losses, legal or
regulatory violations, reputational harm, and legal liability.

Although we utilize various procedures and controls to monitor and protect against these threats and to mitigate our
exposure to such threats, there can be no assurance that these procedures and controls will be sufficient in preventing
successful attacks from the increasing number of sophisticated intrusions based on technological advances. We may be
required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our procedures and controls or to
upgrade our digital and operational systems, related infrastructure,t technologies and network security, which could increase
our costs. The Audit Committee’s duties and responsibilities include reviewing and discussing the Company’s guidelines
and policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management, as well as the Company’s majoa r financial and
cybersecurity risk exposures and the steps that management has taken to monitor and control such exposures.

Risks Relating to Our Operations and Industry

Our future performancff e depends upon our abilitll ytt to effectivtt elyll developll our existinii gn oil and natural gas reserves and
find or acquire additionaltt oilii and natural gas reserves that are economicallyll recoverable.ee

Unless we can successfully develop our existing reserves and/or replace the reserves that we produce, our reserves will
decline, resulting eventually in a decrease in oil and naturalt gas production and lower revenues and cash flows from
operations. We have historically replaced reserves through both acquisitions and internal organic growth activities. For
internal organic growth activities, the magnitudet of proved reserves that we can book in any given year depends on our
progress with new floods and the timing of the production response, as well as the success of exploitation projects. In the
future, we may not be able to continue to replace reserves at acceptabla e costs. The business of exploring for, developing or
acquiring reserves is capita al intensive. We may not be able to make the necessary capita al investment to maintain or expand
our oil and naturalt gas reserves if our cash flows from operations are reduced, whether due to current oil or naturalt gas
prices or otherwise, or if external sources of capita al become limited or unavailable. Further, the process of using CO2 for
tertiary recovery, and the related infrastructure, requires significant capita al investment prior to any resulting and associated
production and cash flows from these projects, heightening potential capia tal constraints. If our capita al expenditures are
restricted, or if outside capita al resources become limited, we will not be able to maintain our current production levels.

Estimatii ingtt our reserves, production and future net cash flows is difficult to do withtt any certainty.yy

Estimating quantities of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves requires interpretations of available technical data and
various assumptim ons, including future production rates, production costs, severance and excise taxes, capita al expenditures
and workover and remedial costs, and the assumed effect of governmental rules and regulations. There are numerous
uncertainties about when a property may have proved reserves as compared to potential or probable reserves, particularly
relating to our tertiary recovery operations. Forecasting the amount of oil reserves recoverablea from tertiary operations,
and the production rates anticipated therefrom, requires estimates, one of the most significant being the oil recovery factor.
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Actual results most likely will vary from our estimates. Also, the use of a 10% discount factor for reporting purposes, as
prescribed by the SEC, may not necessarily represent the most appropriate discount factor, given actual interest rates and
risks to which our business, and the oil and naturalt gas industry in general, are subject. Any significant inaccuracies in
these interpretations or assumptim ons, or changes of conditions, could result in a revision of the quantities and net present
value of our reserves.

The reserves data included in documents incorporated by reference represents estimates only. Quantities of proved
reserves are estimated based on economic conditions, including first-day-of-the-month average oil and naturalt gas prices
for the 12-month period preceding the date of the assessment. The representative oil and naturalt gas prices used in
estimating our December 31, 2020 reserves, after adjustments for market differentiff als and transportation expenses by field,
were $35.84 per Bbl for crude oil and $1.70 per Mcf for naturalt gas. Our reserves and future cash flows may be subjeu ct to
revisions based upon changes in economic conditions, including oil and naturalt gas prices, as well as due to production
results, results of future development, operating and development costs, and other factors. Downward revisions of our
reserves could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results. Actual future prices and costs may
be materially higher or lower than the prices and costs used in our estimates.

Our production will declinell if our access to sufficiu ent amountstt of carbon dioxide is limiii teii d.

Our long-term strategy is primarily focused on our CO2 tertiaryrr recovery operations. The crude oil production from
our tertiary recovery projects depends, in large part, on having access to sufficient amounts of naturalt ly occurring and
industrial-sourced CO2. Our ability to produce oil from these projects would be hindered if our supply of CO2 was limited
due to, among other things, problems with our current CO2 producing wells and facilities, including compression
equipment, catastrophic pipeline failure or our ability to economically purchase CO2 from industrial sources. This could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Our anticipated future crude
oil production from tertiary operations is also dependent on the timing, volumes and location of CO2 injections and, in
particular, on our ability to increase our combined purchased and produced volumes of CO2 and inject adequate amounts of
CO2 into the proper formation and area within each of our tertiary oil fields.

The development of our naturalt ly occurring CO2 sources involves the drilling of wells to increase and extend the CO2
reserves available for use in our tertiary fields. These drilling activities are subject to many of the same drilling and
geological risks of drilling and producing oil and gas wells (see Oil and natural gas development and producing operations
involve various risksii below). Furthermore, recent market conditions may cause the delay or cancellation of construction of
plants that produce industrial-sourced CO2 as a byproduct that we can purchase, thus limiting the amount of industrial-
sourced CO2 available for our use in our tertiary operations.

Certain of our operations may be limiii teii d duringii certainii periods due to severe weathertt conditions and other regulatie ons.

Our operations in the Gulf Coast region may be subjected to adverse weather conditions such as hurricanes, flooding
and tropical storms in and around the Gulf of Mexico, as well as freezing temperatures,t ice and snow, that can damage oil
and naturalt gas facilities and delivery systems and disrupt operations, which can also increase costs and have a negative
effeff ct on our results of operations. Certain of our operations in North Dakota, Montana and Wyoming, including the
construction of CO2 pipelines, the drilling of new wells and production from existing wells, are conducted in areas subject
to extreme weather conditions including severe cold, snow and rain, which conditions may cause such operations to be
hindered or delayed or otherwise require that they be conducted only during non-winter months, and depending on the
severity of the weather, could have a negative effeff ct on our results of operations in these areas. Further, the potential
impacts of climate change on our operations may include unusually intense rainfall and storm patterns, rising sea levels and
increased high temperatures,t the last of which imposes certain physical constraints on our CO2 injections in our operations
in the Gulf Coast.

Certain of our operations in the Rocky Mountain region are confined to certain time periods due to environmental
regulations, federal restrictions on when drilling can take place on federal lands, and lease stipulations designed to protect
certain wildlife, which regulations, restrictions and limitations could slow down our operations, cause delays, increase costs
and have a negative effeff ct on our results of operations. In addition, a number of governmental bodies have introduced or
are contemplating regulatory changes in response to various proposals to combat climate change and how it should be dealt
with. Legislation and increased regulation regarding climate change could impose significant costs on us and possibly
affect our financial condition and operating performance.
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Oilii and natural gas development and producingii operations involve various risks.ii

Our operations are subject to all of the risks normally incident and inherent to the operation and development of oil
and naturalt gas properties and the drilling of oil and naturalt gas wells, including, without limitation, pipe failure; fires;
formations with abnormal pressures; uncontrollable flows of oil, naturalt gas, brine or well fluids; release of contaminants
into the environment and other environmental hazards and risks; and well blowouts, cratering or explosions. In addition,
our operations are sometimes near populated commercial or residential areas, which adds additional risks. The naturet of
these risks is such that some liabia lities could exceed our insurance policy limits or otherwise be excluded from, or limited
by, our insurance coverage, as in the case of environmental fines and penalties, for example, which are excluded from
coverage as they cannot be insured.

We could incur significant costs related to these risks that could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows or could have an adverse effect upon the profitability of our operations.
Additionally, a portion of our production activities involves CO2 injections into fields with wells plugged and abandoned
by prior operators. It is often difficult (or impracticablea ) to determine whether a well has been properly plugged prior to
commencing injections and pressuring the oil reservoirs. We may incur significant costs in connection with remedial
plugging operations to prevent environmental contamination and to otherwise comply with federal, state and local
regulations relative to the plugging and abandoning of our oil, naturalt gas and CO2 wells. In addition to the increased
costs, if wells have not been properly plugged, modification to those wells may delay our operations and reduce our
production.

Development activities are subject to many risks, including the risk that we will not recover all or any portion of our
investment in such wells. The cost of drilling, completing and operating a well is often uncertain, and cost factors can
adversely affect the economics of a project. Further, our drilling operations may be curtailed, delayed or canceled as a
result of numerous factors, including:

• unexpected drilling conditions;
• pressure or irregularities in formations;
• equipment failures or accidents;
• adverse weather conditions, including hurricanes and tropical storms in and around the Gulf of Mexico, as well as

freezing temperatures,t ice and snow, that can damage oil and naturalt gas facilities and delivery systems and
disrupt operations, and winter conditions and forest fires in the Rocky Mountain region that can delay or impede
operations;

• compliance with environmental and other governmental requirements;
• the cost of, or shortages or delays in the availability of, drilling rigs, equipment, pipelines and services; and
• title problems.

Our planned tertiaryr operations and the relatedtt constructt tion of necessary COCC 2 pipeii lines could be delayell d by difficultiett s
in obtainingii pipelii inell rightsi -of-way and/or permirr tsii and/or// by the listiii ngii of certainii species as threatened or endangered.

The production of crude oil from our planned tertiary operations is dependent upon having access to pipelines to
transport availablea CO2 to our oil fields at a cost that is economically viablea . Our future construction of CO2 pipelines will
require us to obtain rights-of-way from private landowners, state and local governments and the federal government in
certain areas. Certain states where we operate have considered or may again consider the adoption of laws or regulations
that could limit or eliminate the ability of a pipeline owner or of a state, state’s legislaturet or its administrative agencies to
exercise eminent domain over private property, in addition to possible judicially imposed constraints on, and additional
requirements for, the exercise of eminent domain. We also often conduct Rocky Mountain operations on federal and other
oil and naturalt gas leases inhabited by species that could be listed as threatened or endangered under the Endangered
Species Act, which listing could lead to tighter restrictions as to federal land use and other land use where federal approvals
are required. These laws and regulations, together with any other changes in law related to the use of eminent domain or
the listing of certain species as threatened or endangered, could inhibit or eliminate our ability to secure rights-of-way or
otherwise access land for current or future pipeline construction projects and may require additional regulatory and
environmental compliance, and increased costs in connection therewith, which could delay our CO2 pipeline construction
schedule and initiation of our pipeline operations, and/or increase the costs of constructing our pipelines.
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The marketabilitll ytt of our production is dependent upon transportatitt on linesii and other faciliii tiii es,s most of which we do not
control.ll When these facilitll iett s are unavailablell ,e our operations can be intertt ruptedtt and our revenues reduced.

The marketability of our oil and naturalt gas production depends, in part, upon the availabila ity, proximity and capaca ity
of transportation lines owned by third parties. In general, we do not control these transportation facilities, and our access to
them may be limited or denied. A significant disruption in the availabila ity of, and access to, these transportation lines or
other production facilities could adversely impact our ability to deliver to market or produce our oil and thereby cause a
significant interruption in our operations.

We may lose keye executivett officersrr or specialiii zeii d technical employm ees, which could endanger the future success of our
operations.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our executive officers, other key
management and specialized technical personnel. Our employees, including our executive officers, are employed at will
and do not have employment agreements. We believe that our future success depends, in large part, upon our ability to hire
and retain highly skilled personnel.

The loss of one or more of our large oil and natural gas purchasers couldll have an adverserr effect on our operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, three purchasers individually accounted for 10% or more of our oil and naturalt
gas revenues and, in the aggregate, for 54% of such revenues. The loss of a large single purchaser could adversely impact
the prices we receive or the transportation costs we incur.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

There are no unresolved written SEC staff comments regarding our periodic or current reports under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 received 180 days or more before the end of the fiscal year to which this annual report on Form 10-
K relates.

Item 2. Propertiesp

Information regarding the Company’s properties called for by this item is included in Item 1, Business and Properties
– Oil and Natural Gas Operations. We also have various operating leases for rental of office space, office and field
equipment, and land easements. See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysll is of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations – Capital Resources and Liquiditytt – Commitments,tt Obligations and Off-Balff ancel Sheet Arrangements, and
Note 5, Leases, to the consolidated financial statements for the future minimum rental payments. Such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 3. Legal Proceedingsg g

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims and regulatory proceedings incidental to our businesses. While we
currently believe that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material
adverse effect on our business or finances, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties. We accrue for losses from
litigation and claims if we determine that a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Chaptea r 11 Proceedings

On July 30, 2020, Denbury Resources Inc. and each of its wholly-owned subsidiaries filed for relief under chaptea r 11
of the Bankruptcy Code. The chaptea r 11 cases were administered jointly under the capta ion “In“ re Denbury Resources Inc.,
et al., Case No. 20-33801”. On September 2, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Confirmation Order and on the
Emergence Date, all of the conditions of the Plan were satisfiedff or waived and the Plan became effeff ctive and was
implemented in accordance with its terms. On September 30, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court closed the chapter 11 cases of
each of Denbury Inc.’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. The chaptea r 11 case captia oned “In“ re Denbury Resources Inc., et al.,
Case No. 20-33801” will remain pending until the final resolution of all outstanding claims.
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Riley Ridged Helium Supplyll Contract Claim

As part of our 2010 and 2011 acquisitions of the Riley Ridge Unit and associated gas processing facility that was
under construction, the Company assumed a 20-year helium supply contract under which we agreed to supply the helium
separated from the full well stream by operation of the gas processing facility to a third-party purchaser, APMTG Helium,
LLC (“APMTG”).

As the gas processing facility was shut-in during mid-2014 due to significant technical issues, we were not able to
supply helium under the helium supplyu contract. In a case filed in November 2014 in the Ninth Judicial District Court of
Sublette County, Wyoming, APMTG claimed multiple years of liquidated damages for non-delivery of volumes of helium
specified under the helium supplyu contract. The Company claimed that its contractual obligations were excused by virtuet
of events that fall within the force majea ure provisions in the helium supply contract.

On March 11, 2019, the trial court entered a final judgment that a force majeua re condition did exist, but such condition
only excused the Company’s performance for a 35-day period in 2014, and as a result the Company should pay APMTG
liquidated damages and interest thereon for all other time periods for performance from contract commencement to the
close of evidence (November 29, 2017). On December 4, 2020, the Wyoming Supreme Court entered a judgment
affirming the trial court’s ruling on all counts and, as a result, the Company paid total liquidated damages (including
interest) of $52.1 million to APMTG on December 23, 2020 in full satisfaction of all claims. The Company had previously
recorded an accrual for these costs in “Accounts payablea and accruedr liabilities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosuresy

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equityg q y, q y
Securities

Marketkk Information and Holders of Record

On September 18, 2020, upon emergence from bankruptcy, all existing shares of Predecessor common stock were
cancelled and new shares of common stock in the Successor were issued to former holders of debt cancelled in bankruptcy.
On September 21, 2020 the Successor’s common stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”)
under the symbol “DEN.” As of January 31, 2021, based on information from the Company’s transfer agent, Broadridge
Stock Transfer Agent, there was one holder of record of Denbury’s common stock.

The Predecessor’s common stock was listed on the NYSE under the symbol “DNR”, but the NYSE indefinitely
suspended trading of the Predecessor stock on July 31, 2020 as a result of Denbury Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries
filing voluntary positions for reorganization under chaptea r 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. From July 31, 2020 until
September 21, 2020, during the Company’s Chapter 11 reorganization, trading of the Predecessor common stock occurred
on the OTC Pink Open Market.

Dividends

We have not paid dividends on our Successor common stock and have no current plans to declare common stock
dividends. Our credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and other lenders party thereto
requires us to meet certain financial covenants at the time dividend payments are made. For further discussion, see Note 8,
Long-Term Debt, to the consolidated financial statements.

Purchases of Equitytt Securities by the Issuer and Affilff iated Purchasers

We did not repurchase any shares of our Successor common stock during the fourth quarter of 2020.
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Stock Performr ance Graphs

The following Performance Graphs and related informatff ion shall not be deemed “solic“ iting material” or to be “fil“ ed”
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), nor shall such informatff ion be incorporated by reference into any
future filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities ExcEE hange Act of 1o 934, each as amended, excepte to the extent
that the CompanyCC specifii cally incorporates it by refee rence into such filff ings.

The following graph illustrates changes over the period September 21, 2020 through December 31, 2020, in
cumulative total stockholder returnt on the Successor common stock as measured against the cumulative total returnt of the
S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Exploration and Production Index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100
investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends for the index securities) from
September 21, 2020 to December 31, 2020.

SEPTEMBER 21, 2020 to DECEMBER 31, 2020
COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN – PRR OST BANKRUPTRR CY EMERGENCE

Denbury Inc. S&P 500 Dow Jones U.S. Exploration & Production
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The folff lowing graph illustrates changes over the period December 31, 2015 through September 18, 2020, in
cumulative total stockholder returnt on the Predecessor common stock as measured against the cumulative total returnt of the
S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Exploration and Production Index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100
investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends for the index securities) from
December 31, 2015 to September 18, 2020.

DECEMBER 31, 2015 to SEPTEMBER 18, 2020
COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN – PRR RE-BANKRUPTRR CY EMERGENCE

Denbury Resources Inc. S&P 500 Dow Jones U.S. Exploration & Production
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Denbury Resources Inc. $ 100 $ 182 $ 109 $ 85 $ 70 $ 1
S&P 500 100 112 136 130 171 188
Dow Jones U.S. Exploration & Production 100 124 126 104 116 67
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not included based upon the Company voluntarily early adopting the SEC’s amendments to Item 301 of Regulation S-
K which became effective on February 10, 2021.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsg y p

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
Notes thereto included in Item 8, Financial Statementstt and Supplementary Information. Our discussion and analysis
includes forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties and should be read in conjunction with Riskii
Factors under Item 1A of this Form 10-K, along with Forward-Looking Information at the end of this section for
information on the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different from our forward-
looking statements. For a discussion of the financial results for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, see Part II, Item
7, Management’s Discussion and Analysill sii of Financial Condition and Resultstt of Operations, of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the SEC on February 27, 2020.

OVERVIEW

Denbury is an independent energy company with operations focused on producing oil from mature oil fields in the
Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions. The Company is differentiated by its focus on CO2 EOR and the emerging
CCUS industry, supported by the Company’s CO2 EOR technical and operational expertise and its extensive CO2 pipeline
infrastructure. The utilization of capturea d industrial-sourced CO2 in EOR significantly reduces the carbon footprint of the
oil that Denbury produces, underpinning the Company’s goal to fully offset its Scope 1, 2, and 3 CO2 emissions within the
decade.

Emergence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. On July 30, 2020 (the
“Petition Date”), Denbury Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries filed petitions for reorganization in a “prepackaged”
voluntary bankruptcy (the “Chaptea r 11 Restructuring”) under chaptea r 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”) under the capta ion “In“ re Denbury Resources
Inc., et al., Case No. 20-33801”. On September 2, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the “Confirmation
Order”) confirming the chapter 11 plan of reorganization (the “Plan”) and approving the Disclosure Statement, and on
September 18, 2020 (the “Emergence Date”), the Plan became effeff ctive in accordance with its terms and the Company
emerged from Chapter 11. Key accomplishments of the Chapter 11 Restructuring included the following:

• Eliminated approximately $2.1 billion of bond debt by issuing equity and/or warrants to the holders of that debt;
• Significantly improved leverage ratios;
• Reduced d ongoing annual interest expense by approximately $165 million, significantly lowering our cash flow

breakeven level;
• Eliminated approximately $9 million from ongoing general and administrative expenses by terminating certain office

leases and relocating our corporate headquarters; and
• Establia shed a new $575 million senior secured bank credit facility with $482.0 million of availability at December 31,

2020 after outstanding letters of credit.

For more information on the Chapter 11 Restructuring and related matters, refer to Note 1, Nature of Operations and
Summary of Signifii cant Accounting Policies – EmergEE ence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the
Bankruptcykk Code, and Note 8, Long-Term Debt, to the consolidated financial statements.

Fresh Start Accounting. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we met the criteria and were required to adopt fresh start
accounting in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification (“FASC”) Topic 852, Reorganizations,
which on the Emergence Date resulted in a new entity, the Successor, for financial reporting purposes, with no beginning
retained earnings or deficit as of the fresh start reporting date. References to “Successor” relate to the financial position
and results of operations of the Company subsequent to the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy on September 18,
2020, and references to “Predecessor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the Company prior to, and
including, September 18, 2020. In order to assist investors in understanding the comparability of our financial results for
the applicablea periods, we have provided certain comparative analysis on a combined basis, which management believes
provides meaningful information to assist investors in understanding our financial results for the applicablea period, but
should not be considered in isolation, as a substitutet for, or more meaningful than, independent results of the Predecessor
and Successor periods for the year reported in accordance with GAAP.
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Fresh start accounting requires that new fair values be establia shed for the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity as of
the date of emergence from bankruptcy, September 18, 2020, and therefore certain values and operational results of the
consolidated financial statements subsequentu to September 18, 2020 are not comparablea to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements prior to, and including September 18, 2020, principally dued to the Emergence Date re-evaluation of the
fair value of our oil and naturalt gas properties, CO2 properties, and pipelines, together with the conversion of over $2
billion of previously outstanding debt into new common stock and/or warrants in the Successor. The reorganization value
derived from the range of enterprise values associated with the Plan was allocated to the Company’s identifiablea tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities based on their fair values. The Emergence Date fair values of the Successor’s assets
and liabilities differff materially frff om their recorded values as reflected on the historical balance sheet of the Predecessor and
may materially affect our results of operations in Successor reporting periods.

Oil Price Impact on Our Business. Our financial results are significantly impacted by changes in oil prices, as 97%
of our production is oil. Changes in oil prices impact all aspects of our business, most notablya our cash flows from
operations, revenues, capita al allocation and budgeting decisions, and oil and naturalt gas reserves volumes. The tablea below
outlines changes in our realized oil prices, before and afteff r commodity hedging impacts, over the last three years:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Average net realized prices
Oil price per Bbl - excluding impact of derivative settlements $ 37.78 $ 58.26 $ 66.11
Oil price per Bbl - including impact of derivative settlements 43.40 59.40 57.91

Response to 2020 Oil Price Declines. In January and February 2020, NYMEX WTI oil prices averaged in the mid-
$50s per Bbl range before a precipitous decline in oil prices that began in early March 2020 due to the combination of the
COVID-19 coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and the failure of the group of oil producing nations known as OPEC+ to
reach an agreement over proposed oil production cuts. While oil prices have improved from the low points experienced
during the second quarter of 2020, the concerns and uncertainties around the balance of supply and demand for oil are
expected to continue for some time.

The precipitous decline in oil prices that began in the latter part of the first quarter of 2020 caused us to reassess our
original plans for 2020, and as a result the Company adopted the following operational and financial measures:

• Reduced d budgeted 2020 capia tal spending by $80 million, or 44%, to a range of $95 million to $105 million;
• Deferff red the CO2 pipeline to Cedar Creek Anticline and the Cedar Creek Anticline CO2 tertiary frr loodff development

project beyond 2020;
• Implemented cost reduction measures including shutting-in production, shutting down compressors, negotiating

reductions with vendors, delaying uneconomic well repairs and workovers and reducing our workforce;
• Restructured approxima ately 50% of our three-way collars covering 14,500 Bbls/d into fixed-priff ce swapsa for the second

quarter through the fourth quarter of 2020 in order to increase downside oil price protection; and
• Evaluated production economics at each field and shut-in production beginning in late March 2020 that was

uneconomic to produce or repair based on then-prevailing oil prices.

Comparative Financial Results and Highlights. As a result of Denbury filing for bankruptcy and emerging from
bankruptcy during September 2020, our financial results are broken out between the Predecessor period (January 1, 2020
through September 18, 2020) and the Successor period (September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020). For the
Predecessor period, we recognized a net loss of $1.4 billion, and for the Successor period, we recognized a net loss of
$50.7 million. The primary drivers of our significant financial net loss for the Predecessor period included the folff lowing:

• A $996.7 million full cost pool ceiling test write-down during the Predecessor period as a result of the decline in
NYMEX oil prices (see Depletion, Depreciation, and Amortization (“DD&A”)&& – Full Cost Pool Ceiling Test below);
and

• Reorganization items, net, resulted in an $850.0 million charge during the Predecessor period, due to fresh start
accounting adjustments of $1.9 billion to decrease the carrying value of our assets, partially offset by a gain on

Denbury Inc.
Management’s Discussiii on and Analysis of Financii ial Conditiii on and Results ott f Oo peOO rations

42



settlements of liabilities subject to compromise of $1.0 billion, primarily representing the net impact of approximately
$2.1 billion of debt elimination offset by the new equity value in Denbury.

On a comparative basis, we recognized net income of $217.0 million, or $0.45 per diluted share, during 2019. The
following reflects some of the primary drivers for our change in operating results between full-year 2020 and 2019:

• Oil and naturalt gas revenues decreased by $518.8 million (43%), with 31% of the decrease due to lower commodity
prices and 12% due to lower production;

• Lease operating expenses decreased by $125.7 million (26%), primarily due to cost reduction measures in light of the
low oil price environment, as well as the sale of a portion of our working interest in four southeast Texas oil fields (see
March 2020 Sale of WorkWW ing Interests in Certain Texas Fieldsll below) and Delhi insurance reimbursements (see Delhi
Insurance Recovery below);

• Commodity derivative expense decreased by $110.2 million ($40.1 million of income during 2020 compared to $70.1
million of expense during 2019), resulting from a $78.9 million increase in cash receipts upon settlement and an
incremental $31.3 million decrease in noncash fair value losses between periods;

• A noncash gain on debt extinguishment of $156.0 million during 2019 compared to $19.0 million during 2020; and
• Reductd ions across numerous expense categories including $33.6 million in taxes other than income and $15.0 million

in general and administrative expenses.

March 2021 Acquisition of Wyoming CO2 EOR Fields. In December 2020, we entered into an agreement to
acquire a nearly 100% working interest (approximately 83% net revenue interest) in the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek
oil fields located in Wyoming for $12 million cash, including surface facilities and a 46-mile CO2 transportation pipeline to
the acquired fields. The agreement provides for us to make two contingent cash payments of $4 million each in 2021 and
2022 if NYMEX WTI oil prices average at least $50 per Bbl during the respective calendar years. The acquisition closed
on March 3, 2021.

October 2020 Restructuring of CO2 Pipeline Agreements. In late October 2020, we restructuredt our CO2 pipeline
financing arrangements with Genesis Energy, L.P. (“Genesis”), whereby (1) Denbury reacquired the NEJD pipeline system
from Genesis in exchange for $70 million to be paid in four equal payments during 2021, representing full settlement of all
remaining obligations under the NEJD secured financing lease; and (2) Denbury reacquired the Free State Pipeline from
Genesis in exchange for a one-time payment of $22.5 million on October 30, 2020.

Delhi Insurance Recovery. During 2020, we received iinsurance rei bimbursements tot lalinging $$16.1 imilllliion ($($15.4
imilllliion net to Denbury’snbury’s iintere )st) for ipreviously-iously-incurredd wellll lcontrol costs, lcleanup costs, dand ddam gages associiatedd iwithh a
2013 iincidident at Delhlhii iFi ldeld. Denbury’sbury’s iportion of hthe iinsurance rec yovery fof $15.4 million was recorded as a reduction to
lease operating expenses.

Houston Area Land Sales. As part of our marketing non-producing surface acreage primarily around the Houston
area for sale, we completed the sale of a portion of this acreage for gross proceeds of approximately $29 million during
2020. To date, we have closed acreage sales for total gross proceeds of approximately $49 million, and we currently have
an additional $4 million under contract which is expected to close in the third quarter of 2021.

March 2020 Sale of Working Interests in Certain Texas Fields. On March 4, 2020, we sold half of our nearly
100% working interest positions in four southeast Texas oil fields (consisting of Webster, Thompson, Manvel and East
Hastings) for $40 million net cash and a carried interest in ten wells to be drilled by the purchaser (the “Gulf Coast
Working Interests Sale”).

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Overview. Our primary sources of capita al and liquidity are our cash flows from operations and availability of
borrowing capaca ity under our Successor bank credit facility. Our most significant cash outlays relate to our development
capita al expenditures and current period operating expenses. The most significant changes during 2020 to our capita al
resources and liquidity resulted from our financial restructuring and emergence from Chapter 11 reorganization in which
we eliminated approximately $2.1 billion of bond debt and reduced ongoing annual interest expense by approximately
$165 million, significantly improving our cash flow on a go-forward basis.
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2020 Cash Sources and Uses. NYMEX oil prices decreased significantly duringd 2020, directly reducing our
operating cash flow; however, we took significant actions to reduce capital expenditures and operating expenses in order to
adjust our spending levels such that our spending for ongoing operations was below our cash flow generated from
operations. During 2020, we generated cash flowsff from operations of $153.7 million, while incurring capita al expenditures
of $95.2 million and capita alized interest of $24.1 million, resulting in approximately $50 million of cash flow in excess of
capita al expenditures (excluding working capita al changes, but including $46.4 million of interest payments treated as
repayment of debt in our financial statements). During 2020, we further supplemented our cash flow and liquidity with
proceeds from asset sales, including $40 million of proceeds from our March 2020 sale of working interests in four
southeast Texas fields and by $29 million of proceeds from sales of non-producing surface acreage primarily around the
Houston area. These supplemental cash inflowsff were offset with a similar amount of debt reduction and repurchase of the
NEJD and Free State CO2 pipelines from Genesis.

Capital Expenditure Summary. The following tablea reflects incurred capital expenditures (including accrued
capita al) forff the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended December 31,
In thousands 2020 2019 2018
Capita al expenditurest by project
Tertiary oil fields $ 26,402 $ 93,331 $ 142,560
Non-tertiary fields 25,666 71,014 104,811
Capita alized internal costs(1) 32,956 46,031 46,599
Oil and natural gas capia tal expenditures 85,024 210,376 293,970

CO2 pipelines, sources and other 10,144 26,545 28,700
Capital expenditures, before acquisitions and capitalized interest 95,168 236,921 322,670

Acquisitions of oil and natural gas properties 176 284 541
Capital expenditures, before capitalized interest 95,344 237,205 323,211

Capita alized interest 24,146 36,671 37,079
Capital expenditures, total $ 119,490 $ 273,876 $ 360,290

(1) Includes capita alized internal acquisition, exploration and development costs and pre-production tertiary startupt costs.

2021 Plans and Capital Budget. Oil prices continued to strengthen during the first two months of 2021, reaching the
low-$60s per barrel in mid-February. Considering the current oil price environment and strategic importance of the CO2
flood at Cedar Creek Anticline (“CCA”), we plan to move forward in 2021 with the development of this significant long-
term project. We expect to allocate approxia mately $150 million of capita al in 2021 to this CCA development, consisting of
approximately $100 million dedicated to the 105-mile extension of the Greencore CO2 pipeline from Bell Creek to CCA,
with the remainder dedicated to facff ilities, well work and field development at CCA. In total, we estimate that our total
development capita al expenditures in 2021, excluding acquisitions and capita alized interest, will be in a range of $250
million to $270 million. Based on current oil prices and the Company’s hedge positions, we estimate that our 2021 cash
flows from operations will exceed our budgeted level of planned development capita al expenditures. In addition to our 2021
planned development capita al, we acquired the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek oil fields in Wyoming in early March
2021 for a cash purchase price of $12 million before closing adjustments. Also, we plan to settle the remaining debt
obligation to Genesis for the NEJD CO2 pipeline, with $70 million in payments to be made over the course of 2021. We
expect to fulfiff ll these remaining obligations from cash flow and borrowings under our bank credit facility. At December
31, 2020, we had $482 million of availability under our bank credit facility, which we believe is more than adequate to
cover any near-term liquidity needs. To supplement our liquidity, we may seek other sources of fundingff for all or a portion
of the CCA CO2 Pipeline expenditure.t

The 2021 capita al budget, excluding capita alized interest and acquisitions, provides forff approximate spending of $260
million at the midpoint of our guidance as followff s:

• $100 million for the 105-mile extension of the Greencore CO2 pipeline to CCA
• $50 million for CCA tertiary well work, facilities, and field development;
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• $50 million allocated for other tertiary oil field development;
• $35 million allocated for non-tertiary oil field development; and
• $25 million for other capital items such as capitalized internal acquisition, exploration and development costs and

pre-production tertiary startupt costs.

Based on our capital spending plans, we currently anticipate 2021 average daily production to be between 47,500
BOE/d and 51,500 BOE/d, including the Big Sand Draw and Beaver Creek working interests acquisition expected to close
in early March 2021. Our anticipated 2021 production level compares to 2020 average continuing production of 50,957
BOE/d, after reduction for 2020 property divestitures.ff

New Senior Secured Bank Credit Agreement. In connection with our emergence from Chapter 11 proceedings on
September 18, 2020, we entered into a bank credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent,
and other lenders party thereto (the “Bank Credit Agreement”). The Bank Credit Agreement is a senior secured revolving
credit facility with an initial borrowing base and lender commitments of $575 million, under which we had $70.0 million
borrowed as of December 31, 2020, leaving us with $482.0 million of availability after consideration of $23.0 million of
outstanding letters of credit. Availability under the Bank Credit Agreement is subject to a borrowing base, which is
redetermined semiannually on or around May 1 and November 1 of each year, with our next scheduled redetermination
around May 1, 2021. The borrowing base is adjusted at the lenders’ discretion and is based, in part, upon external factors
over which we have no control. The borrowing base is subject to a reduction by twenty-five percent (25%) of the principal
amount of any unsecured or subordinated debt issued or incurred. The borrowing base may also be reduced if we sell
borrowing base properties and/or cancel commodity derivative positions with an aggregate value in excess of 5% of the
then-effective borrowing base between redeterminations. The Bank Credit Agreement matures on January 30, 2024.

The Bank Credit Agreement prohibits us from paying dividends on our common stock through September 17, 2021.
The Bank Credit Agreement also limits our ability to, among other things, incur and repay other indebtedness; grant liens;
engage in certain mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; engage in sales of assets; make acquisitions and
investments; make other restricted payments (including redeeming, repurchasing or retiring our common stock); and enter
into commodity derivative agreements, in each case subject to customary exceptions.

The Bank Credit Agreement contains certain financial performance covenants including the following:

• A Consolidated Total Debt to Consolidated EBITDAX covenant, with such ratio not to exceed 3.5 times; and
• A requirement to maintain a current ratio (i.e., Consolidated Current Assets to Consolidated Current Liabilities) of at

least 1.0 times.

For purposes of computing the current ratio per the Bank Credit Agreement, Consolidated Current Assets exclude the
current portion of derivative assets but include available borrowing capacity under the Bank Credit Agreement, and
Consolidated Current Liabilities exclude the current portion of derivative liabilities as well as the current portions of long-
term indebtedness outstanding. Under these financial performance covenant calculations, as of December 31, 2020, our
ratio of consolidated total debt to consolidated EBITDAX was 0.45 to 1.0 (with a maximum permitted ratio of 3.5 to 1.0)
and our current ratio was 3.73 to 1.0 (with a required ratio of not less than 1.0 to 1.0). Based upon our currently forecasted
levels of production and costs, hedges in place as of February 24, 2021, and current oil commodity futures prices, we
currently anticipate continuing to be in compliance with our financial performance covenants during the foreseeable future.

The above description of our Bank Credit Agreement is qualified by the express language and defined terms contained
in the Bank Credit Agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to our Form 8-K Report filed with the SEC on September 18,
2020.

Commitments, Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. As of December 31, 2020, we had a total of
$23.0 million of letters of credit outstanding under our senior secured bank credit facility. Additionally, we have
obligations for development and exploratory expenditures that arise from our normal capital expenditure program or from
other transactions common to our industry, none of which are recorded on our balance sheet. These obligations are further
described in 2021 Plans and Capital Budget above. In addition, in order to recover our undeveloped proved reserves, we
must also fund the associated future development costs estimated in our proved reserve reports. For a further discussion of
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our future development costs, see Supplemental Oil and Natural Gas Discii losures (Unaudited) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our periodic obligations include operational expenses that we anticipate being paid out of our cash flow from sale of
production, plus the capia tal expenditures detailed above. In addition to these periodic expenditures, we have various future
cash commitments under contracts in place as of December 31, 2020. The most material of these commitments to be
settled within the next 12 months include:

• Pipeline financing obligations of $70.0 million associated with the NEJD pipeline system, which is to be repaid in
four equal payments during 2021, with the first payment made on January 31, 2021;

• Contracts for the purchase of CO2 capta urt ed from industrial sources that is used in our tertiary recovery activities
and processing fees related to our overriding royalty interest in the CO2 at LaBarge Field (see Note 14,
Commitmentstt and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion); and

• Operating lease obligations (see Note 5, Leases, to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion).

In addition to these commitments, we have recurringr expenditurest for such things as accounting, engineering and legal
fees; software maintenance; subscriptu ions; and other overhead-type items. Normally these expenditures do not change
materially on an aggregate basis from year to year and are part of our general and administrative expenses. Most of these
recurring expenditurest could be quickly canceled with regard to any specific vendor, even though the expense itself may be
required for our ongoing normal operations. Other commitments include certain transportation agreements and well-
related costs. Our longer-term commitments that extend beyond the next 12 months include the following:

• Obligations and periodic interest payments under our senior secured bank credit facility, which matures on
January 30, 2024, and of which $70.0 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2020; and

• Asset retirement obligations related to future costs associated with plugging and abandoning our oil, naturalt gas
and CO2 wells, removing equipment and facilities from leased acreage, and returningt land to its original condition
(see Note 6, Asset Retirement Obligations, to the consolidated financial statements).

As detailed throughout this report, the largest determinant of our cash flow is the oil price we receive. The variability
of proceeds from the sale of our production is offset to some extent by similar directional variances in certain expenses,
including a portion of our lease operating expenses and production taxes, as these expenses experience some variabia lity
with changes in oil prices. Because revenues and expenses do not rise and fall at the same rate, the continuing volatility of
the oil market in recent years often results in variances when comparing period-to-period revenues and expense items.
Additionally, events in world oil markets can affect cash flow, which we attempt to offset to some extent with our hedging
program.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW OF TERTIARY OPERATIONS

As discussed in Item 1, Business and Properties – Oil and Natural Gas Operations – Enhanced Oil Recovery
Overview, our tertiary operations represent a significant portion of our overall operations and have become our primary
strategic focus. The economics of a tertiary field and the related impact on our financial statements differ from a
conventional oil and gas play and are explained further below.

While it is difficult to accurately forecast future production, we believe our tertiary recovery operations provide
significant long-term production growth potential at reasonable returnt metrics, with relatively low risk, assuming crude oil
prices are at levels that support the development of those projects. We have been developing tertiary oil properties for over
21 years, and the financial impact of such operations is reflected in our historical financial statements. The summary below
highlights our observations regarding how tertiary operations have impacted our financial statements.

Finding and Development Costs. We currently expect finding and development costs (including future development
and abandonment costs but excluding CO2 pipeline infrastructure capital expenditures) over the life of each field to be
competitive with the industry average costs for other oil properties. See the definition of finding and development costs in
the Glossary and Selected Abbreviations.
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Timing of Capital Costs. When initiating a new tertiaryrr flood, there generally is a delay between the initial capita al
expenditurest and the resulting production increases. We must build facilities, and often a CO2 pipeline to the field, before
CO2 flooding can commence, and it usually takes six to twelve months before the field responds to the injection of CO2
(i.e., oil production commences). Further, we may spend significant amounts of capita al before we can recognize any
proved reserves from fields we flood and, even after a field has proved reserves, significant amounts of additional capia tal
will usually be required to fully develop the field.

Recognition of Proved Reserves. In order to recognize proved tertiary oil reserves, we must either demonstrate
production resulting from the tertiaryrr process or the field must be analogous to an existing tertiary flood. The magnitudet of
proved reserves that we can book in any given year will depend on our progress with new floods, the timing of the
production response from new floods and the performance of our existing floods.

Production Rates. The production rate at a tertiaryrr flood can vary from quarter to quarter, as a tertiaryrr field’s
production may increase rapidly when wells respond to the CO2, plateau temporarily, and then resume growth as additional
areas of the field are developed. During a tertiary flood life cycle, facility capaca ity is increased from time to time, which
occasionally requires temporary shutdowns during installation, thereby causing temporary declines in production. We also
find it difficuff lt to precisely predict when any given well will respond to the injected CO2, as the CO2 seldom travels
through the rock consistently due to heterogeneity in the oil-bearing formations. With the lower level of oil prices over the
past several years, our pace of development has generally slowed, thereby reducing our Company-wide production rates.
We find all of these fluctuations to be normal and generally expect oil production at a tertiaryrr field to increase over time
until the field is fully developed, albeit sometimes in inconsistent patterns.

Operating Costs. Tertiaryrr projects may be more expensive to operate than traditional industry operations because of
the cost of injecting and recycling the CO2 (primarily due to the cost of the CO2 and the significant energy requirements to
re-compress the CO2 back into a near-liquid state for re-injection purposes). The costs of our CO2 and the electricity
required to recycle and inject this CO2 comprise over half of our typical tertiary operating expenses. Since these costs vary
along with commodity and commercial electricity prices, they are highly variable and will increase in a high-commodity-
price environment and decrease in a low-price environment. The cost of purchasing and/or producing CO2 for use in
tertiary floods is allocated to our tertiary oil fields and recorded as lease operating expenses (following the commencement
of tertiary oil production) at the time the CO2 is injected. These costs have historically represented approximately 20% to
25% of the total operating costs for our tertiary operations. Since we expense all of the operating costs to produce and
inject our CO2 (following the commencement of tertiary oil production), operating costs per barrel forff a new flood will be
higher at the inception of CO2 injection projects because of minimal related oil production at that time.
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RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

Financial and Operating Results Tables

Certain of our financial results forff our Successor and Predecessor periods are included in the following tablea .
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020

Year Ended December 31,

In thousands, except per-share data 2019 2018
Financial results
Net income (loss)(1) $ (50,658) $ (1,432,578) $ 216,959 $ 322,698
Net income (loss) per common share – basic(1) (1.01) (2.89) 0.47 0.75
Net income (loss) per common share – diluted(1) (1.01) (2.89) 0.45 0.71
Net cash provided by operating activities 40,326 113,408 494,143 529,685

(1) Includes a pre-tax full cost pool ceiling test write-down of our oil and naturalt gas properties of $1.0 million for the
Successor period September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020 and $996.7 million for the Predecessor period
January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020. In addition, the Predecessor period January 1, 2020 through September
18, 2020 includes reorganization adjustments, net totaling $850.0 million.
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Certain of our financial and operating results and statistics for each of the last three years are included in the following
tablea .

Year Ended December 31,
In thousands, except per-share and unit data 2020 2019 2018
Average daily production volumes
Bbls/d 49,828 56,672 58,532
Mcf/d 7,938 9,246 10,854
BOE/d 51,151 58,213 60,341

Operating revenues
Oil sales $ 689,020 $ 1,205,083 $ 1,412,358
Natural gas sales 4,189 6,937 10,231
Total oil and natural gas sales $ 693,209 $ 1,212,020 $ 1,422,589

Commodity derivative contracts(1)

Receipt (payment) on settlements of commodity derivatives $ 102,485 $ 23,606 $ (175,248)
Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives(2) (62,355) (93,684) 196,335
Commodity derivatives income (expense) $ 40,130 $ (70,078) $ 21,087

Unit prices – excluding impact of derivative settlements
Oil price per Bbl $ 37.78 $ 58.26 $ 66.11
Natural gas price per Mcf 1.44 2.06 2.58

Unit prices – including impact of derivative settlements(1)

Oil price per Bbl $ 43.40 $ 59.40 $ 57.91
Natural gas price per Mcf 1.44 2.06 2.58

Oil and natural gas operating expenses
Lease operating expenses $ 351,505 $ 477,220 $ 489,720
Transportation and marketing expenses 37,759 41,810 43,942
Production and ad valorem taxes 53,708 86,820 96,589

Oil and natural gas operating revenues and expenses per BOE
Oil and natural gas revenues $ 37.03 $ 57.04 $ 64.59
Lease operating expenses 18.78 22.46 22.24
Transportation and marketing expenses 2.02 1.97 2.00
Production and ad valorem taxes 2.87 4.09 4.39

CO2 sources – revenues and expenses
CO2 sales and transportation fees $ 30,468 $ 34,142 $ 31,145
CO2 operating and discovery expenses (4,568) (2,922) (2,816)
CO2 revenue and expenses, net $ 25,900 $ 31,220 $ 28,329

(1) See also Commodity Derivative Contracts below and Marketkk Riskii Management for information concerning our
commodity derivative transactions.

(2) Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives is a non-GAAP measure and is differentff from
“Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in that the noncash fair
value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives represent only the net changes between periods of the fair market values
of commodity derivative positions, and exclude the impact of settlements on commodity derivatives duringd the period,
which were receipts on settlements of $102.5 million and $23.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, compared to payments on settlements of $175.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
We believe that noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives is a useful supplemental disclosure to
“Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in order to differentiate noncash fair market value adjustments from
receipts or payments uponu settlements on commodity derivatives duringd the period. This supplemental disclosure is
widely used within the industry and by securities analysts, banks and credit rating agencies in calculating EBITDA and
in adjusting net income (loss) to present those measures on a comparative basis across companies, as well as to assess
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compliance with certain debt covenants. Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives is not a measure
of financial or operating performance under GAAP, nor should it be considered in isolation or as a substitutet for
“Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See also the Glossary and
Selected Abbreviations for the definition of noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives.

Production

Average daily production by area forff 2020, 2019 and 2018, and for each of the quarters of 2020, is shown below:
Average Daily Production (BOE/d)

2020 Quarters Year Ended December 31,

Operating Area
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter 2020 2019 2018

Tertiary oil production
Gulf Coast region
Delhi 3,813 3,529 3,208 3,132 3,419 4,324 4,368
Hastings 5,232 4,722 4,473 4,598 4,755 5,403 5,596
Heidelberg 4,371 4,366 4,256 4,198 4,297 4,195 4,355
Oyster Bayou 3,999 3,871 3,526 3,880 3,818 4,345 4,843
Tinsley 4,355 3,788 4,042 3,654 3,959 4,608 5,530
West Yellow Creek 775 695 588 614 668 640 205
Mature properties(1) 6,386 5,249 5,683 5,718 5,759 6,422 6,702
Total Gulf Coast region 28,931 26,220 25,776 25,794 26,675 29,937 31,599

Rocky Mountain region
Bell Creek 5,731 5,715 5,551 5,079 5,518 5,228 4,113
Salt Creek 2,149 1,386 2,167 2,007 1,928 2,143 2,109
Grieve 50 7 — — 14 53 7
Total Rocky Mountain region 7,930 7,108 7,718 7,086 7,460 7,424 6,229

Total tertiary oil production 36,861 33,328 33,494 32,880 34,135 37,361 37,828
Non-tertiary oil and gas production
Gulf Coast region
Mississippi 748 713 629 655 686 970 960
Texas 3,419 3,087 3,095 2,860 3,115 3,225 3,418
Other 6 5 4 8 6 6 13
Total Gulf Coast region 4,173 3,805 3,728 3,523 3,807 4,201 4,391

Rocky Mountain region
Cedar Creek Anticline 13,046 11,988 11,485 11,433 11,985 14,090 14,837
Other 1,105 1,069 979 969 1,030 1,262 1,431
Total Rocky Mountain region 14,151 13,057 12,464 12,402 13,015 15,352 16,268

Total non-tertiary production 18,324 16,862 16,192 15,925 16,822 19,553 20,659
Total continuing production 55,185 50,190 49,686 48,805 50,957 56,914 58,487
Property sales
Property divestitures(2) 780 — — — 194 1,299 1,854
Total production 55,965 50,190 49,686 48,805 51,151 58,213 60,341

(1) Mature properties include Brookhaven, Cranfield, Eucutta, Little Creek, Mallalieu, Martinville, McComb and Soso
fields.

(2) Includes non-tertiary production related to the March 2020 sale of 50% of our working interests in Webster,
Thompson, Manvel, and East Hastings fields, Citronelle Field sold in July 2019 and Lockhart Crossing Field sold in
the third quarter of 2018.
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Total Production

Total continuing production during 2020 averaged 50,957 BOE/d, including 34,135 Bbls/d from tertiary properties and
16,822 BOE/d fromff non-tertiary properties. Total continuing production excludes sold production related to our Gulf
Coast Working Interests Sale in March 2020 and, for prior-year periods, excludes production from Citronelle Field sold in
July 2019 and Lockhart Crossing Field sold in the third quarter of 2018. Our 2020 total continuing production level
represents a decrease of 5,957 BOE/d (10%) compared to 2019 levels, most significantly attributablea to production that was
shut-in dued to wells that were uneconomic to produce or repair based on NYMEX oil prices during the second through
fourth quarters of 2020. In addition to shut-in production, the year-over-year production decline included production
declines at Delhi Field dued to the lack of CO2 purchases between late-February and late-October 2020 as a result of the
Delta-Tinsley CO2 pipeline being down for repair during that period, reduced levels of workovers and capita al investment
due to lower oil prices and higher than normal declines resulting fromff such. During the fourth quarter of 2020, the Delta-
Tinsley pipeline was brought back into service, allowing CO2 purchases to resume at Delhi Field. Our production during
2020 was 97% oil, consistent with 2019 and 2018.

Oil and NaturalNN Gas Revenues

Oil and naturalt gas revenues decreased 43% between 2019 and 2020 and decreased 15% between 2018 and 2019. The
changes in our oil and naturalt gas revenues are due to changes in production quantities and realized commodity prices
(excluding any impact of our commodity derivative contracts), as reflected in the following tablea :

Year Ended December 31,
2020 vs. 2019

Year Ended December 31,
2019 vs. 2018

In thousands
Decrease in
Revenues

Percentage
Decrease in
Revenues

Decrease in
Revenues

Percentage
Decrease in
Revenues

Change in oil and natural gas revenues dued to:
Decrease in production $ (144,118) (12)% $ (50,163) (4)%
Decrease in commodity prices (374,693) (31)% (160,406) (11)%

Total decrease in oil and naturalt gas revenues $ (518,811) (43)% $ (210,569) (15)%

Excluding any impact of our commodity derivative contracts, our average net realized commodity prices and NYMEX
differentials were as follff ows during 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Average net realized prices
Oil price per Bbl $ 37.78 $ 58.26 $ 66.11
Natural gas price per Mcf 1.44 2.06 2.58
Price per BOE 37.03 57.04 64.59

Average NYMEX differentials
Gulf Coast region
Oil per Bbl $ (1.14) $ 3.30 $ 2.94
Natural gas per Mcf (0.14) (0.04) 0.09
Rocky Mountain region
Oil per Bbl $ (2.80) $ (2.01) $ (1.50)
Natural gas per Mcf (1.36) (0.96) (1.06)

Total Company
Oil per Bbl $ (1.81) $ 1.23 $ 1.30
Natural gas per Mcf (0.69) (0.47) (0.49)

Denbury Inc.
Management’s Discussion and Analysisyy of Financiali Conditiontt and Results of Operations

51



Prices received in a regional market fluctuate frequently and can differ from NYMEX pricing due to a variety of
reasons, including supply and/or demand factors, cruderr oil quality, and location differentials.

• Gulf Coast Region. Our average NYMEX oil differentiff al in the Gulf Coast region was a negative $1.14 per Bbl
in 2020 and a positive $3.30 per Bbl during 2019. With the recent exception of 2020, our Gulf Coast region
differentials have generally been positive to NYMEX due to historically higher prices received for Gulf Coast
crudes, such as Light Louisiana Sweet crude oil, though storage constraints and weak demand caused these
differentials to weaken significantly during 2020.

• Rocky Mountain Region. NYMEX oil differentiff als in the Rocky Mountain region averaged $2.80 per Bbl below
NYMEX during 2020, compared to an average differentiff al of $2.01 per Bbl below NYMEX in 2019.
Differentials in the Rocky Mountain region can fluctuate significantly on a month-to-month basis due to weather,
refinery or transportation issues, and Canadian and U.S. crude oil price index volatility.

Our realized oil prices and differentials during 2020 have been significantly impacted by the rapida and precipitous drop
in oil demand caused by the slowdown in economic activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This drop in oil demand
followed the early-March 2020 failure by the group of oil producing nations known as OPEC+ to reach an agreement over
proposed oil production cuts, causing oil prices to drop to unprecedented levels in the second quarter of 2020. Uncertainty
about the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its resulting economic consequences has resulted in abnormally high
worldwide inventories of produced oil. While oil prices have improved from the low points experienced during the second
quarter of 2020, concerns and uncertainties around the balance of supply and demand for oil are expected to continue for
some time. While our oil differentiff als have improved since the second quarter of 2020, oil prices are expected to continue
to be volatile as a result of these events, and as changes in oil inventories, oil demand and economic performance are
reported.

CO2 Revenues and Expenses

We sell CO2 produced from Jackson Dome to third-party industrial users at various contracted prices primarily under
long-term contracts. We recognize the revenue received on these CO2 sales as “CO2 sales and transportation fees” with the
corresponding costs recognized as “CO2 operating and discovery expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Oil Marketingii Revenues and Expenses

From time to time, we market third-party production for sale in exchange for a fee. We recognize the revenue received
on these oil sales as “Oil marketing revenues” and the expenses incurred to market and transport the oil as “Oil marketing
expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Commoditydd Derivative Contractstt

We routinely enter into oil derivative contracts to provide an economic hedge of our exposure to commodity price risk
associated with anticipated future oil production and to provide more certainty to our future cash flows. These contracts
have historically consisted of price floors, collars, three-way collars, fixed-price swaps,a fixed-price swapsa enhanced with a
sold put, and basis swaps.a
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The folff lowing tables summarize the impact our commodity derivative contracts had on our operating results forff the
periods indicated:

Predecessor Successor

Three Months Ended
Period from
July 1
through

September 18

Period from
September 19
through

September 30

Three
Months
Ended

In thousands March 31 June 30 December 31 Full Year

2020
Receipt on settlements of commodity
derivatives $ 24,638 $ 45,629 $ 11,129 $ 6,660 $ 14,429 $ 102,485
Noncash fair value gains (losses) on
commodity derivatives(1) 122,133 (85,759) (15,738) (2,625) (80,366) (62,355)
Commodity derivatives income
(expense) $ 146,771 $ (40,130) $ (4,609) $ 4,035 $ (65,937) $ 40,130

Predecessor
Three Months Ended

In thousands March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Full Year

2019
Receipt (payment) on settlements of commodity derivatives $ 8,206 $ (1,549) $ 8,057 $ 8,892 $ 23,606
Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity
derivatives(1) (91,583) 26,309 35,098 (63,508) (93,684)
Commodity derivatives income (expense) $ (83,377) $ 24,760 $ 43,155 $ (54,616) $ (70,078)

2018
Payment on settlements of commodity derivatives $ (33,357) $ (54,770) $ (61,611) $ (25,510) $ (175,248)
Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity
derivatives(1) (15,468) (41,429) 17,034 236,198 196,335
Commodity derivatives income (expense) $ (48,825) $ (96,199) $ (44,577) $ 210,688 $ 21,087

(1) Noncash faiff r value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives is a non-GAAP measure. See Financial and Operating
Results Tables above for a discussion of the reconciliation between noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity
derivatives to “Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See also the
Glossary and Selected Abbreviations for the definition of noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives.

In order to provide a level of price protection to a portion of our oil production and to meet certain hedging
requirements under our Successor senior secured bank credit facility, we have hedged a portion of our estimated oil
production in 2021 and 2022 using both NYMEX fixeff d-price swaps and costless collars. See Note 12, Commodity
Derivative ContrCC actstt , to the consolidated finaff ncial statements for additional details of our outstanding commodity
derivative contracts as of December 31, 2020, and Market Riskii ManagementMM below for additional discussion. In addition,
the following tablea summarizes our oil derivative contracts as of February 24, 2021:

Jan. 2021 Feb. 2021 March 2021 2Q 2021 3Q 2021 4Q 2021 1H 2022 2H 2022
WTI NYMEX Volumes Hedged

(Bbls/d) 26,000 27,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 9,500 1,000
Fixed-Price Swaps Swap Price(1) $42.54 $42.96 $43.86 $43.86 $43.86 $43.86 $44.24 $50.13
WTI NYMEX Volumes Hedged

(Bbls/d) 3,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 1,000 1,000
Collars Floor / Ceiling

Price(1)
$45.00 /
$50.95

$46.25 /
$53.04

$46.25 /
$53.04

$46.25 /
$53.04

$46.25 /
$53.04

$46.25 /
$53.04

$47.50 /
$53.00

$47.50 /
$53.00

Total Volumes
Hedged (Bbls/d) 29,000 31,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 33,000 10,500 2,000

(1) Averages are volume weighted.
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Commodity derivative contracts in place for 2021 include fixed-price swapsa and collars. Based on current contracts in
place and NYMEX oil futures prices as of February 24, 2021, which averaged approxia mately $61 per Bbl for the remainder
of 2021, we currently expect that we would make cash payments of approxia mately $185 million during 2021 upon
settlement of these contracts, the amount of which is dependent upon fluctuations in future NYMEX oil prices in relation to
the prices of our 2021 fixed-price swaps which have a weighted average NYMEX oil price of $43.69 per Bbl. See Note
12, Commodity Derivative ContracCC ts, to the consolidated financial statements forff further discussion. Changes in
commodity prices, expiration of contracts, and new commodity contracts entered into cause fluctuations in the estimated
fair value of our oil derivative contracts. Because we do not utilize hedge accounting for our commodity derivative
contracts, the period-to-period changes in the fair value of these contracts, as outlined abovea , are recognized in our
statements of operations.

Production Expenses

Lease Operating Expex nses
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands, excee ept per-BOE dOO atdd a 2019 2018
Total lease operating expenses $ 101,234 $ 250,271 $ 477,220 $ 489,720

Total lease operating expenses per BOE $ 19.90 $ 18.36 $ 22.46 $ 22.24

Total lease operating expenses were $351.5 million, or $18.78 per BOE, for the combined Predecessor and Successor
periods included within the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $477.2 million, or $22.46 per BOE, duringd 2019.
The decreases on an absolute-dollar basis and per-BOE basis were primarily due to lower expenses across all expense
categories, with the largest decreases in labor,a workover expense, and power and fuel costs, as well as insurance
irei bmbursements tot lalinging $$15.4 imilllliion rec d dorded for ipreviously-iously-incurredd w lelll c lontrol costs, lcleanup costs, dand ddam gages
associiatedd wiithh a 2013 iincidident at Delhilhi iFi ldeld. In response to hthe signifisignificant ddecliline iin iloil iprices iin 2020, we iim lplement ded
cost redductiion measures hiwhich ih incl dludedd shhuttinging ddown compressors, gnegotiia iti gng dreduc itions i hwith dvendors dand curt iailili gng
wellll repaiirs dand workkovers as most were uneconomiic at hthe llower oilil ipric le levells ex iperienc ded hthroughoutroughout most of 2020.

Currently, our CO2 expense comprises approximately 20% to 25% of our typical tertiary lease operating expenses, and
consists of (1) CO2 production expenses forff the CO2 reserves we own, and (2) our purchase of CO2 from royalty and
working interest owners and industrial sources for the CO2 reserves we do not own. During the year ended December 31,
2020, approximately 48% of the CO2 utilized in our CO2 floods consisted of CO2 owned and produced by us (our net
revenue interest). The price we pay others for CO2 varies by source and is generally indexed to oil prices. When
combining the production cost of the CO2 we own with what we pay third parties forff CO2, our average cost of CO2 during
2020 was approxia mately $0.38 per Mcf, iff ncluding taxes paid on CO2 production but excluding depletion, depreciation and
amortization of capita al expended at our CO2 source fields and industrial sources. This per-Mcf CO2 cost during 2020 was
higher than the $0.36 per Mcf comparablea measure duringd 2019 due primarily to higher utilization in our Gulf Coast
operations of industrial-sourced CO2, which has a higher average cost than our naturally occurring CO2 source.

Transportation and Marketing Expex nses

Transportation and marketing expenses primarily consist of amounts incurred related to the transportation, marketing,
and processing of oil and naturalt gas production. Transportation and marketing expenses were $37.8 million for the
combined Predecessor and Successor periods included within the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $41.8
million during 2019. The decrease between periods was primarily due to fewer third-party oil purchases and lower
marketing expenses.

Taxes Other than Income

Taxes other than income, which includes production, ad valorem and franchise taxes, were $60.1 million for the
combined Predecessor and Successor periods included within the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $93.8
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million forff 2019. The decrease between periods was primarily due to a decrease in production taxes resulting fromff lower
oil and natural gas revenues and production levels.

General and Administrii ative Expenses (“G&A”)

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands, excee ept per-BOE dOO atdd a and employm ees 2019 2018
Net cash administrative costs $ 11,258 $ 41,096 $ 51,932 $ 59,544
Net stock-based compensation 8,212 4,111 12,470 11,951
Severance-related costs — 3,315 18,627 —
Net G&A expense $ 19,470 $ 48,522 $ 83,029 $ 71,495

G&A per BOE
Net cash administrative costs $ 2.21 $ 3.02 $ 2.44 $ 2.70
Net stock-based compensation 1.62 0.30 0.59 0.55
Severance-related costs — 0.24 0.88 —
Net G&A expense $ 3.83 $ 3.56 $ 3.91 $ 3.25

Employees as of period end 657 662 806 847

Our net G&A expense on an absa olute-dollar basis was $68.0 million for the combined Predecessor and Successor
periods included within the year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease of $15.0 million (18%) from 2019. Excluding
severance-related costs from both years results in net G&A expense being essentially even between 2020 and 2019.
Severance-related expense of $18.6 million during 2019 was associated with our voluntary separation program, the
majoria ty of which was paid out in the firff st quarter of 2020.

On the Emergence Date and pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the Confirmation Order, a framff ework for a
management incentive plan was adopted, which reserves forff officers, other employees, directors and other service
providers a pool of shares of new common stock. The 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan was adopted on December
2, 2020, and initial awards were granted on December 4, 2020. The initial award grants contained both time-based awards
for senior management and directors, vesting over three years, and also contained performance-based awards for senior
management, with vesting based upon achieving certain stock price levels over a consecutive 60-trading day period on a
volume-weighted average price basis. It is currently estimated that fullff vesting of the perforff mance awards will be achieved
in early March 2021, which resulted in $8.1 million of performance-based stock compensation being expensed in the fourth
quarter of 2020 and $16.6 million of performance-based stock compensation expected to be recognized in the first quarter
of 2021.
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Intertt est and Finanii cingii Expenses

Successor Predecessor

In thousands, excee ept per-BOE dOO atadd and interest
rates

Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Cash interest(1) $ 2,277 $ 108,824 $ 191,454 $ 186,632
Less: interest not reflected as expense for financial
reporting purposes(1) — (49,243) (85,454) (86,111)
Noncash interest expense 799 2,439 4,554 6,246
Amortization of debt discount(2) — 9,132 7,749 —
Less: capitalized interest (1,261) (22,885) (36,671) (37,079)
Interest expense, net $ 1,815 $ 48,267 $ 81,632 $ 69,688

Interest expense, net per BOE $ 0.36 $ 3.54 $ 3.84 $ 3.16
Average debt principal outstanding(3) $ 123,120 $ 1,767,605 $ 2,433,245 $ 2,593,035
Average interest rate(4) 6.5 % 8.6 % 7.9 % 7.2 %

(1) Cash interest during the Predecessor periods includes the portion of interest on certain debt instruments accounted forff
as a reductd ion of debt for GAAP financial reporting purposes in accordance with FASC 470-60, Troubled Debt
Restructuring by Debtors. The portion of interest treated as a reductd ion of debt was related to the Predecessor’s 9%
Senior Secured Second Lien Notes due 2021 (the “2021 Notes”) and 9¼% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes due
2022 (the “2022 Notes”) during the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020 and years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, as well as the Predecessor’s previously outstanding 3½% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2024 and 5% Convertible Senior Notes dued 2023 during 2018. Amounts related to the 2021 Notes and 2022
Notes remaining in future interest payablea were written-off tff o “Reorganization items, net” in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations on the Petition Date.

(2) Represents amortization of debt discounts of $3.0 million related to the 7¾% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes due
2024 (the “7¾% Senior Secured Notes”) during the Predecessor period January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020
and $6.1 million related to the 6⅜% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 (the “2024 Convertible Notes”) during the
Predecessor period January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020. Remaining debt discounts were written-off to
“Reorganization items, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations on the Petition Date.

(3) Excludes debt discounts related to our 7¾% Senior Secured Notes and 2024 Convertible Notes.
(4) Includes commitment fees but excludes debt issue costs and amortization of discount.

Cash interest was $111.1 million for the combined Predecessor and Successor periods included within the year ended
December 31, 2020, compared to $191.5 million during 2019. The decrease between periods was primarily due to a
decrease in the average debt principal outstanding, with the Successor period reflecting the full extinguishment of all
outstanding obligations under the senior secured second lien notes, convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes
on the Emergence Date, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, relieving approxia mately $2.1 billion of debt by issuing equity
and/or warrants in the Successor period to the holders of that debt.
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Depleee tion, Depreee ciatii on, and Amortizattt iontt (“DD&ADD ”)

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands, excee ept per-BOE dOO atdd a 2019 2018
Oil and natural gas properties $ 37,188 $ 104,495 $ 159,478 $ 134,486
CO2 properties, pipelines, plants and other property
and equipment 8,624 44,939 74,338 81,963
Accelerated depreciation charge(1) — 39,159 — —
Total DD&A $ 45,812 $ 188,593 $ 233,816 $ 216,449

DD&A per BOE
Oil and natural gas properties $ 7.31 $ 7.66 $ 7.51 $ 6.11
CO2 properties, pipelines, plants and other
property and equipment 1.69 3.30 3.49 3.72
Accelerated depreciation charge(1) — 2.87 — —
Total DD&A per BOE $ 9.00 $ 13.83 $ 11.00 $ 9.83

Write-down of oil and natural gas properties $ 1,006 $ 996,658 $ — $ —

(1) Represents an accelerated depreciation charge related to capita alized amounts associated with unevaluated properties
that were transferred to the full cost pool.

DD&A expense was $234.4 million for the combined Predecessor and Successor periods included within the year
ended December 31, 2020, compared to $233.8 million during 2019, with the slight increase due to a $39.2 million
accelerated depreciation charge during the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020. The
combined Predecessor and Successor period decreases in oil and naturalt gas properties depletion and CO2 properties,
pipelines, plants and other property and equipment DD&A was primarily due to lower depletable costs due to the step
down in book value resulting from fresh start accounting. Our oil and naturalt gas properties depletion rate was $7.37 per
BOE duringd the fourtff h quarter of 2020.

Full CostCC Pool Ceiling Test

Under full cost accounting rules, we are required each quarter (as well as at the end of the Predecessor period) to
perform a ceiling test calculation. Under these rules, the full cost ceiling value is calculated using the average first-day-of-
the-month oil and naturalt gas price forff each month duringd a 12-month rolling period prior to the end of a particular
reporting period. The first-day-of-the-month oil prices for the preceding 12 months, after adjustments for market
differentials and transportation expenses by field, averaged $35.84 per Bbl as of December 31, 2020, $40.08 per Bbl as of
September 18, 2020, $44.74 per Bbl as of June 30, 2020 and $55.17 per Bbl as of March 31, 2020. While representative
oil prices at March 31, 2020 were roughly consistent with adjusted prices used to calculate the December 31, 2019 full cost
ceiling value, the decline in NYMEX oil prices in late March 2020 due to OPEC supply pressures and a reduction in
worldwide oil demand amid the COVID-19 pandemic contributed to the transfer of $244.9 million of our unevaluated costs
to the full cost amortization base during the three months ended March 31, 2020. Primarily as a result of adding these
additional costs to the amortization base, we recognized a fullff cost pool ceiling test write-down of $72.5 million during the
three months ended March 31, 2020. In addition, as a result of the precipitous decline in NYMEX oil prices, we
recognized additional full cost pool ceiling test write-downs of $662.4 million during the three months ended June 30,
2020, $261.7 million during the period from July 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, and an additional $1.0 million
during the Successor period from September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020.

Based upon fresh start accounting, oil and gas properties were recorded at fair value as of September 18, 2020. See
Note 2, Fresh StartS Accounting, to the consolidated finaff ncial statements forff further discussion.
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Impairment Assessment of Long-lived Assetstt

We test long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
value may not be recoverablea . These long-lived assets, which are not subject to our full cost pool ceiling test, are
principally comprised of our capita alized CO2 properties and pipelines, and for the Successor period also included long-term
contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers. Given the significant declines in NYMEX oil prices to approximately $20 per
Bbl in late March 2020 due to OPEC supply pressures and a reduction in worldwide oil demand amid the COVID-19
pandemic, we performedff a long-lived asset impairment test for our two long-lived asset groups (Gulf Coast region and
Rocky Mountain region) as of March 31, 2020 (Predecessor).

We performff our long-lived asset impairment test by comparing the net carrying costs of our two long-lived asset
groups to the respective expected future undiscounted net cash flows that are supported by these long-lived assets which
include production of our probable and possible oil and naturalt gas reserves. The portion of our capita alized CO2 costs
related to CO2 reserves and CO2 pipelines that we estimate will be consumed in the process of producing our proved oil
and naturalt gas reserves is included in the full cost pool ceiling test as a reduction to future net revenues. The remaining
net capia talized costs that are not included in the full cost pool ceiling test, and related intangible assets, are subject to long-
lived asset impairment testing. These costs totaled approximately $1.3 billion as of March 31, 2020 (Predecessor). If the
undiscounted net cash flows are below the net carrying costs for an asset group, we must record an impairment loss by the
amount, if any, that net carryingrr costs exceed the fair value of the long-lived asset group. The undiscounted net cash flows
for our asset groups exceeded the net carrying costs; thus, step two of the impairment test was not required and no
impairment was recorded.

Significant assumptim ons impacting expected future undiscounted net cash flows include projections of future oil and
naturalt gas prices, projections of estimated quantities of oil and naturalt gas reserves, projections of future rates of
production, timing and amount of future development and operating costs, projected availability and cost of CO2, projected
recovery factors of tertiary reserves and risk-adjustment factors applied to the cash flows. We performed a qualitative
assessment as of June 30, 2020 and September 18, 2020 (Predecessor periods) and determined there were no material
changes to our key cash flow assumptim ons and no triggering events since the analysis performedff as of March 31, 2020;
therefore, no impairment test was performed for the second quarter of 2020 or for the period ending September 18, 2020.
Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company adopted fresh start accounting which resulted in our long-lived assets
being recorded at their fair value at the Emergence Date (see Note 2, Fresh Start Accounting, to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information). We performed a qualitative assessment as of December 31, 2020 (Successor
period) and determined there were no material changes to our key cash flow assumptim ons and no triggering events since the
Company’s assets were revalued in fresh start accounting as of September 18, 2020; therefore, no impairment test was
performed for the fourth quarter of 2020.

Reorganizatr iontt Itemtt s, Net

Reorganization items represent (i) expenses incurred during the Chapter 11 Restructuring subsequent to the Petition
Date as a direct result of the Plan, (ii) gains or losses from liabilities settled, and (iii) fresh start accounting adjustments and
are recorded in “Reorganization items, net” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Professional service provider
charges associated with our restructuring that were incurred before the Petition Date and after the Emergence Date are
recorded in “Other expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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The folff lowing table summarizes the losses (gains) on reorganization items, net:
Predecessor
Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020In thousands
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise $ (1,024,864)
Fresh start accounting adjustd ments 1,834,423
Professional service provider fees and other expenses 11,267
Success fees forff professional service providers 9,700
Loss on rejected contracts and leases 10,989
Valuation adjustments to debt classified as subject to compromise 757
DIP credit agreement fees 3,107
Acceleration of Predecessor stock compensation expense 4,601
Total reorganization items, net $ 849,980

Othett r ExpensEE es

Other expenses totaled $43.9 million for the combined Predecessor and Successor periods included within the year
ended December 31, 2020. Other expenses during 2020 primarily are comprised of $28.2 million of professional fees
associated with restructuring activities, $5.1 million for the write-off of certain trade receivables, $4.3 million of costs
associated with the Delta-Tinsley CO2 pipeline repair, and $0.9 million of costs associated with the APMTG Helium, LLC
helium supply contract rulirr ng (see Note 14, Commitments att nd Contingencies – Litigation, to the consolidated finaff ncial
statements). The 2019 amounts are primarily comprised of $1.9 million of impairment expense, $1.8 million of costs
associated with the Riley Ridge helium supply contract rulir ng, and $1.6 million of transaction costs associated with the
Predecessor’s privately negotiated debt exchanges.

Income Taxes

Successor Predecessor

In thousands, excee ept per-BOE aOO mounts and tax
rates

Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Current income tax expense (benefit) $ 30 $ (7,260) $ 3,881 $ (16,001)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (2,556) (408,869) 100,471 103,234
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (2,526) $ (416,129) $ 104,352 $ 87,233

Average income tax expense (benefit) per BOE $ (0.49) $ (30.52) $ 4.91 $ 3.96
Effective tax rate 4.7 % 22.5 % 32.5 % 21.3 %
Total net deferred tax liabila ity $ 1,274 $ 410,230 $ 309,758

Our income tax provisions for the Predecessor were based on an estimated statutory rate of approximately 25% for
2020, 2019 and 2018. As provided forff under FASC 740-270-35-2, we determined the actual effective tax rate for the
Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020 was the best estimate of our annual effective tax
rate. Our effective tax rate for the 2020 Predecessor period was lower than our estimated statutoryt rate, primarily due to
the establishment of a valuation allowance on our federal and state deferred tax assets after the application of fresh start
accounting. Our income tax provision for the Successor period was also based on the same estimated statutory rate of
approximately 25% but is expected to be near zero, as any tax expense or benefit associated with pre-tax book income or
loss will be offset with a change in valuation allowance on our federal and state deferred tax assets. The Successor’s
effective tax rate of 4.7% was primarily due to adjustmd ents related to our Texas net deferred tax liabilities.

We have evaluated the impact of the Plan, including the change in control, resulting from our emergence from
bankruptcy. The cancellation of debt income (“CODI”) realized uponu emergence is excludablea from income and resulted
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in the elimination of all available federal net operating loss carryrr forwards and tax credit carryrr forwards,ff as well as a partial
reduction in tax basis in assets, in accordance with the attribute reduction and ordering rules of Section 108 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”). The reduction in the Company’s tax attributes for excludablea CODI did not occur
until the last day of the Company’s tax year, December 31, 2020. Accordingly, the tax adjustments recorded in the
Predecessor period represented our best estimate using all available information at September 30, 2020. The final tax
impacts of the bankruptcy emergence, as well as the Plan’s overall effect on the Company’s tax attributes which were
refined based on the Company’s final financial position at December 31, 2020 as required under the Code, resulted in the
Company fully reducing its federal net operating loss carryforwards, enhanced oil recovery credits, and research and
development tax credits, and reducing a portion of its tax basis in assets.

As the tax basis of our assets, primarily our oil and gas properties, is in excess of the carryingrr value, as adjusted in
fresh start accounting, the Successor is in a net deferred tax asset position at December 31, 2020. We evaluated our
deferred tax assets in light of all available evidence as of the balance sheet date, including the tax impacts of the Chapter 11
Restrucr turing and the full reduction of net operating losses and tax credits and partial reduction of tax basis in assets
(collectively “tax attributes”). Given our cumulative loss position and the continued low oil price environment, we
recorded a total valuation allowance of $129.4 million on our underlying deferred tax assets, consisting of $54.3 million on
our federal deferred tax assets and $75.1 million on our state deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020. Valuation
allowances totaling $60.8 million, $10.2 million, and $4.1 million were recorded for our Louisiana, Mississippi, and other
state deferred tax assets, respectively. A $1.3 million state deferred tax liability is recorded on the Successor balance sheet.
For the Successor period, the income tax benefit associated with the Successor’s pre-tax book loss was substantially offset
by a change in valuation allowance.

The current income tax benefit for the Predecessor period ended September 18, 2020 represents amounts estimated to
be receivablea resulting from alternative minimum tax credits and certain state tax obligations.

Our effective tax rate for 2019 was higher than our estimated statutoryt rate primarily due to the establishment of a
valuation allowance against a portion of our business interest expense deduction that we estimate will be disallowed. Our
2018 effective tax rate was lower than our estimated statutoryt rate primarily due to tax benefits resulting from enhanced oil
recovery income tax credits.

We have $0.6 million of alternative minimum tax credits, which under the Tax Cut and Jobs Act will be refunded in
2021 and are recorded as a receivable on the balance sheet. Our state net operating loss carryforwards expire in various
years, starting in 2025. The statutet s of limitation for our income tax returns for tax years ending prior to 2017 have lapsa ed
and therefore are not subject to examination by respective taxing authorities.
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Per-Brr OE Data

The folff lowing table summarizes our cash flow and results of operations on a per-BOE basis for the comparative
periods. Each of the individual components is discussed abovea .

Year Ended December 31,
Per-BOE data 2020 2019 2018
Oil and naturalt gas revenues $ 37.03 $ 57.04 $ 64.59
Receipt (payment) on settlements of commodity derivatives 5.47 1.11 (7.96)
Lease operating expenses (18.78) (22.46) (22.24)
Production and ad valorem taxes (2.87) (4.09) (4.39)
Transportation and marketing expenses (2.02) (1.97) (2.00)
Production netbact k 18.83 29.63 28.00

CO2 sales, net of operating and discovery expenses 1.39 1.47 1.28
General and administrative expenses(1) (3.63) (3.91) (3.25)
Interest expense, net (2.68) (3.84) (3.16)
Reorganization items settled in cash (2.08) — —
Other (0.38) 0.43 (2.01)
Changes in assets and liabilities relating to operations (3.24) (0.52) 3.19
Cash flows fromff operations 8.21 23.26 24.05

DD&A – excluding accelerated depreciation charge (10.43) (11.00) (9.83)
DD&A – accelerated depreciation charge(2) (2.09) — —
Write-down of oil and natural gas properties (53.29) — —
Deferred income taxes 21.98 (4.73) (4.69)
Gain on extinguishment of debt 1.01 7.34 —
Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives(3) (3.33) (4.41) 8.92
Noncash reorganization items, net (43.32) — —
Other noncash items 2.03 (0.25) (3.80)
Net income (loss) $ (79.23) $ 10.21 $ 14.65

(1) General and administrative expenses includes an accrual forff severance-related costs of $18.6 million associated with
our voluntary separation program for the year ended December 31, 2019, which if excluded, would have averaged
$3.03 per BOE.

(2) Represents an accelerated depreciation charge related to impaired unevaluated properties that were transferred to the
full cost pool.

(3) Noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives is a non-GAAP measure. See Financial and Operating
Results Tables above for a discussion of the reconciliation between noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity
derivatives to “Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See also the
Glossary and Selected Abbreviations for the definition of noncash fair value gains (losses) on commodity derivatives.
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MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Debt and Interest Rate Sensitivitytt

At December 31, 2020, we had $70.0 million of outstanding borrowing under our Bank Credit Agreement. At this
level of variable-rate debt, an increase or decrease of 10% in interest rates would have an immaterial effect on our interest
expense. Our Bank Credit Agreement does not have any triggers or covenants regarding our debt ratings with rating
agencies. The following tablea presents the principal and fair values of our outstanding debt as of December 31, 2020:

In thousands 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
Fair
Value

Variable rate debt
Senior Secured Bank Credit Facility (weighted average
interest rate of 4.0% at December 31, 2020 $ — $ — $ — $ 70,000 $ 70,000 $ 70,000

Commodity Dtt erivative Contract ts

We enter into oil derivative contracts to provide an economic hedge of our exposure to commodity price risk
associated with anticipated futureff oil production and to provide more certainty to our future cash flows. We do not hold or
issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Generally, these contracts have consisted of various
combinations of price floors,ff collars, three-way collars, fixed-price swaps,a fixed-price swapsa enhanced with a sold put, and
basis swaps.a The production that we hedge has varied from year to year depending on our levels of debt, finaff ncial strength,
and expectation of future commodity prices. Depending on market conditions, we may continue to add to our existing
2021 and 2022 hedges. See also Note 12, Commodity Dtt erivative Contracts, and Note 13, FaiFF r ValVV ue Measurements,tt to the
consolidated finaff ncial statements for additional information regarding our commodity derivative contracts. Under the
terms of our Successor senior secured bank credit facility, by December 31, 2020, we were required to have hedges in
place covering a minimum of 65% of our anticipated crude oil production for the first twelve calendar months between
August 1, 2020 through July 31, 2021 and 35% of our anticipated crude oil production for the second twelve month period
between August 1, 2021 through July 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with the hedging
requirements of our Successor Bank Credit Agreement.

All of the mark-to-market valuations used forff our commodity derivatives are provided by external sources. We
manage and control market and counterparty credit risk through establia shed internal control procedures that are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. We attempt to minimize credit risk exposure to counterparties through formal credit policies,
monitoring procedures and diversification. All of our commodity derivative contracts are with parties that are lenders
under our senior secured bank credit facility (or affiliates of such lenders). We have included an estimate of
nonperformance risk in the fair value measurement of our commodity derivative contracts, which we have measured for
nonperformance risk based uponu credit default swapsa or credit spreads.

For accounting purposes, we do not apply hedge accounting to our commodity derivative contracts. This means that
any changes in the fair value of these commodity derivative contracts will be charged to earnings instead of charging the
effective portion to other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion to earnings.

At December 31, 2020, our commodity derivative contracts were recorded at their faiff r value, which was a net liability
of $58.8 million, a $62.4 million decrease from the $3.6 million net asset recorded at December 31, 2019. This change is
primarily related to the expiration of commodity derivative contracts duringd 2020, new commodity derivative contracts
entered into duringd 2020 for futuret periods, and changes in oil futures prices between December 31, 2019 and 2020.

Denbury Inc.
Management’s Discussiii on and Analysis of Financii ial Conditiii on and Results ott f Oo peOO rations

62



Commodity Dtt erivative Sensitivity Att nalysisyy

Based on NYMEX oil futures prices as of December 31, 2020, and assuming both a 10% increase and decrease
thereon, we would expect to make payments on our cruder oil derivative contracts as shown in the following tablea :
In thousands Receipt / (Payment)

Based on:
Futures prices as of December 31, 2020 $ (59,242)
10% increase in prices (114,559)
10% decrease in prices (4,499)

Our commodity derivative contracts are used as an economic hedge of our exposure to commodity price risk
associated with anticipated futureff production. As a result, changes in receipts or payments of our commodity derivative
contracts due to changes in commodity prices, as reflected in the above tablea , would be mostly offset by a corresponding
increase or decrease in the cash receipts on sales of our oil production to which those commodity derivative contracts
relate.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires that we
select certain accounting policies and make certain estimates and judgments regarding the application of those
policies. Our significant accounting policies are included in Note 1, Nature of Oo peratO ions and Summary of Signifii cant
Accounting Policies, to the consolidated finaff ncial statements. These policies, along with the underlying assumptim ons and
judgments by our management in their application, have a significant impact on our consolidated financial
statements. Following is a discussion of our most critical accounting estimates, judgments and uncertainties that are
inherent in the preparation of our financial statements.

Fresh StartS Accounting

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we met the criteria and were required to adopt fresh start accounting in accordance
with FASC Topic 852, Reorganizations, which on the Emergence Date resulted in a new entity, the Successor, for financial
reporting purposes, with no beginning retained earnings or deficit as of the fresh start reporting date. Fresh start accounting
requires that new fair values be establia shed for the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity as of the date of emergence
from bankruptcy, September 18, 2020. The Emergence Date fairff values of the Successor’s assets and liabilities differff
materially frff om their recorded values as reflected on the historical balance sheet of the Predecessor and required a number
of estimates and judgments to be made. All estimates, assumptions, valuations and financial projections, including the fair
value adjustments, financial projections, enterprise value and equity value, are inherently subject to significant
uncertainties and the resolution of contingencies beyond our control. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the estimates,
assumptim ons, valuations or financial projections will be realized, and actual results could vary materially. Among the most
material of these judgments and estimates that were made were the following:

• Reorganization Value – The reorganization value derived from the range of enterprise values associated with the Plan
was allocated to the Company’s identifiablea tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based on their fair values.
The value of the reconstitutet d entity (i.e., Successor) was based on management projections and the valuation models
as determined by the Company’s financial advisors in setting an estimated range of enterprise values. With the
assistance of third-party valuation advisors, we determined the enterprise and corresponding equity value of the
Successor using various valuation approaches and methods, including: (i) income approach using a calculation of the
present value of future cash floff ws based on our financial projections, (ii) the market approach using selling prices of
similar assets and (iii) the cost approach.

• Oil and Natural Gas Properties – The fair value of our oil and naturalt gas properties was determined based on the
discounted cash flows expected to be generated from these assets. The computations were based on market conditions
and reserves in place as of the Emergence Date.
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The fair value analysis was based on the Company’s estimated future production rates of proved and probable reserves
as prepared by the Company’s independent petroleum engineers. Discounted cash flow models were prepared using
the estimated future revenues and operating costs for all developed wells and undeveloped properties comprising the
proved and probable reserves. Future revenue estimates were based upon estimated future production rates and
forward strip oil and naturalt gas prices as of the Emergence Date through 2024 and escalated for inflation thereafter,
adjusted for differentials. Operating costs were adjusted for estimated inflation beginning in year 2025. A risk
adjud stment factor was applied to each reserve category, consistent with the risk of the category. The discounted cash
flow models also included adjustmd ents for income tax expenses.

Discount factors utilized were derived using a weighted average cost of capita al computation, which included an
estimated cost of debt and equity for market participants with similar geographies and asset development type and
varying corporate income tax rates based on the expected point of sale for each property’s produced assets. Reserve
values were also adjusted for any asset retirement obligations as well as for CO2 indirect costs not directly allocable to
oil fields.

• CO2 Properties – The fair value of CO2 properties includes the value of CO2 mineral rights and associated
infrastructuret and was determined using the discounted cash flow method under the income approach. After-tax cash
flows were forecast based on expected costs to produce and transport CO2 as provided by management, and income
was imputed using a gross-up of costs based on a five-year average historical EBITDA margin for publicly traded
companies that primarily develop or produce natural gas. Cash flows were also adjusted for a market participant profit
on CO2 costs, since Denbury charges oil fields for CO2 use on a cost basis. Cash flows were then discounted using a
rate considering reduced risk associated with CO2 industrial sales.

• Pipelines – The fair values of our pipelines were determined using a combination of the replacement cost method
under the cost approach and the discounted cash flow method under the income approach. The replacement cost
method considers historical acquisition costs for the assets adjusted for inflation, as well as factors in any potential
obsolescence based on the current condition of the assets and the ability of those assets to generate cash flow. For
assets valued using the discounted cash flow method, after-tax cash flows were forecast based on expected costs
provided by management, and profits were imputed using a gross-up of costs based on a five-year average historical
EBITDA margin for publicly traded companies that primarily transport natural gas.

Full Cost Methodtt of Accounting, Depletion and Depreciation and Oil and Natural Gas Properties

Businesses involved in the production of oil and naturalt gas are required to follow accounting rules that are unique to
the oil and gas industry. We applya the full cost method of accounting for our oil and naturalt gas properties. Another
acceptablea method of accounting for oil and naturalt gas production activities is the successful efforts method of
accounting. In general, the primary differences between the two methods are related to the capia talization of costs and the
evaluation for asset impairment. Under the full cost method, all geological and geophysical costs, exploratory dry holes
and delay rentals are capia talized to the full cost pool, whereas under the successful efforts method such costs are expensed
as incurred. In the assessment of impairment of oil and naturalt gas properties, the successful efforts method follows the
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets topic of the FASC, under which the net book value of
assets is measured for impairment against the undiscounted future cash flows using commodity prices consistent with
management expectations. Under the full cost method, the full cost pool (net book value of oil and naturalt gas properties)
is measured against future cash flows discounted at 10% using the average first-day-of-the-month oil and natural gas price
for each month during a 12-month rolling period through the end of each quarterly reporting period. The financial results
for a given period could be substantially different depending on the method of accounting that an oil and gas entity
applies. Further, we do not designate our oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts as hedging instruments for accounting
purposes under the Derivatives and Hedging topic of the FASC (see below), and as a result, these contracts are not
considered in the full cost ceiling test.

We make significant estimates at the end of each period related to accruals for oil and naturalt gas revenues,
production, capita alized costs and operating expenses. We calculate these estimates with our best available data, which
includes, among other things, production reports, price posting, information compiled from daily drilling reports and other
internal tracking devices, and analysis of historical results and trends. While management is not aware of any required
revisions to its estimates, there will likely be futureff adjustments resulting from such things as revisions in estimated oil and
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naturalt gas volumes, changes in ownership interests, payouts, joint venturet audits, re-allocations by the purchasers or
pipelines, or other corrections and adjustments common in the oil and gas industry, many of which will require retroactive
application. These types of adjustments cannot be currently estimated or determined and will be recorded in the period
during which the adjustment occurs.

Under full cost accounting, the estimated quantities of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves used to compute depletion
and the related present value of estimated future net cash flows therefrom used to perform the full cost ceiling test have a
significant impact on the underlying financial statements. The process of estimating oil and naturalt gas reserves is very
complex, requiring significant decisions in the evaluation of all available geological, geophysical, engineering and
economic data. The data for a given field may also change substantially over time as a result of numerous factors,
including additional development activity, evolving production history and continued reassessment of the viabia lity of
production under varying economic conditions. As a result, material revisions to existing reserve estimates may occur
fromff time to time. Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure the reported reserve estimates represent the most
accurate assessments possible, including the hiring of independent engineers to prepare reported estimates, the subjective
decisions and variances in available data for various fields make these estimates generally less precise than other estimates
included in our financial statement disclosures. Over the last three years, annual revisions to our reserve estimates,
excluding any revisions related to changes in commodity prices, have averaged approximately 2.2% of the previous year’s
estimates and have been both positive and negative.

Changes in commodity prices also affecff t our reserve quantities. These changes in quantities affect our DD&A rate,
and the combined effect of changes in quantities and commodity prices impacts our full cost ceiling test calculation. For
example, we estimate that a 5% increase in our estimate of proved reserve quantities would have lowered our fourth quarter
2020 oil and naturalt gas property DD&A rate from $7.37 per BOE to approximately $7.05 per BOE, and a 5% decrease in
our proved reserve quantities would have increased our DD&A rate to approximately $7.72 per BOE. Also, reserve
quantities and their ultimate values, determined solely by our lenders, are the primary factors in determining the maximum
borrowing base under our senior secured bank credit facility, particularly quantities and values of our proved developed
producing reserves.

Under full cost accounting rules, we are required each quarter (as well as at the end of the Predecessor period) to
perform a ceiling test calculation. The net capia talized costs of oil and naturalt gas properties are limited to the lower of
unamortized cost or the cost center ceiling. The cost center ceiling is defined as (1) the present value of estimated future
net revenues from proved oil and naturalt gas reserves before future abandonment costs (discounted at 10%), based on the
average first-day-of-the-month oil and naturalt gas price for each month during a 12-month rolling period prior to the end of
a particular reporting period; plus (2) the cost of properties not being amortized; plus (3) the lower of cost or estimated fair
value of unproved properties included in the costs being amortized, if any; less (4) related income tax effects. Our future
net revenues from proved oil and naturalt gas reserves are not reduced for development costs related to the cost of drilling
for and developing CO2 reserves nor those related to the cost of constructing CO2 pipelines, as we do not have to incur
additional costs to develop the proved oil and naturalt gas reserves. Therefore, we include in the ceiling test, as a reduction
of future net revenues, that portion of our capita alized CO2 costs related to CO2 reserves and CO2 pipelines that we estimate
will be consumed in the process of producing our proved oil and naturalt gas reserves. The fair value of our oil and naturalt
gas derivative contracts is not included in the ceiling test, as we do not designate these contracts as hedging instruments for
accounting purposes. The cost center ceiling test is prepared quarterly.

The average first-day-of-the-month NYMEX oil price used in estimating our proved reserves, after adjustments for
market differentiff als and transportation expenses by field, was $55.55 at December 31, 2019, $40.08 at September 18, 2020
and $35.84 at December 31, 2020. Primarily as a result of these commodity price declines, the Predecessor recognized full
cost pool ceiling test write-downs of $996.7 million during the period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020
and an additional full cost pool ceiling test write-down of $1.0 million was recognized during the Successor period from
September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020. We did not record any ceiling test write-downs during the Predecessor
periods of 2018 or 2019.

We exclude certain unevaluated costs from the amortization base and full cost ceiling test pending the determination of
whether proved reserves can be assigned to such properties. The costs classified as unevaluated are transferred to the full
cost amortization base as the properties are developed, tested and evaluated. At least annually, we test these assets for
impairment based on an evaluation of management’s expectations of future pricing, evaluation of lease expiration terms,
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and planned project development activities. Given the significant declines in NYMEX oil prices in March and April 2020
due to the oil supplyu and demand imbalance precipitated by the dramatic fall in demand associated with the COVID-19
pandemic combined with the concurrent OPEC+ decision to increase oil supply, we reassessed our development plans and
transferred $244.9 million of our unevaluated costs to the full cost pool during the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020
through September 18, 2020.

Tertiary Injection Costs

Our tertiary operations are conducted in reservoirs that have already produced significant amounts of oil over many
years; however, in accordance with the rules for recording proved reserves, we cannot recognize proved reserves associated
with enhanced recovery techniques, such as CO2 injection, until we can demonstrate production resulting from the tertiaryrr
process or unless the field is analogous to an existing flood. Our costs associated with the CO2 we produce (or acquire) and
inject are principally our cash out-of-pocket costs of production, transportation and acquisition, and to pay royalties.

We capia talize, as a development cost, injection costs in fields that are in their development stage, which means we
have not yet seen incremental oil production due to the CO2 injections (i.e., a production response). These capita alized
development costs will be included in our unevaluated property costs until we are able to recognize proved oil reserves
associated with the development project. After we see a production response to the CO2 injections (i.e., the production
stage), injection costs will be expensed as incurred, and any previously deferred unevaluated development costs will
become subject to depletion. We capia talized $2.3 million of tertiary injection costs associated with our tertiary projects
during the Successor period from September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020 and $16.2 million during the
Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, and we capita alized an additional $19.1 million and
$24.5 million during 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Income Taxeaa s

We make certain estimates and judgments in determining our income tax expense for financial reporting
purposes. These estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities that arise from
differences in the timing and recognition of revenue and expense for tax and financial reporting purposes. Our federal and
state income tax returns are generally not prepared or filed before the consolidated financial statements are prepared;
therefore, we estimate the tax basis of our assets and liabilities at the end of each period as well as the effeff cts of tax rate
changes, tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards. Adjustments related to these estimates are recorded in our tax
provision in the period in which we finalize our income tax returns. Further, we must assess the likelihood that we will be
able to recover or utilize our deferred tax assets. If recovery is not likely, we must record a valuation allowance against
such deferred tax assets for the amount we would not expect to recover, which would result in an increase to our income
tax expense. As of December 31, 2020, we had tax valuation allowances totaling $129.4 million to reduce the carryingrr
value of deferred tax assets related to our federal and state deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2019, we had tax
valuation allowances totaling $77.2 million to reduce the carryingrr value of deferred tax assets related to our disallowed
business interest expense and state deferred income tax assets, and as of December 31, 2018, valuation allowances totaling
$51.1 million to reduce the carryingrr value of our state deferred income tax assets. The valuation allowances will remain
until the realization of future deferred tax benefits are more likely than not to become utilized. A 1% increase in our
statutoryt tax rate would have increased our calculated income tax expense (benefit) by approximately ($0.5 million) during
the Successor period from September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020, although any change would be offset by a
corresponding change in our valuation allowance, ($18.5 million) during the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020
through September 18, 2020, and $3.2 million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. See Note 9, Income Taxes, to the consolidated financial statements and Results of OperO ations – Income Taxes
above for further information concerning our income taxes.

Fair Value Estimates

The FASC defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair
value measurements. It does not require us to make any new fair value measurements, but rather establia shes a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Level 1 inputs are given the
highest priority in the fair value hierarchy, as they represent observablea inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in active markets as of the reporting date, while Level 3 inputs are given the lowest priority, as
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they represent unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. Valuation techniques that maximize the use of
observable inputs are favored. See Note 13, Fair Value Measurements, to the consolidated financial statements for
disclosures regarding our recurring fair value measurements.

Significant uses of fair value measurements include:

• valuation of the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity upon application of fresh start accounting (see Fresh Start
Accounting above);

• assessment of impairment of long-lived assets; and
• recorded value of commodity derivative instruments.

Impairment Assessment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived assets that are not subject to our quarterly full cost pool ceiling test for impairment, including a
portion of our capita alized CO2 properties and pipelines, and long-term contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverablea . The factors we
assess to determine if a long-lived asset impairment test is necessary include, among other factors, a significant adverse
change in the business climate that could affect the value of a long-lived asset, a significant decrease in the market price of
an asset group, a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset (asset group) is being used
or in its physical condition, or a current-period operating or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash
flow losses or a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset
(asset group).

We performff our long-lived asset impairment test by comparing the net carrying costs of our long-lived asset groups to
the respective expected future undiscounted net cash flows that are supported by these long-lived assets which include
production of our probable and possible oil and naturalt gas reserves. If the undiscounted net cash flows are below the net
carrying costs for an asset group, we must record an impairment loss by the amount, if any, that net carryingrr costs exceed
the fair value of the long-lived asset group. Significant assumptim ons impacting expected future undiscounted net cash
flows include projections of future oil and naturalt gas prices, projections of estimated quantities of oil and naturalt gas
reserves, projections of future rates of production, timing and amount of future development and operating costs, projected
availability and cost of CO2, projected recovery factors of tertiary reserves and risk-adjustment factors applied to the cash
flows. Given the significant declines in NYMEX oil prices to approximately $20 per Bbl in late March 2020 due to OPEC
supply pressures and a reduction in worldwide oil demand amid the COVID-19 pandemic, we perforff med a long-lived asset
impairment test for our two long-lived asset groups (Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain region) as of March 31, 2020
(Predecessor). We performed a qualitative assessment as of June 30, 2020 and September 18, 2020 (Predecessor periods)
and determined there were no material changes to our key cash flow assumptim ons and no triggering events since the
analysis performedff as of March 31, 2020; therefore, no impairment test was performed for the second quarter of 2020 or
for the period ending September 18, 2020. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company adopted fresh start accounting
which resulted in our long-lived assets being recorded at their fair value at the Emergence Date (see Note 2, Fresh Start
Accounting, for additional information). We performed a qualitative assessment as of December 31, 2020 (Successor
period) and determined there were no material changes to our key cash flow assumptim ons and no triggering events since the
Company’s assets were revalued in fresh start accounting as of September 18, 2020; therefore, no impairment test was
performed for the fourth quarter of 2020.

Commodity Derivative Contractstt

Historically, we have entered into oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts to provide an economic hedge of our
exposure to commodity price risk associated with anticipated future oil and naturalt gas production and to provide more
certainty to our future cash flows. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Generally, these contracts have consisted of various combinations of price floors, collars, three-way collars, fixed-price
swaps,a fixed-price swapsa enhanced with a sold put, and basis swaps. Our derivative financial instrumer nts are recorded on
the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. The valuation methods used to measure the fair
values of these assets and liabilities require considerablea management judgment and estimates to derive the inputs
necessary to determine fair value estimates, such as forward prices for commodities, interest rates, volatility factors and
credit worthiness, as well as other relevant economic measures. We do not apply hedge accounting to our commodity
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derivative contracts under the FASC Derivatives and Hedging topic; accordingly, changes in the fair value of these
instruments are recognized in earnings instead of charging the effective portion to other comprehensive income and the
ineffective portion to earnings. While we may experience more volatility in our net income (loss) than if we were to applya
hedge accounting treatment as permitted by the FASC Derivatives and Hedging topic, we believe that for us, the benefits
associated with applying hedge accounting do not outweigh the cost, time and effort to comply with hedge accounting. We
estimate that a 10% increase in NYMEX oil futures prices as of December 31, 2020 would increase our estimated
payments on our crude oil derivative contracts by $55 million, and a 10% decrease in NYMEX oil futures prices would
reduce our estimated payments by $55 million.

Use of Estimates

See Note 1, Nature of Oo peratO ions and Summary of Signifii cant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated finaff ncial
statements forff a discussion of our use of estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1, Nature of Oo peratO ions and Summary of Signifii cant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated finaff ncial
statements forff a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE AND RECONCILIATION

Reconciliation of Standardized Measure to PV-10 Value

PV-10 Value is a non-GAAP measure and is differentff from the Standardized Measure in that PV-10 Value is a pre-tax
number and the Standardized Measure is an after-tax number. The information used to calculate PV-10 Value is derived
directly from data determined in accordance with FASC Topic 932. We believe that PV-10 Value is a useful supplemental
disclosure to the Standardized Measure because the Standardized Measure can be impacted by a company’s unique tax
situatt ion, and it is not practical to calculate the Standardized Measure on a property-by-property basis. Because of this,
PV-10 Value is a widely used measure within the industry and is commonly used by securities analysts, banks and credit
rating agencies to evaluate the estimated futureff net cash flows from proved reserves on a comparative basis across
companies or specific properties. PV-10 Value is commonly used by us and others in our industry to evaluate properties
that are bought and sold, to assess the potential returnt on investment in our oil and naturalt gas properties, and to perform
our impairment testing of oil and naturalt gas properties. PV-10 Value is not a measure of financial or operating
performance under GAAP, nor should it be considered in isolation or as a substitutet for the Standardized Measure. Our
PV-10 Value and the Standardized Measure do not purport to represent the fair value of our oil and naturalt gas reserves.
See also Glossary and Selected Abbreviations for the definition of “PV-10 Value” and Supplemental Oil and Natural Gas
Disclosures (Unaudite(( d) to the consolidated finaff ncial statements for additional disclosures about the Standardized
Measure.

The following tablea provides a reconciliation of the Standardized Measure to PV-10 Value for the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2020 2019 2018
Standardized Measure (GAAP measure) $ 654,734 $ 2,261,039 $ 3,351,385
Discounted estimated futureff income tax 48,346 354,629 673,754
PV-10 Value (non-GAAP measure) $ 703,080 $ 2,615,668 $ 4,025,139

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

The data and/or statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts, including, but
not limited to, statements found in the sections entitled “Business and Properties” and “Management’s Discii ussion and
Analysll is of Financial Condition and Results ott f Oo perO ations,” are forward-looking statements, as that term is defined in
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), that involve a number of risks and
uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements may be or may concern, among other things, our ability to capita alize on
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emerging from bankruptcy and our ability to succeed on a long-term basis, the extent and length of the drop in worldwide
oil demand due to the COVID-19 coronavirus, financial forecasts, future hydrocarbon prices and their volatility, current or
future liquidity sources or their adequacy to support our anticipated future activities, possible future write-downs of oil and
naturalt gas reserves, together with assumptim ons based on current and projected production levels, oil and gas prices and
oilfield costs, current or future expectations or estimations of our cash flows or the impact of changes in commodity prices
on cash flows, availability of capita al, borrowing capaca ity, price and availability of advantageous commodity derivative
contracts or the predicted cash flow benefits therefrom, forecasted capita al expenditures, drilling activity or methods,
including the timing and location thereof, the nature of any futuret asset purchases or sales or the timing or proceeds thereof,
estimated timing of commencement of CO2 flooding of particular fields or areas, including Cedar Creek Anticline
(“CCA”), or the availabila ity of capita al for CCA pipeline construction, or its ultimate cost or date of completion, timing of
CO2 injecn tions and initial production responses in tertiary flooding projects, development activities, finding costs,
anticipated future cost savings, capita al budgets, interpretation or prediction of formation details, production rates and
volumes or forecasts thereof, hydrocarbon reserve quantities and values, CO2 reserves and supply and their availability,
potential reserves, barrels or percentages of recoverablea original oil in place, the impact of regulatory rulings or changes,
outcomes of pending litigation, prospective legislation affecting the oil and gas industry, environmental regulations, mark-
to-market values, competition, rates of return,t estimated costs, changes in costs, future capia tal expenditures and overall
economics, worldwide economic conditions, and other variables surrounding operations and future plans. Such forward-
looking statements generally are accompanied by words such as “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” “predict,” “forecast,” “to our
knowledge,” “anticipate,” “projected,” “preliminary,” “should,” “assume,” “believe,” “may” or other words that convey, or
are intended to convey, the uncertainty of future events or outcomes. Such forward-looking information is based upon
management’s current plans, expectations, estimates, and assumptim ons and is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
that could significantly and adversely affect current plans, anticipated actions, the timing of such actions and our financial
condition and results of operations. As a consequence, actual results may differ materially from expectations, estimates or
assumptim ons expressed in or implied by any forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf. Among the factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially are fluctuations in worldwide oil prices or in U.S. oil prices and
consequently in the prices received or demand for our oil and naturalt gas; decisions as to production levels and/or pricing
by OPEC or production levels by U.S. shale producers in future periods; levels of future capia tal expenditures; success of
our risk management techniques; accuracy of our cost estimates; access to and terms of credit in the commercial banking or
other debt markets; fluctuations in the prices of goods and services; the uncertainty of drilling results and reserve estimates;
operating hazards and remediation costs; disruption of operations and damages from well incidents, hurricanes, tropical
storms, floods, forest fires, or other naturalt occurrences; acquisition risks; requirements for capita al or its availability;
conditions in the worldwide financial, trade and credit markets; general economic conditions; competition; government
regulations, including changes in tax or environmental laws or regulations; and unexpected delays, as well as the risks and
uncertainties inherent in oil and gas drilling and production activities or that are otherwise discussed in this annual report,
including, without limitation, the portions referenced above, and the uncertainties set forth from time to time in our other
public reports, filings and public statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market RiskQ Q

The information required by Item 7A is set forth under Marketkk Riskii Management in Item 7, Management’s Discii ussion
and Analysll is of Financial Condition and Results ott f Oo perO ations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Denbury Inc.

Opinions on the Finanii ciali Statett ments and Intertt nalrr Control over Financii ial Reportiee ngii

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Denbury Inc. and its subsidiaries (Successor) (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and the related consolidated statements of operations, of changes in stockholders’
equity and of cash flows for the period from September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integratede Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from
September 19, 2020 to December 31, 2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integratede Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis of Accounting

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern
District of Texas confirmed the Company’s prepackaged joint plan of reorganization (“the plan”) on September 2, 2020.
Confirmation of the plan resulted in the discharge of all claims against the Company that arose before July 30, 2020 and
terminates all rights and interests of equity security holders as provided for in the plan. The plan was substantially
consummated on September 18, 2020 and the Company emerged from bankruptcy. In connection with its emergence from
bankruptcy, the Company adopted fresh start accounting as of September 18, 2020.

Basis for Opinionsii

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicablea rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are freeff of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects.

Our audit of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.
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Definie tiii on and Limitatii iontt s of Intertt nalrr Control over Financii ial Reportiee ngii

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliabila ity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditurest of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Criticatt l Auditdd MattMM erstt

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

The Impact of Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves on Net Proved Oil and Natural Gas Properties

The Company’s net property and equipment balance, which includes net proved oil and naturalt gas properties, was
$1,303.8 million as of December 31, 2020, depletion, depreciation and amortization (DD&A) expense for the period from
September 19, 2020 to December 31, 2020 was $45.8 million, and write-down of oil and naturalt gas properties from
September 19, 2020 to December 31, 2020 was $1.0 million. As described in Note 1, the Company follows the full cost
method of accounting for oil and gas properties. Under this method, all costs related to the acquisition, exploration and
development of oil and naturalt gas reserves are capitalized and accumulated into a single cost center. The costs capia talized,
including production equipment and future development costs, are depleted or depreciated using the unit-of-production
method based on proved oil and naturalt gas reserves. As disclosed by management, dunder f llfull cost accountinging lrules,
ma gnagement iis irequi dred ea hch quarter to perform a ceiliilingg test callc lula ition. hThe net capi liitalizedd costs of iloil dand nat luralt ggas
ppropertiies are lili i dmited to thhe llower of unam iortizedd cost or hthe cost center ceililing.ing. hThe cost center ceililinging iis d fidefi dned as ( )(1)
hthe present lvalue of es itimatedd future net revenues from provedd iloil dand naturall ggas reserves b fbefore future baba dndonment costs
(di(discount ded at )10%), bbas ded on hthe averagge fifirs dt-day-of-they-of-the-monthh iloil dand nat luralt ggas iprice for ea hch monthh duringduring a 12-
monthh llrollinging iperi dod iprior to hthe dend of a partiic lular reportinging iperi dod; lplus ( )(2) hthe cost of propertiies not b ibei gng am iortizedd;
plusplus ( )(3) hthe llower of cost or es itimatedd f ifair lvalue of dunproved propertiies iincl dludedd iin hthe costs bbeiingg am iortizedd, ifif yany; lless
((4)) rel dlated iincome tax effects. hThe process of es itima iti gng iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserves iis yvery com lplex, irequiringring signifisignificant
ddeci iisions iin hthe levaluatiion of lalll availil blable geolgeologicogic lal, geophysgeophysiic lal, engiengineeringring dand ec ionomic ddata. hThe ddata for a givegiven
fifieldld mayy lalso hcha gnge bsubstantiiallllyy over itime as a res lult of numerous factors, iincl diludi gng ddiaddi iti lonal ddevellopment ac iti ivityy,
levolvingving dproductiion hihist yory dand contiinuedd reassessment of hthe iviabilbila ityity of dproductiion dunder varyivaryi gng ec ionomic dicondi itions.

As a res lult, mate iriall irevi isions to iexi isti gng reserve iestimates mayy occur from itime to itime. Es itima iti gng quantiitiies of dproved
iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserves re iquires iinterpreta itions of availil blable te h ichnicall ddata dand ivarious as isumptions, iincl diludi gng future
productproductiion rates, dproductiion costs, severance dand exciise taxes, capi lital ex dipenditures dand kworkover dand rem diedi lal costs, dand
hthe assum ded effect of ggovernment lal lrules dand regulregulatiions. Net provedproved iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserve iestimates are ddetermii dned
byby hthe Com ypany’s iinternall rese irvoir enginegine ieri gng team dand iinddepe dndent pet lroleum enginegineers ( l(colllectiivelyly “s ipeci laliists )”).

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the impact of proved oil and
naturalt gas reserves on net proved oil and naturalt gas properties is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by
management, including the use of specialists, when developing the estimates of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves, which
in turn led to (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit
evidence obtained related to the data, methods, and assumptim ons used by management and its specialists in developing the
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estimates of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves and the assumptim ons applied to the cost center ceiling test related to future
production rates.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. hThese proceddures i lincl d duded te isti gng hthe effec itiveness of cont lrols
lrelatinging to ma gnagement’s es itimates of dproved iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserves dand ceililinging test callc lula ition. The work of
management’s specialists was used in performing the procedures to evaluate the reasonablea ness of the proved oil and
naturalt gas reserves and the reasonableness of the future production rates applied in the cost center ceiling test. As a basis
for using this work, the specialists’ qualifications were understood and the company’s relationship with the specialists was
assessed. The procedures perfoff rmed included evaluation of the methods and assumptim ons used by the specialists, tests of
the data used by the specialists, and an evaluation of the specialists’ findings.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 5, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.

73



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Denbury Inc.

Opinion on the Financii ial Statemtt entstt

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Denbury Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries
(Predecessor) (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of changes
in stockholders' equity and of cash flows for the period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, and for each of
the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019 including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the period from January 1, 2020 to September 18, 2020, and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2019 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis of Accounting

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company filed petitions on July 30, 2020 with the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas for reorganization under the provisions of Chapter 11 of
the Bankruptcy Code. The Company’s prepackaged joint plan of reorganization was substantially consummated on
September 18, 2020 and the Company emerged from bankruptcy. In connection with its emergence from bankruptcy, the
Company adopted fresh start accounting. This matter is also described in the “Critical Audit Matters” section of our report.

Change in Accounting Principlei

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for
leases in 2019.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicablea rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Criticatt l Auditdd MattMM erstt

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they
relate.
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The Impact of Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves on Net Proved Oil and Natural Gas Properties

As ddes icrib dbed iin Note 2 to hthe liconsoliddat ded fifina inci lal statements, tht e Company’s net property and equipment balance, which
includes net proved oil and naturalt gas properties, was $1,311.6 million as of September 18, 2020, depletion, depreciation
and amortization (DD&A) expense for the period from January 1, 2020 to September 18, 2020 was $188.6 million, and
iwrite d-down of iloil dand nat luralt ggas propertiies for hthe pe iri dod from Ja ynuary 1, 2020 to Septe bmber 18, 2020 was $$996.7
imilllliion. As described in Note 1, the Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas properties. Under
this method, all costs related to the acquisition, exploration and development of oil and naturalt gas reserves are capita alized
and accumulated into a single cost center. The costs capia talized, including production equipment and future development
costs, are depleted or depreciated using the unit-of-production method based on proved oil and naturalt gas reserves. As
disclosed by management, dunder f llfull cost accountinging lrules, ma gnagement iis irequi dred ea hch quarter to perform a ceiliilingg test
callc lula ition. hThe net capi liitalizedd costs of iloil dand nat luralt ggas propertiies are lili i dmited to thhe llower of unam iortizedd cost or hthe
cost center ceililing.ing. hThe cost center ceililinging iis d fidefi dned as ( )(1) hthe present lvalue of estiimat ded future net revenues from dproved
iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserves b fbefore future b dabandonment costs (di(discountedd at )10%), bbas ded on hthe averagge fifirs dt-day-of-they-of-the-
monthh iloil dand nat luralt ggas iprice for ea hch monthh duringduring a 12-monthh llrollinging iperi dod iprior to hthe dend of a partiic lular reportinging
periperi dod; lplus ( )(2) hthe cost of propertiies not b ibei gng am iortizedd; lplus ( )(3) hthe llower of cost or es itimatedd f ifair lvalue of dunproved
ppropertiies iincl dludedd iin hthe costs b ibei gng am iortizedd, ifif yany; lless ((4)) lrelat ded iincome tax effects. hThe process of es itima iti gng iloil
dand nat luralt ggas reserves iis yvery com lplex, irequiringring signisignifificant ddeciisiions iin hthe levaluatiion of lalll availil blable geolgeologicogic lal,

geophysgeophysiic lal, engiengineeringring dand ec ionomic ddata. hThe ddata for a givegiven fifieldld mayy lalso hcha gnge bsubstantiiallllyy over itime as a res lult
of numerous factors, iincl diludi gng ddiaddi iti lonal dde lvelopment ac iti ivityy, levolvingving dproductiion hihist yory dand contiinuedd reassessment of
hthe iviabibia litylity of dproductiion dunder varyivaryi gng ec ionomic dicondi itions. As a res lult, mate iriall irevi isions to iexi isti gng reserve iestimates
mayy occur from itime to itime. iEstima iti gng quantiitiies of dproved iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserves re iquires iinterpreta itions of
availil blable te h ichnicall ddata dand ivarious assumptiions, iincl diludi gng future dproductiion rates, dproductiion costs, severance dand exciise
taxes, ca ipita lal diexpenditures dand kworkover dand rem diedi lal costs, dand hthe assum ded effect of ggovernment lal lrules dand regulregulatiions.
Net provedproved iloil dand nat luralt ggas reserve es itimates are ddetermiinedd byby the Company’s internal reservoir engineering team and
i dinde dpendent pe ltroleum engiengineers ( ll(collec iti lvelyy “spe ici laliist )s”).

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the impact of proved oil and
naturalt gas reserves on net proved oil and naturalt gas properties is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by
management, including the use of specialists, when developing the estimates of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves, which
in turn led to (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit
evidence obtained related to the data, methods, and assumptim ons used by management and its specialists in developing the
estimates of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves and the assumptim ons applied to the cost center ceiling test related to future
production rates.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The work of management’s specialists was used in performing the
procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of the proved oil and naturalt gas reserves and the reasonableness of the future
production rates applied in the cost center ceiling test. As a basis for using this work, the specialists’ qualifications were
understood and the company’s relationship with the specialists was assessed. The procedures perforff med included
evaluation of the methods and assumptim ons used by the specialists, tests of the data used by the specialists, and an
evaluation of the specialists’ findings.

FFreshh Start Fair lValue dAdjjustdd mett nts to Prov ded lOil dand Nat lural Gas Properties

As described above and in Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements, Denburybury Inc. ((Succe )ssor) bbecame hthe
successor reportinging com ypany of Denburynbury Resources Inc. ((Preddecess )or) upon hthe eme grgence from b kbankrupt ycy on Septembber
18, 2020. During the Predecessor period, the Company applied generally accepted accounting principles for
reorganizations, which requires the financial statements forff periods subsequent to the commencement of the Chapter 11
Restructuringt on July 30, 2020 to distinguish transactions and events that are directly associated with the reorganization
from the ongoing operations of the business. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company was required to adopt fresh
start accounting. Fre hsh start accountinging irequires hthat new f ifair lvalues bbe est bliabli h dshed for hthe Compa yny’s assets, lili biabilili ities dand
iequi yty as of hthe ddate of em gergence from b kbankrupt ycy, Septembber 18, 2020. The Company’s reorganization items, net was

$850.0 million for the period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, which included fresh start fair value
adjud stments to proved oil and naturalt gas properties of $10,941.3 million. The Company determined the fair value of its oil
and gas properties based on discounted cash flows. hThe faiir vallue analyaly isis was bba dsed on hthe Compa yny’s es itimatedd future
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productproductiion rates of dproved dand b blprobable reserves as prepa dred byby hthe Compa yny’s i dinde dpendent pet lroleum engiengineers.
iDiscountedd ca hsh flflow d lmodels were dprepared usingusing hthe iestimatedd future revenues dand eraop ting costs for all developed wells
and undeveloped properties comprising the proved and probable reserves. Future revenues were based upon future
production rates and forward strip oil and naturalt gas prices. Operating costs were adjusted for inflation beginning in year
2025. A risk adjustment factor was applied to each reserve category, consistent with the risk of the category. The
discounted cash flow models also included adjustments for income tax expenses. Discount factors utilized were derived
using a weighted average cost of capita al computation, which included an estimated cost of debt and equity for market
participants with similar geographies and asset development type and varying corporate income tax rates based on the
expected point of sale for each property’s produced assets.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the fresh start fair value
adjud stments to proved oil and naturalt gas properties is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by
management, including the use of specialists, when developing the fresh start fair value adjud stments of proved oil and
naturalt gas properties; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and
evaluating management’s significant assumptim ons related to future production rates, forward strip oil and naturalt gas
pricing, operating costs, capita al expenditures, and weighted average cost of capita al; and (iii) the audit effort involved the
use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included, among others (i) evaluating the
appropriateness of the discounted cash flow model; (ii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in
the discounted cash flow model; and (iii) evaluating the significant assumptim ons used by management related to future
production rates, forward strip oil and naturalt gas pricing, operating costs, capita al expenditures, and weighted average cost
of capita al. The work of specialists was used in performing the procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of estimates of
proved oil and naturalt gas reserves as stated in the Critical Audit Matter titled “The Impact of Proved Oil and Natural Gas
Reserves on Net Proved Oil and Natural Gas Properties” and the reasonableness of the future production rates used in the
discounted cash flow models. As a basis for using this work, the specialists’ qualifications were understood and the
company’s relationship with the specialists was assessed. The procedures perforff med also included evaluation of the
methods and assumptim ons used by the specialists, tests of the data used by the specialists and an evaluation of the
specialists’ findings. Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s assumptim ons relating to forward strip oil and naturalt
gas pricing, operating costs, and capita al expenditures involved evaluating whether the assumptim ons used by management
were reasonable considering the current and past performance of the Company, the consistency with external market and
industry data, and whether the assumptim ons were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals
with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in assessing the appropriateness of the discounted cash flow
models and the reasonableness of the weighted average cost of capia tal.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 5, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.
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Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 518 $ 516
Restricted cash 1,000 —
Accrued production receivable 91,421 139,407
Trade and other receivables, net 19,682 18,318
Derivative assets 187 11,936
Prepaids 14,038 10,434

Total current assets 126,846 180,611
Property and equipment
Oil and natural gas properties (using full cost accounting)

Proved properties 851,208 11,447,680
Unevaluated properties 85,304 872,910

CO2 properties 188,288 1,198,846
Pipelines 133,485 2,329,078
Other property and equipment 86,610 212,334
Less accumulated depletion, depreciation, amortization and impairment (41,095) (11,688,020)

Net property and equipment 1,303,800 4,372,828
Operating lease right-of-use assets 20,342 34,099
Intangible assets, net 97,362 22,139
Other assets 86,408 82,190

Total assets $ 1,634,758 $ 4,691,867

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Denbury Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value and share data)
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Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 112,671 $ 183,832
Oil and gas production payable 49,165 62,869
Derivative liabilities 53,865 8,346
Current maturities of long-term debt (including future interest payable of $0 and $86,054, respectively
– see Note 8) 68,008 102,294
Operating lease liabilities 1,350 6,901

Total current liabilities 285,059 364,242
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion (including future interest payable of $0 and $78,860,
respectively – see Note 8) 70,000 2,232,570
Asset retirement obligations 179,338 177,108
Derivative liabilities 5,087 —
Deferred tax liabilities, net 1,274 410,230
Operating lease liabilities 19,460 41,932
Other liabilities 20,872 53,526

Total long-term liabilities 296,031 2,915,366
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity
Predecessor preferred stock, $.001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding — —
Predecessor common stock, $.001 par value, 750,000,000 shares authorized; 508,065,495 shares
issued — 508
Predecessor paid-in capital in excess of par — 2,739,099
Predecessor treasury stock, at cost, 1,652,771 shares — (6,034)
Successor preferred stock, $.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding — —
Successor common stock, $.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized; 49,999,999 shares issued 50 —
Successor paid-in capital in excess of par 1,104,276 —
Accumulated deficit (50,658) (1,321,314)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,053,668 1,412,259
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,634,758 $ 4,691,867

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Denbury Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value and share data)
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Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Revenues and other income
Oil, natural gas, and related product sales $ 201,108 $ 492,101 $ 1,212,020 $ 1,422,589
CO2 sales and transportation fees 9,419 21,049 34,142 31,145
Oil marketing revenues 5,376 8,543 14,198 1,921
Other income 4,697 8,419 14,523 17,970

Total revenues and other income 220,600 530,112 1,274,883 1,473,625
Expenses
Lease operating expenses 101,234 250,271 477,220 489,720
Transportation and marketing expenses 10,595 27,164 41,810 43,942
CO2 operating and discovery expenses 1,976 2,592 2,922 2,816
Taxes other than income 16,584 43,531 93,752 104,670
Oil marketing expenses 5,318 8,399 14,124 1,676
General and administrative expenses 19,470 48,522 83,029 71,495
Interest, net of amounts capitalized of $1,261, $22,885, $36,671 and
$37,079, respectively 1,815 48,267 81,632 69,688

Depletion, depreciation, and amortization 45,812 188,593 233,816 216,449
Commodity derivatives expense (income) 61,902 (102,032) 70,078 (21,087)
Gain on debt extinguishment — (18,994) (155,998) —
Write-down of oil and natural gas properties 1,006 996,658 — —
Reorganization items, net — 849,980 — —
Other expenses 8,072 35,868 11,187 84,325

Total expenses 273,784 2,378,819 953,572 1,063,694
Income (loss) before income taxes (53,184) (1,848,707) 321,311 409,931
Income tax provision (benefit) (2,526) (416,129) 104,352 87,233

Net income (loss) $ (50,658) $ (1,432,578) $ 216,959 $ 322,698

Net income (loss) per common share
Basic $ (1.01) $ (2.89) $ 0.47 $ 0.75
Diluted $ (1.01) $ (2.89) $ 0.45 $ 0.71

Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 50,000 495,560 459,524 432,483
Diluted 50,000 495,560 510,341 456,169

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Denbury Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per-share data)
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Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ (50,658) $ (1,432,578) $ 216,959 $ 322,698
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows from
operating activities
Noncash reorganization items, net — 810,909 — —
Depletion, depreciation, and amortization 45,812 188,593 233,816 216,449
Write-down of oil and natural gas properties 1,006 996,658 — —
Deferred income taxes (2,556) (408,869) 100,471 103,234
Stock-based compensation 8,212 4,111 12,470 11,951
Commodity derivatives expense (income) 61,902 (102,032) 70,078 (21,087)
Receipt (payment) on settlements of commodity derivatives 21,089 81,396 23,606 (175,248)
Gain on debt extinguishment — (18,994) (155,998) —
Debt issuance costs and discounts 799 11,571 12,303 6,246
Other, net (2,349) 439 (8,596) (4,725)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions
Accrued production receivable 21,411 26,575 (13,619) 20,547
Trade and other receivables 15,567 (22,343) 9,379 16,094
Other current and long-term assets (1,795) 743 7,629 (6,827)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (67,167) (16,102) (3,275) 13,008
Oil and natural gas production payable (6,912) (6,792) 2,170 (15,300)
Other liabilities (4,035) 123 (13,250) 42,645

Net cash provided by operating activities 40,326 113,408 494,143 529,685

Cash flows from investing activities
Oil and natural gas capital expenditures (17,964) (99,582) (262,005) (316,647)
CO2 capital expenditures (269) (196) (3,154) (5,878)
Pipelines and plants capital expenditures (618) (11,601) (27,319) (23,108)
Net proceeds from sales of oil and natural gas properties and
equipment 938 41,322 10,196 7,762
Other 16,029 12,943 12,590 4,595

Net cash used in investing activities (1,884) (57,114) (269,692) (333,276)

Cash flows from financing activities
Bank repayments (190,000) (551,000) (925,791) (1,982,653)
Bank borrowings 120,000 691,000 925,791 1,507,653
Interest payments treated as a reduction of debt — (46,417) (85,303) (79,606)
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured notes — — — 450,000
Cash paid in conjunction with debt exchange — — (136,427) —
Cash paid in conjunction with debt repurchases — (14,171) — —
Costs of debt financing (8) (12,482) (11,065) (16,060)
Pipeline financing and capital lease debt repayments (22,938) (51,792) (13,908) (23,300)
Other 1,638 (9,363) 348 (13,486)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (91,308) 5,775 (246,355) (157,452)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (52,866) 62,069 (21,904) 38,957
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 95,114 33,045 54,949 15,992
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 42,248 $ 95,114 $ 33,045 $ 54,949

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Denbury Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
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Common Stock
($.001 Par Value)

Paid-In
Capital in
Excess of
Par

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Treasury Stock
(at cost)

Total EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance – December 31, 2017 (Predecessor) 402,549,346 $ 403 $ 2,507,828 $ (1,855,810) 457,041 $ (4,256) $ 648,165

Issued pursuant to stock compensation plans 4,556,424 4 (4) — — — —

Issued pursuant to notes conversion 55,249,955 55 161,949 — — — 162,004

Stock-based compensation — — 15,438 — — — 15,438

Tax withholding for stock compensation plans — — — — 1,484,708 (6,528) (6,528)

Net income — — — 322,698 — — 322,698

Balance – December 31, 2018 (Predecessor) 462,355,725 462 2,685,211 (1,533,112) 1,941,749 (10,784) 1,141,777

Issued pursuant to stock compensation plans 9,315,016 9 (9) — — — —

Issued pursuant to directors’ compensation plan 97,537 — — — — — —

Issued pursuant to senior subordinated notes
exchanges 36,297,217 37 37,409 (5,161) (1,990,000) 7,270 39,555

Stock-based compensation — — 16,488 — — — 16,488

Tax withholding for stock compensation plans — — — — 1,701,022 (2,520) (2,520)

Net income — — — 216,959 — — 216,959

Balance – December 31, 2019 (Predecessor) 508,065,495 508 2,739,099 (1,321,314) 1,652,771 (6,034) 1,412,259

Issued pursuant to stock compensation plans 312,516 — — — — — —

Issued pursuant to directors' compensation plan 37,367 — — — — — —

Stock-based compensation — — 14,317 — — — 14,317

Issued pursuant to notes conversion 7,372,250 8 11,493 — — — 11,501

Canceled pursuant to stock compensation plans (6,313,884) (6) 6 — — — —

Tax withholding for stock compensation plans — — — — 742,862 (168) (168)

Net loss — — — (1,432,578) — — (1,432,578)

Cancellation of Predecessor equity (509,473,744) (510) (2,764,915) 2,753,892 (2,395,633) 6,202 (5,331)

Issuance of Successor equity 49,999,999 50 1,095,369 — — — 1,095,419

Balance – September 18, 2020 (Predecessor) 49,999,999 $ 50 $ 1,095,369 $ — — $ — $ 1,095,419

Balance – September 19, 2020 (Successor) 49,999,999 $ 50 $ 1,095,369 $ — — $ — $ 1,095,419

Stock-based compensation — — 8,907 — — — 8,907

Net loss — — — (50,658) — — (50,658)

Balance – December 31, 2020 (Successor) 49,999,999 $ 50 $ 1,104,276 $ (50,658) — $ — $ 1,053,668

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Denbury Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(Dollar amounts in thousands)
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Note 1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Nature of Operations

Denbury Inc. (“Denbury,” “Company” or the “Successor”), a Delaware corporation, is an independent energy
company with operations focused on producing oil from mature oil fields in the Gulf Coast and Rocky Mountain regions.
The Company is differentiated by its focus on CO2 EOR and the emerging CCUS industry, supported by the Company’s
CO2 EOR technical and operational expertise and its extensive CO2 pipeline infrastructure. The utilization of captured
industrial-sourced CO2 in EOR significantly reduces the carbon footprint of the oil that Denbury produces, underpinning
the Company’s goal to fully offset its Scope 1, 2, and 3 CO2 emissions within the decade.

As further described in Emergence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code below,
Denbury Inc. became the successor reporting company of Denbury Resources Inc. (the “Predecessor”) upon the
Predecessor’s emergence from bankruptcy on September 18, 2020. References to “Successor” relate to the financial
position and results of operations of the Company subsequent to September 18, 2020, and references to “Predecessor”
relate to the financial position and results of operations of the Company prior to, and including, September 18, 2020. On
September 18, 2020, Denbury filed the Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretary of State torr
effect a change of the Company’s corporate name from Denbury Resources Inc. to Denbury Inc., and on September 21,
2020, the Successor’s new common stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol
DEN.

Emergence from Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code

On July 28, 2020, Denbury Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries entered into a Restructuring Support Agreement (the
“RSA”) with lenders holding 100% of the revolving loans under our pre-petition revolving bank credit facility and
debtholders holding approximately 67.1% of our senior secured second lien notes and approximately 73.1% of our
convertible senior notes, which contemplated a restructuring of the Company pursuant to a prepackaged joint plan of
reorganization (the “Plan”). On July 30, 2020 (the “Petition Date”), Denbury Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries filed
petitions for reorganization in a “prepackaged” voluntary bankruptcy (the “Chapter 11 Restructuring”) under chapter 11 ofa
the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”)
under the caption “In re Denbury Re“ sources Inc., et al., Case No. 20-33801”. On September 2, 2020, the Bankruptcy
Court entered an order (the “Confirmation Order”) confirming the Plan and approving the Disclosure Statement, and on
September 18, 2020 (the “Emergence Date”), the Plan became effective in accordance with its terms and the Company
emerged from Chapter 11. On the Emergence Date and pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the Confirmation Order, all
outstanding obligations under the senior secured second lien notes, convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes
were fully extinguished, relieving approximately $2.1 billion of debt by issuing equity and/or warrants in the Successor to
the former holders of that debt, and the Company:

• Adopted an amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws which reserved for issuance 250,000,000
shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Denbury (the “New Common Stock”) and 50,000,000
shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share;

• Cancelled all outstanding senior secured second lien notes, convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes
issued by the Predecessor. In accordance with the Plan, claims against and interests in the Predecessor were
treated as follows:

◦ Holders of secured pipeline lease claims received payment in full in cash, the collateral securing such
pipeline lease claim, reinstatement, or such other treatment rendering such pipeline lease claim
unimpaired (see Note 8, Long-Term Debt – Restructuring of Pipeline Financing Transactions, for
discussion of subsequent pipeline transactions);

◦ Holders of senior secured second lien notes claims received their pro rata share of 47,499,999 shares
representing 95% of the New Common Stock issued on the Emergence Date, subject to dilution on
account of warrants and a management incentive plan;

◦ Holders of convertible senior notes claims received their pro rata share of (a) 2,500,000 shares
representing 5% of the New Common Stock issued on the Emergence Date, subject to dilution on
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account of warrants and a management incentive plan and (b) 100% of the series A warrants (see below),
reflecting up to a maximum of 5% ownership stake in the reorganized company’s equity interests;

◦ Holders of subordinated notes claims received their pro rata share of 54.55% of the series B warrants (see
below), reflecting up to a maximum of 3% of the reorganized company’s equity interests after giving
effect to the exercise of the series A warrants;

◦ Holders of existing equity interests received their pro rata share of 45.45% of the series B warrants (see
below), reflecting up to a maximum of 2.5% of the reorganized company’s equity interests after giving
effect to the exercise of the series A warrants;

◦ Issued 2,631,579 series A warrants at an exercise price of $32.59 per share to former holders of the
Predecessor’s convertible senior notes and 2,894,740 series B warrants at an exercise price of $35.41 per
share to former holders of the Predecessor’s senior subordinated notes and Predecessor’s equity interests;
and

◦ Holders of general unsecured claims received payment in full in cash, reimbursement, or such other
treatment rendering such general unsecured claim unimpaired.

• Entered into a new senior secured revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of banks (the “Successor Bank
Credit Agreement”) with total aggregate commitments of $575 million;

• Appointed a new board of directors (the “Board”) consisting of four new independent members: Anthony Abate,
Caroline Angoorly, Brett Wiggs and James N. “Jim” Chapman, and three continuing members: Dr. Kevin O.
Meyers (Chairman of the Board), Lynn A. Peterson and Chris Kendall, Denbury’s President and Chief Executive
Officer; and

• Adopted a framework for a management incentive plan which reserves for officers, other employees, directors and
other service providers a pool of shares of New Common Stock, with initial awards issued on December 4, 2020
(see Note 11, Stock Compensation, for further discussion).

During the Predecessor period, the Company applied Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification (“FASC”)
Topic 852, Reorganizations, in preparing the consolidated financial statements. FASC Topic 852 requires the financial
statements, for periods subsequent to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Restructuring, to distinguish transactions and
events that are directly associated with the reorganization from the ongoing operations of the business. Accordingly,
certain charges incurred during 2020 related to the Chapter 11 Restructuring, including the write-off of unamortized long-
term debt fees and discounts associated with debt classified as liabilities subject to compromise, and professional fees
incurred directly as a result of the Chapter 11 Restructuring are recorded as “Reorganization items, net” in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations in the Predecessor period. FASC Topic 852 requires certain additional reporting
for financial statements prepared between the bankruptcy filing date and the date of emergence from bankruptcy, including:

• Reclassificatioff n of pre-petition liabilities that are unsecured, under-secured or where it cannot be determined that
the liabia lities are fully secured, to a separate line item in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
titled “Liabia lities subject to compromise”; and

• Segregation of Reorganization items, net as a separate line in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as
a going concern and contemplate the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.
During the Chapter 11 Restructuring, the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon the
Company’s ability to successfully implement a prepackaged joint plan of reorganization, among other factors. As a result
of the effectiveness and implementation of the restructuring, there is no longer substantial doubt about the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Principles of Reporting and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements herein have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and include the accounts
of Denbury and entities in which we hold a controlling financial interest. Undivided interests in oil and gas joint venturt es
are consolidated on a proportionate basis. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of certain assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses duringd each reporting
period. Management believes its estimates and assumptions are reasonable; however, such estimates and assumptions are
subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially fromff such
estimates. Significant estimates underlying these financial statements include (1) the fair value of financial derivative
instrumer nts; (2) the estimated quantities of proved oil and naturalt gas reserves used to compute depletion of oil and naturalt
gas properties, the related present value of estimated futureff net cash flows therefrom and the ceiling test; (3) future net cash
flow estimates used in the impairment assessment of long-lived assets; (4) the estimated quantities of proved and probable
CO2 reserves used to compute depletion of CO2 properties; (5) estimated useful lives used to compute depreciation and
amortization of long-lived assets; (6) accruals related to oil and naturalt gas sales volumes and revenues, capita al
expenditurest and lease operating expenses; (7) the estimated costs and timing of future asset retirement obligations; (8)
estimates made in the calculation of income taxes; and (9) fair value estimates including estimates of reorganization value,
enterprise value, and the fair value of assets and liabilities recorded as a result of the adoption of fresh start
accounting. While management is not aware of any significant revisions to any of its current year-end estimates, there will
likely be futureff revisions to its estimates resulting from matters such as revisions in estimated oil and naturalt gas volumes,
changes in ownership interests, payouts, joint venturet audits, re-allocations by purchasers or pipelines, or other corrections
and adjustments common in the oil and naturalt gas industry, many of which require retroactive application. These types of
adjustments cannot be currently estimated and will be recorded in the period in which the adjustment occurs.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassifications
had no impact on our reported total revenues, expenses, net income, current assets, total assets, current liabilities, total
liabilities or stockholders’ equity.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

We consider all highly liquid investments to be cash equivalents if they have maturities of three months or less at the
date of purchase. The following tablea provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as reported
within the Consolidated Balance Sheets to “Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period” as reported within
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

Successor Predecessor
In thousands December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 518 $ 516
Restricted cash, current 1,000 —
Restricted cash included in other assets 40,730 32,529
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows $ 42,248 $ 33,045

Restricted cash, current in the tablea above represents restricted escrow funds related to a deposit for our Wyoming
working interest acquisition (see Note 17, Subsequent Event) and our December 2020 sale of non-producing surface
acreage in the Houston area. Other restricted cash amounts represent escrow accounts that are legally restricted forff certain
of our asset retirement obligations, and are included in “Other assets” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

Capitalized Costs. We follow the full cost method of accounting for oil and naturalt gas properties. Under this
method, all costs related to the acquisition, exploration and development of oil and naturalt gas reserves are capita alized and
accumulated in a single cost center representing our activities, which are undertaken exclusively in the United States. Such
costs include lease acquisition costs, geological and geophysical expenditures, lease rentals on undeveloped properties,
costs of drilling both productive and nonproductive wells, capitalized interest on qualifying projects, and general and
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administrative expenses directly related to exploration and development activities, and do not include any costs related to
production, general corporate overhead or similar activities. We assign the purchase price of oil and naturalt gas properties
we acquire to proved and unevaluated properties based on the estimated fair values as defined in the FASC Fair Value
Measurement topic. Proceeds received from disposals are credited against accumulated costs except when the sale
represents a significant disposal of reserves, in which case a gain or loss would be recognized. A disposal of 25% or more
of our proved reserves would be considered significant.

Depletion and Depreciation. The costs capita alized, including production equipment and future development costs,
are depleted or depreciated using the unit-of-production method, based on proved oil and naturalt gas reserves as
determined by independent petroleum engineers. Oil and naturalt gas reserves are converted to equivalent units on a basis
of 6,000 cubic feet of naturalt gas to one barrel of cruder oil.

Under full cost accounting, we may exclude certain unevaluated costs from the amortization base pending
determination of whether proved reserves can be assigned to such properties. The costs classified as unevaluated are
transferred to the full cost amortization base as the properties are developed, tested and evaluated. At least annually, we
test these assets for impairment based on an evaluation of management’s expectations of future pricing, evaluation of lease
expiration terms, and planned project development activities. As a result of this analysis, we recognized impairments of
our unevaluated costs totaling $18.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019, whereby these costs were
transferred to the full cost amortization base. Given the significant declines in NYMEX oil prices in March and April 2020
due to the oil supplyu and demand imbalance precipitated by the dramatic fall in demand associated with the COVID-19
coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic combined with the concurrent OPEC+ decision to increase oil suppu ly, we reassessed
our development plans and transferred $244.9 million of our unevaluated costs to the full cost pool during the Predecessor
period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company adopted fresh
start accounting which resulted in our oil and naturalt gas properties, including unevaluated properties, being recorded at
their fair values at the Emergence Date (see Note 2, Fresh Start Accounting, for additional information).

Write-Down of Oil and Natural Gas Properties. The net capia talized costs of oil and naturalt gas properties are
limited to the lower of unamortized cost or the cost center ceiling. The cost center ceiling is defined as (1) the present
value of estimated future net revenues from proved oil and naturalt gas reserves before future abandonment costs
(discounted at 10%), based on the average first-day-of-the-month oil and naturalt gas price for each month during a 12-
month rolling period prior to the end of a particular reporting period; plus (2) the cost of properties not being amortized;
plus (3) the lower of cost or estimated fair value of unproved properties included in the costs being amortized, if any; less
(4) related income tax effects. Our future net revenues from proved oil and naturalt gas reserves are not reduced for
development costs related to the cost of drilling for and developing CO2 reserves nor those related to the cost of
constructing CO2 pipelines, as we do not have to incur additional costs to develop the proved oil and naturalt gas
reserves. Therefore, we include in the ceiling test, as a reduction of future net revenues, that portion of our capita alized CO2
costs related to CO2 reserves and CO2 pipelines that we estimate will be consumed in the process of producing our proved
oil and naturalt gas reserves. The fair value of our oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts is not included in the ceiling test,
as we do not designate these contracts as hedge instruments for accounting purposes. The cost center ceiling test is
prepared quarterly.

The average first-day-of-the-month NYMEX oil price used in estimating our proved reserves, after adjustments for
market differentiff als and transportation expenses by field, was $55.55 at December 31, 2019, $40.08 at September 18, 2020,
and $35.84 at December 31, 2020. Primarily as a result of these commodity price declines, the Predecessor recognized full
cost pool ceiling test write-downs of $996.7 million during the period from January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020,
and an additional full cost pool ceiling test write-down of $1.0 million was recognized during the Successor period from
September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020. We did not record any ceiling test write-downs during the Predecessor
periods of 2018 or 2019.

Joint Interest Operations. Substantially all of our oil and naturalt gas exploration and production activities are
conducted jointly with others. These financial statements reflect only our proportionate interest in such activities, and any
amounts due from other partners are included in trade receivables.

Tertiary Injection Costs. Our tertiary operations are conducted in reservoirs that have already produced significant
amounts of oil over many years; however, in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules and
regulations for recording proved reserves, we cannot recognize proved reserves associated with enhanced recovery
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techniques, such as CO2 injection, until we can demonstrate production resulting from the tertiaryrr process or unless the
field is analogous to an existing flood.

We capita alize, as a development cost, injection costs in fields that are in their development stage, which means we
have not yet seen incremental oil production due to the CO2 injections (i.e., a production response). These capita alized
development costs are included in our unevaluated property costs until we are able to recognize proved reserves associated
with the development project. After we see a production response to the CO2 injections (i.e., the production stage),
injection costs are expensed as incurred, and any previously deferred unevaluated development costs become subject to
depletion.

CO2 Properties

We own and produce CO2 reserves, a non-hydrocarbon resource, that are used in our tertiary oil recovery operations
on our own behalf and on behalf of other interest owners in enhanced recovery fields, with a portion sold to third-party
industrial users. We record revenue from our sales of CO2 to third parties when it is produced and sold. Expenses related
to the production of CO2 are allocated between volumes sold to third parties and volumes consumed internally that are
directly related to our tertiary production. The expenses related to third-party sales are recorded in “CO2 operating and
discovery expenses,” and the expenses related to internal use are recorded in “Lease operating expenses” in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations or are capia talized as oil and naturalt gas properties in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets, depending on the stage of the tertiary flood that is receiving the CO2 (see Tertiary Injection Coststt above for further
discussion).

Costs incurred to search for CO2 are expensed as incurred until proved or probable reserves are established. Once
proved or probable reserves are established, costs incurred to obtain those reserves are capia talized and classified as “CO2
properties” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Capia talized CO2 costs are aggregated by geologic formation and depleted
on a unit-of-production basis over proved and probablea reserves.

Pipelines

CO2 used in our tertiary floods is transported to our fields through CO2 pipelines. Costs of CO2 pipelines under
construction are not depreciated until the pipelines are placed into service. Pipelines are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, which range from 20 to 43 years. Capia talized costs include $0.7 million of CO2 pipelines
as of December 31, 2020, that were either under construction or had not been placed into service and therefore, were not
subject to depreciation during 2020.

Property and Equipment – Other

Other property and equipment, which includes furnituret and fixtures,t vehicles, and computer equipment and software,
is depreciated principally on a straight-line basis over each asset’s estimated useful life. Vehicles and furnituret and fixturest
are generally depreciated over a useful life of one to six years, and computer equipment and software are generally
depreciated over a useful life of one to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated
useful life or the remaining lease term.

Maintenance and repair costs that do not extend the useful life of the property or equipment are charged to expense as
incurred.

Intangible Assets

Our intangible assets subject to amortization for the Predecessor period primarily consisted of amounts assigned in
purchase accounting to a CO2 purchase contract with ConocoPhillips to offtake CO2 from the Lost Cabina gas plant in
Wyoming, and for the Successor period represent amounts assigned in fresh start accounting to long-term contracts to sell
CO2 to industrial customers. We amortize the CO2 contract intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, which range from seven to 14 years. Total amortization expense for our intangible assets was $2.7 million
during the Successor period September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020, $1.7 million for the Predecessor period
January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, and $2.4 million and $2.4 million during the years ended 2019 and 2018,
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respectively. The following tablea summarizes the carryirr ng value of our intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 and
2019:

Successor Predecessor
In thousands December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Long-term contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers $ 97,943 $ —
Other intangibles 2,167 37,668
Accumulated amortization (2,748) (15,529)
Net book value $ 97,362 $ 22,139

As of December 31, 2020, our estimated amortization expense for our intangible assets subjeb ct to amortization over the
next five years is as follows:
In thousands
2021 $ 9,117
2022 9,117
2023 9,117
2024 9,117
2025 9,117

Impairment Assessment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
value may not be recoverablea . These long-lived assets, which are not subject to our full cost pool ceiling test, are
principally comprised of our capita alized CO2 properties and pipelines, and for the Successor period also included long-term
contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers. Given the significant declines in NYMEX oil prices to approximately $20 per
Bbl in late March 2020 due to OPEC supply pressures and a reduction in worldwide oil demand amid the COVID-19
pandemic, we perfoff rmed a long-lived asset impairment test for our two long-lived asset groups (Gulf Coast region and
Rocky Mountain region) as of March 31, 2020 (Predecessor).

We perforff m our long-lived asset impairment test by comparing the net carrying costs of our long-lived asset groups to
the respective expected futureff undiscounted net cash floff ws that are supported by these long-lived assets which include
production of our probable and possible oil and naturalt gas reserves. The portion of our capita alized CO2 costs related to
CO2 reserves and CO2 pipelines that we estimate will be consumed in the process of producing our proved oil and naturalt
gas reserves is included in the full cost pool ceiling test as a reduction to future net revenues. The remaining net capita alized
costs that are not included in the full cost pool ceiling test, and related intangible assets, are subject to long-lived asset
impairment testing. These costs totaled approxia mately $1.3 billion as of March 31, 2020 (Predecessor). If the
undiscounted net cash floff ws are below the net carrying costs for an asset group, we must record an impairment loss by the
amount, if any, that net carrying costs exceed the fair value of the long-lived asset group. The undiscounted net cash floff ws
for our asset groups exceeded the net carrying costs; thus, step two of the impairment test was not required and no
impairment was recorded.

Significant assumptim ons impacting expected future undiscounted net cash floff ws include projections of future oil and
naturalt gas prices, projections of estimated quantities of oil and naturalt gas reserves, projections of future rates of
production, timing and amount of future development and operating costs, projected availability and cost of CO2, projected
recovery factors of tertiary reserves and risk-adjustment factors applied to the cash floff ws. We performed a qualitative
assessment as of June 30, 2020 and September 18, 2020 (Predecessor periods) and determined there were no material
changes to our key cash flow assumptim ons and no triggering events since the analysis perforff med as of March 31, 2020;
therefore, no impairment test was performed for the second quarter of 2020 or for the period ending September 18, 2020.
Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company adopted fresh start accounting which resulted in our long-lived assets
being recorded at their faiff r value at the Emergence Date (see Note 2, Fresh StartS Accounting, forff additional information).
We perforff med a qualitative assessment as of December 31, 2020 (Successor period) and determined there were no material
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changes to our key cash flow assumptim ons and no triggering events since the Company’s assets were revalued in fresh start
accounting, September 18, 2020; therefore, no impairment test was performed for the fourth quarter of 2020.

Asset Retirement Obligations

In general, our future asset retirement obligations relate to future costs associated with plugging and abandoning our
oil, naturalt gas and CO2 wells, removing equipment and facilities from leased acreage, and returningt land to its original
condition. The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recorded in the period in which it is incurred,
discounted to its present value using our credit-adjusted-risk-free interest rate, and a corresponding amount capita alized by
increasing the carryingrr amount of the related long-lived asset. The liability is accreted each period, and the capita alized cost
is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Revisions to estimated retirement obligations will result in an
adjustment to the related capitalized asset and corresponding liability. If the liabia lity for an oil or naturalt gas well is settled
for an amount other than the recorded amount, the difference is recorded to the full cost pool.

Asset retirement obligations are estimated at the present value of expected future net cash flows. We utilize
unobservable inputs in the estimation of asset retirement obligations that include, but are not limited to, costs of labora and
materials, profits on costs of labora and materials, the effect of inflation on estimated costs, and the discount
rate. Accordingly, asset retirement obligations are considered a Level 3 measurement under the FASC Fair Value
Measurement topic.

Commodity Derivative Contracts

We utilize oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts to mitigate our exposure to commodity price risk associated with our
future oil and naturalt gas production. These derivative contracts have historically consisted of options, in the form of price
floors, collars, three-way collars, fixed-price swaps,a fixed-price swapsa enhanced with a sold put, and basis swaps. Our
derivative financial instrumer nts, other than any derivative instruments that are designated under the “normal purchase
normal sale” exclusion, are recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at fair value. We do not
apply hedge accounting to our commodity derivative contracts; accordingly, changes in the fair value of these instruments
are recognized in “Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period
of change.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, trade
and accrued production receivables, and the derivative instrumer nts discussed above. Our cash equivalents represent high-
quality securities placed with various investment-grade institutions. This investment practice limits our exposure to
concentrations of credit risk. Our trade and accrued production receivables are dispersed among various customers and
purchasers; therefore, concentrations of credit risk are limited. We evaluate the credit ratings of our purchasers, and if
customers are considered a credit risk, letters of credit are the primary security obtained to support lines of credit. We
attempt to minimize our credit risk exposure to the counterparties of our oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts through
formal credit policies, monitoring procedures and diversification. All of our derivative contracts are with parties that are
lenders under our senior secured bank credit facility (or affiliates of such lenders). There are no margin requirements with
the counterparties of our derivative contracts.

Oil and natural gas sales are made on a day-to-day basis or under short-term contracts at the current area market
price. We would not expect the loss of any purchaser to have a material adverse effectff upon our operations. For the
Successor period September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020, three purchasers accounted for 10% or more of our oil
and natural gas revenues: Plains Marketing LP (30%), Marathon Petroleum (13%) and Hunt Crude Oil Supplyu Company
(12%), and for the Predecessor period January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020, three purchasers accounted for 10% or
more of our oil and natural gas revenues: Plains Marketing LP (30%), Hunt Crude Oil Supplyu Company (12%) and
Marathon Petroleum (12%). For the year ended December 31, 2019 (Predecessor), three purchasers accounted for 10% or
more of our oil and natural gas revenues: Plains Marketing LP (32%), Hunt Crude Oil Supplyu Company (11%) and Sunoco
Inc. (11%). For the year ended December 31, 2018 (Predecessor), two purchasers accounted for 10% or more of our oil
and natural gas revenues: Plains Marketing LP (24%) and Hunt Cruder Oil Supply Company (10%).
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Other Receivables

During 2018, we recorded a $16.9 million impairment of a loan related to a proposed plant in the Gulf Coast that
would potentially supply CO2 to Denbury, due to uncertainties of the project achieving financial close. The impairment
was included within “Other expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31,
2018.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method, under which deferred income taxes are recognized
for the future tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement carryingrr amounts and the tax basis of
existing assets and liabilities using the enacted statutoryt tax rates in effect at year end. The effect on deferred taxes for a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely than not that the benefit from the deferred tax asset will not be
realized.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits
recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than
50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributablea to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net
income (loss) per common share is calculated in the same manner, but includes the impact of potentially dilutive securities.
Potentially dilutive securities during the Successor period consist of nonvested restricted stock units, nonvested
performance stock units, and warrants, and during the Predecessor period have historically consisted of nonvested
restricted stock, nonvested performance-based equity awards, and shares into which our convertible senior notes are
convertible.
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The folff lowing table sets forth the reconciliations of net income (loss) and weighted average shares used forff purposes
of calculating basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share for the periods indicated:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Numerator
Net income (loss) – basic $ (50,658) $ (1,432,578) $ 216,959 $ 322,698
Effect of potentially dilutive securities
Interest on convertible senior notes including
amortization of discount, net of tax — — 14,134 539

Net income (loss) – diluted $ (50,658) $ (1,432,578) $ 231,093 $ 323,237

Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding –
basic 50,000 495,560 459,524 432,483
Effect of potentially dilutive securities
Restricted stock and performance-based equity
awards — — 2,396 6,500
Convertible senior notes(1) —— 48,421 17,186

Weighted average common shares outstanding –
diluted 50,000 495,560 510,341 456,169

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2019, shares shown under “convertible senior notes” represent the prorated portion
of the approximately 90.9 million shares of the Predecessor’s common stock issuable uponu full conversion of the
convertible senior notes which were issued on June 19, 2019 (see Note 8, Long-Term Debt – 2019 Predecessor Debt
Reduction Transactions).

Time-vesting restricted stock is included in basic weighted average common shares from the vesting date (although
time-vesting restricted stock is issued and outstanding upon grant). For purposes of calculating diluted weighted average
common shares for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the nonvested restricted stock and performance-based
equity awards are included in the computation using the treasury stock method, with the deemed proceeds equal to the
average unrecognized compensation during the period, and for the shares underlying the convertible senior notes as if the
convertible senior notes were converted at the earliest date outstanding during the respective periods. In April and May
2018, all of the then outstanding 3½% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 and 5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2023
converted into shares of Denbury common stock, resulting in the issuance of 55.2 million shares of our common stock
upon conversion. These shares have been included in basic weighted average common shares outstanding beginning on the
date of conversion.
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The folff lowing securities could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future, but were excluded fromff the
computation of diluted net income (loss) per share, as their effecff t would have been antidilutive:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Stock apprea ciation rights — 1,007 2,027 2,743
Restricted stock and performance-based equity
awards — 7,280 5,505 1,234
Convertible senior notes — 87,888 — —
Restricted stock units(1) 328 — — —
Warrants(2) 5,526 — — —

(1) Shares represent the impact over the Successor period of the approximately 1.2 million shares of the Successor’s
common stock issuable uponu full vesting of the restricted stock unit awards issued on December 4, 2020 pursuant to
the 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan (see Note 11, Stock CompeCC nsation).

(2) Shares represent the impact over the Successor period of the approximately 5.5 million shares of the Successor’s
common stock issuable uponu full exercise of the series A warrants, at an exercise price of $32.59 per share, and series
B warrants, at an exercise price of $35.41 per share, which were issued pursuant to the Plan to the Predecessor’s
convertible senior notes, senior subordinated notes, and equity holders. The dilution from exercise of the series A or
series B warrants could be reduced to the extent warrants are exercised on a cashless basis.

Environmental and Litigation Contingencies

The Company makes judgments and estimates in recording liabilities for contingencies such as environmental
remediation or ongoing litigation. Liabilities are recorded when it is both probable that a loss has been incurred and such
loss is reasonably estimablea . Assessments of liabia lities are based on information obtained fromff independent and in-house
experts, loss experience in similar situations, actual costs incurred, and other case-by-case factors. Any related insurance
recoveries are recognized in our financial statements during the period received or at the time receipt is determined to be
virtualt ly certain.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently All dopted

Financial Instruments – Credit Losses. In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – CreCC dit Losses (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13
changes the impairment model forff most financial assets and certain other instruments, including trade and other
receivables, and requires the use of a new forward-looking expected loss model that will result in the earlier recognition of
allowances for losses. Effective January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13. The implementation of this standard did not
have a material impact on our consolidated finaff ncial statements.

Fair Value Measurement. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair ValVV ue Measurement (Topic 820) –
Disclosure Framework – ChangesCC to the Disclosure Requirements ftt orff Fair Value Measurements (“ASU 2018-13”). ASU
2018-13 adds, modifies, or removes certain disclosure requirements for recurring and nonrecurring fair value
measurements based on the FASB’s consideration of costs and benefits. Effective January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU
2018-13. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements or
footnote disclosures.

Leases. During the Predecessor period, effective January 1, 2019, we adopted FASB ASU 2016-02, Leases, and ASU
2018-01, Leases (Topic(( 842) – Land Easement Practical Expedix ent for Transition to Topic 842, using the modified
retrospective method with an application date of January 1, 2019. For a discussion of our current accounting for lease
contracts, see Note 5, Leases.
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Not Yet Adoptedd d

Reference Rate Reform. In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Refee rence Rate Refoe rm (TopicTT 848) (“ASU
2020-04”). ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging
relationships, and other transactions to ease financial reporting burdens related to the expected market transition from the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or another reference rate to alternative reference rates. The amendments in this
ASU were effective upon issuance and generally can be applied to applicable contract modifications through December 31,
2022. Currently, our Successor Bank Credit Agreement is our only contract that makes reference to a LIBOR rate and the
agreement outlines the specific procedures that will be undertaken once an appropriate alternative benchmark is identified.
We do not expect this guidance to have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements and related footnote
disclosures.

Income Taxes. In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) – Simplifyi ing the
Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”). The objective of ASU 2019-12 is to simplify the accounting for income
taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and to provide more consistent application to
improve the comparability of financial statements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2020, and early adoption is permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements and related footnote disclosures.

Note 2. Fresh Start Accounting

Fresh Start Accounting

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we met the criteria and were required to adopt fresh start accounting in accordance
with FASC Topic 852, Reorganizations, which on the Emergence Date resulted in a new entity, the Successor, for financial
reporting purposes, with no beginning retained earnings or deficit as of the fresh start reporting date. The criteria requiring
fresh start accounting are: (1) the holders of the then-existing common shares of the Predecessor received less than 50
percent of the new common shares of the Successor outstanding upon emergence from bankruptcy and (2) the
reorganization value of the Company’s assets immediately prior to confirmation of the Plan was less than the total of all
post-petition liabilities and allowed claims.

Fresh start accounting requires that new fairff values be establia shed for the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity as of
the date of emergence from bankruptcy, September 18, 2020, and therefore certain values and operational results of the
consolidated financial statements subsequentu to September 18, 2020 are not comparablea to those in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements prior to, and including September 18, 2020. The Emergence Date fair values of the
Successor’s assets and liabilities differff materially from their recorded values as reflected on the historical balance sheet of
the Predecessor.

Reorganization Value

The reorganization value derived from the range of enterprise values associated with the Plan was allocated to the
Company’s identifiablea tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based on their fair values. Under FASC Topic 852,
reorganization value generally approximates the fair value of the entity before considering liabilities and is intended to
approximate the amount a willing buyer would pay for the assets immediately afterff the effecff ts of the restructuring. The
value of the reconstitutet d entity (i.e., Successor) was based on management projections and the valuation models as
determined by the Company’s financial advisors in setting an estimated range of enterprise values. As set forth in the Plan
and Disclosure Statement approved by the Bankruptcy Court, the valuation analysis resulted in an enterprise value between
$1.1 billion and $1.5 billion, with a midpoint of $1.3 billion. For U.S. GAAP purposes, we valued the Successor’s
individual assets, liabilities, and equity instruments and determined the value of the enterprise was approximately
$1.3 billion as of the Emergence Date, which fell in line with the midpoint of the forecast enterprise value ranges approved
by the Bankruptcy Court. Specific valuation approaches and key assumptim ons used to arrive at reorganization value, and
the value of discrete assets and liabilities resulting from the application of fresh start accounting, are described below in
greater detail within the valuation process.
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The folff lowing table reconciles the enterprise value to the equity value of the Successor as of the Emergence Date:

In thousands Sept. 18, 2020
Enterprise value $ 1,280,856
Plus: Cash and cash equivalents 45,585
Less: Total debt (231,022)
Equity value $ 1,095,419

The following tablea reconciles enterprise value to reorganization value of the Successor (i.e., value of the reconstituted
entity) and total reorganization value:

In thousands Sept. 18, 2020
Enterprise value $ 1,280,856
Plus: Cash and cash equivalents 45,585
Plus: Current liabilities excluding current maturities of long-term debt 239,738
Plus: Non-interest-bearing noncurrent liabilities 185,228
Reorganization value of the reconstitutet d Successor $ 1,751,407

With the assistance of third-party valuation advisors, we determined the enterprise and corresponding equity value of
the Successor using various valuation approaches and methods, including: (i) income approach using a calculation of the
present value of futuret cash flows based on our financial projections, (ii) the market approach using selling prices of similar
assets and (iii) the cost approach.

The enterprise value and corresponding equity value are dependent upon achieving the future financial results set forth
in our valuation using an asset-based methodology of estimated proved reserves, undeveloped properties, and other
financial information, considerations and projections, applying a combination of the income, cost and market approaches as
of the fresh start reporting date of September 18, 2020. All estimates, assumptions, valuations and financial projections,
including the fair value adjustments, the financial projections, the enterprise value and equity value projections, are
inherently subject to significant uncertainties and the resolution of contingencies beyond our control. Accordingly, there is
no assurance that the estimates, assumptim ons, valuations or financial projections will be realized, and actual results could
vary materially.

Reorganization Items, Net

Reorganization items represent (i) expenses incurred during the Chapter 11 Restructuring subsequent to the Petition
Date as a direct result of the Plan, (ii) gains or losses fromff liabilities settled and (iii) fresh start accounting adjustments and
are recorded in “Reorganization items, net” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Professional service provider
charges associated with our restructuring that were incurred before the Petition Date and after the Emergence Date are
recorded in “Other expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Contractualt interest expense of $22.0 million
from the Petition Date through the Emergence Date associated with our outstanding senior secured second lien notes,
convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes was not accrued or recorded in the consolidated statement of
operations as interest expense.
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The folff lowing table summarizes the losses (gains) on reorganization items, net:

Predecessor
Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020In thousands
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise $ (1,024,864)
Fresh start accounting adjustd ments 1,834,423
Professional service provider fees and other expenses 11,267
Success fees forff professional service providers 9,700
Loss on rejected contracts and leases 10,989
Valuation adjustments to debt classified as subject to compromise 757
DIP credit agreement fees 3,107
Acceleration of Predecessor stock compensation expense 4,601
Total reorganization items, net $ 849,980

Payments of professional service provider feeff s and success fees of $12.7 million and fees of $3.1 million related to the
Senior Secured Superpriority Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement (“DIP Facility”) were included in cash outflows from
operating activities and financing activities, respectively, in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the period
January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020.

Valuation Process

The fair values of our principal assets, including oil and naturalt gas properties, CO2 properties, pipelines, other
property and equipment, long-term contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers, favorablea and unfavorablea vendor
contracts, pipeline financing liabilities and right-of-use assets, asset retirement obligations and warrants were estimated as
of the Emergence Date.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

The Company’s principal assets are its oil and naturalt gas properties, which are accounted forff under the full cost
accounting method as described in Note 1, Nature of Oo peratO ions and Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies – Oil and
Natural Gas Properties. The Company determined the fair value of its oil and gas properties based on the discounted cash
flows expected to be generated from these assets. The computations were based on market conditions and reserves in place
as of the Emergence Date.

The fair value analysis was based on the Company’s estimated futureff production rates of proved and probable reserves
as prepared by the Company’s independent petroleum engineers. Discounted cash flowff models were prepared using the
estimated futureff revenues and operating costs for all developed wells and undeveloped properties comprising the proved
and probable reserves. Future revenues were based upon future production rates and forward strip oil and naturalt gas
prices as of the Emergence Date through 2024 and escalated forff inflation thereafter, adjusted for differentials. Operating
costs were adjusted for inflation beginning in year 2025. A risk adjustmd ent factor was applied to each reserve category,rr
consistent with the risk of the category. The discounted cash flow models also included adjustments for income tax
expenses.

Discount factors utilized were derived using a weighted average cost of capita al computation, which included an
estimated cost of debt and equity for market participants with similar geographiea s and asset development type and varying
corporate income tax rates based on the expected point of sale for each property’s produced assets. Reserve values were
also adjusted for any asset retirement obligations as well as for CO2 indirect costs not directly allocable to oil fields. Based
on this analysis, the Company concluded the fair value of its proved and probable reserves was $865.4 million as of the
Emergence Date (see footnote 10 to Fresh StartS Adjustments discussion below).
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CO2 Properties

The fair value of CO2 properties includes the value of CO2 mineral rights and associated infrastructuret and was
determined using the discounted cash flow method under the income approach. After-tax cash flows were forecast based
on expected costs to produce and transport CO2 as provided by management, and income was imputed using a gross-up of
costs based on a five-year average historical EBITDA margin for publicly traded companies that primarily develop or
produce natural gas. Cash flows were also adjusted for a market participant profit on CO2 costs, since Denbury charges oil
fielff ds forff CO2 use on a cost basis. Cash flows were then discounted using a rate considering reduced risk associated with
CO2 industrial sales.

Pipeli ines

The fair values of our pipelines were determined using a combination of the replacement cost method under the cost
approach and the discounted cash flow method under the income approach. The replacement cost method considers
historical acquisition costs for the assets adjusted for inflation, as well as factors in any potential obsolescence based on the
current condition of the assets and the ability of those assets to generate cash flow. For assets valued using the discounted
cash flow method, afterff -tax cash flows were forecast based on expected costs provided by management, and profits were
imputed using a gross-up of costs based on a five-year average historical EBITDA margin for publicly traded companies
that primarily transport naturalt gas. Pipeline depreciable lives represent the remaining estimated useful lives of the
pipelines, which will be depreciated on a straight-line basis ranging from 20 to 43 years.

Other Property and Equipmenti

The fair value of the non-reserve related property and equipment such as land, buildings, equipment, leasehold
improvements and software was determined using the replacement cost method under the cost approach which considers
historical acquisition costs for the assets adjusted for inflation, as well as factors in any potential obsolescence based on the
current condition of the assets and the ability of those assets to generate cash flow.

Long-Term Contractstt to Sell CO2 to Industrial Customers

The fair value of long-term contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers was determined using the multi-period excess
earnings method (“MPEEM”) under the income approach. MPEEM attributes cash flow to a specific intangible asset based
on residual cash flows from a set of assets generating revenues after accounting for appropriate returnst on and of other
assets contributing to that revenue generation. Cash flows were forecast based on expected changes in pricing, volumes,
renewal rates, and costs using volumes and prices through and beyond the initial contract terms. After-tax cash flows were
discounted using a rate considering reduced risk of these industrial contracts relative to overall oil and gas production risks.
The contracts will be depreciated over a useful life of seven to 14 years.

Favorable and Unfavn orable Vendor Contractstt

We recognized both favorablea and unfavorablea contracts using the incremental value method under the income
approach. The incremental value method calculates value on the basis of the pricing differential between historical
contracted rates and estimated pricing that the Company would most likely receive if it entered into similar contract
conditions (other than the price) as of the Emergence Date. The differential is applied to expected contract volumes, tax-
affected and discounted at a discount rate consistent with the risk of the associated cash flows.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of the asset retirement obligations was revalued based upon estimated current reclamation costs for our
assets with reclamation obligations, an appropriate long-term inflation adjustment, and our revised credit adjusted risk-free
rate (“CARFR”). The new CARFR was based on an evaluation of similar industry peers with similar factors such as
emergence, new capita al structure and current rates for oil and gas companies.
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Pipeline FinFF ancing Liabilities

The fair value of the pipeline financing liabilities was measured as the present value of the remaining payments under
the restructurt ed pipeline agreements (see Note 8, Long-Term Debt – Restructt uring of Pipeli ine Financing Transactions, forff
further discussion).

Warrantstt

The fair values of the warrants issued upon the Emergence Date were estimated by applying a Black-Scholes-Merton
model. The Black-Scholes-Merton model is a pricing model used to estimate the faiff r value of a European-style call or put
option/warrant based on a current stock price, strike price, time to maturity, risk-free rate, annual volatility rate, and annual
dividend yield.

The model used the following assumptim ons: implied stock price (total equity divided by total shares outstanding) of the
Successor’s shares of common stock of $22.14; exercise price per share of $32.59 and $35.41 for series A and B warrants,
respectively; expected volatility of 49.3% and 53.6% for series A and B warrants, respectively; risk-free interest rates of
0.3% and 0.2% for series A and B warrants, respectively, using the United States Treasury Constant Maturity rates; and an
expected annual dividend yield of 0%. Expected volatility was estimated using volatilities of similar entities whose share
or option prices and assumptim ons were publicly available. The time to maturity of the warrants was based on the
contractual terms of the warrar nts of five and three years for series A and series B warrantsr , respectively. The values were
also adjusted for potential dilution impacts.

Condensed Consolidated Balance SheSS et

The following illustrates the effects on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet due to the reorganization and fresh
start accounting adjustments. The explanatory notes follff owing the tablea below provide further details on the adjustments,
including the assumptim ons and methods used to determine fair value for its assets, liabilities, and warrants.

As of September 18, 2020

In thousands Predecessor
Reorganization
Adjustments

Fresh Start
Adjustments Successor

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 73,372 $ (27,787) (1) $ — $ 45,585
Restricted cash — 10,662 (2) — 10,662
Accruerr d production receivable 112,832 — — 112,832
Trade and other receivablesa , net 36,221 — — 36,221
Derivative assets 32,635 — — 32,635
Other current assets 12,968 (539) (3) — 12,429

Total currerr nt assets 268,028 (17,664) — 250,364
Property and equipment
Oil and natural gas properties (using full cost accounting)

Proved properties 11,723,546 — (10,941,313) 782,233
Unevaluated properties 650,553 — (538,570) 111,983

CO2 properties 1,198,515 — (1,011,169) 187,346
Pipelines 2,339,864 — (2,207,246) 132,618
Other property and equipment 201,565 — (104,152) 97,413

Less accumulated depletion, depreciation, amortization and
impairment (12,864,141) — 12,864,141 —

Net property and equipment 3,249,902 — (1,938,309) (10) 1,311,593
Operating lease right-of-usff e assets 1,774 — 69 (10) 1,843
Derivative assets 501 — — 501
Intangible assets, net 20,405 — 79,678 (11) 100,083
Other assets 81,809 8,241 (4) (3,027) (12) 87,023

Total assets $ 3,622,419 $ (9,423) $ (1,861,589) $ 1,751,407
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As of September 18, 2020

In thousands Predecessor
Reorganization
Adjustments

Fresh Start
Adjustments Successor

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 67,789 $ 102,793 (5) $ 3,738 (13) $ 174,320
Oil and gas production payablea 39,372 16,705 (6) — 56,077
Derivative liabilities 8,613 — — 8,613
Current maturities of long-term debt — 73,199 (6) 364 (14) 73,563
Operating lease liabilities — 757 (6) (29) (10) 728

Total currerr nt liabilities 115,774 193,454 4,073 313,301
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, net of currerr nt portion 140,000 42,610 (6) (25,151) (14) 157,459
Asset retirement obligations 2,727 180,408 (6) (24,697) (10) 158,438
Derivative liabilities 295 — — 295
Deferred tax liabia lities, net — 417,951 (6)(15) (414,120) (15) 3,831
Operating lease liabilities — 515 (6) 10 (10) 525
Other liabilities — 3,540 (6) 18,599 (16) 22,139

Total long-term liabilities not subject to compromise 143,022 645,024 (445,359) 342,687
Liabilities subject to compromise 2,823,506 (2,823,506) (6) — —
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders’ equity

Predecessor preferff rerr d stock — — — —

Predecessor common stock 510 (510) (7) — —
Predecessor paid-in capital in excess of par 2,764,915 (2,764,915) (7) — —

Predecessor treasury srr tock, at cost (6,202) 6,202 (7) — —

Successor preferred stock — — — —

Successor common stock — 50 (8) — 50
Successor paid-in capital in excess of par — 1,095,369 (8) — 1,095,369
Accumulated deficit (2,219,106) 3,639,409 (9) (1,420,303) (17) —

Total stockholders’ equity 540,117 1,975,605 (1,420,303) 1,095,419
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 3,622,419 $ (9,423) $ (1,861,589) $ 1,751,407

Reorganization Adjustmentstt

(1) Represents the net cash payments that occurred on the Emergence Date as followff s:

In thousands
Sources:
Cash proceeds from Successor Bank Credit Agreement $ 140,000
Total cash proceeds 140,000

Uses:
Payment in full of DIP Facility and pre-petition revolving bank credit facility (140,000)
Retained professional service provider fees paid to escrow account (10,662)
Non-retained professional service provider fees paid (7,420)
Accrued interest and feeff s on DIP Facility (1,464)
Debt issuance costs related to Successor Bank Credit Agreement (8,241)
Total cash uses (167,787)

Net uses $ (27,787)
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(2) Represents the transfer of funds to a restricted cash account utilized forff the payment of fees to retained professional
service providers assisting in the bankruptcy process.

(3) Represents the write-off of costs related to the DIP Facility and a run-offrr policy for directors’ and officers’ insurance
coverage, partially offset by the recording of prepaid amounts forff non-retained professional service provider fees.

(4) Represents debt issuance costs related to the Successor Bank Credit Agreement.

(5) Adjustments to accounts payablea and accruedr liabilities as folff lows:

In thousands
Accrual of professional service provider fees $ 2,826
Payment of accrued interest and feeff s on DIP Facility (1,464)
Reinstatement of accounts payable and accrued liabia lities from liabila ities subject to compromise 101,431
Accounts payable and accrued liabia lities $ 102,793

(6) Liabilities subject to compromise were settled as follows in accordance with the Plan:

In thousands
Liabilities subject to compromise prior to the Emergence Date:
Settled liabilities subject to compromise
Senior secured second lien notes $ 1,629,457
Convertible senior notes 234,015
Senior subordinated notes 251,480
Total settled liabilities subject to compromise 2,114,952

Reinstated liabilities subject to compromise
Current maturities of long-term debt 73,199
Accounts payable and accrued liabia lities 101,431
Oil and gas production payable 16,705
Operating lease liabila ities, current 757
Long-term debt, net of current portion 42,610
Asset retirement obligations 180,408
Deferred tax liabila ities 289,389
Operating lease liabilities, long-term 515
Other long-term liabilities 3,540
Total reinstated liabia lities subjeb ct to compromise 708,554

Total liabilities subjeb ct to compromise 2,823,506

Issuance of New Common Stock to second lien note holders (1,014,608)
Issuance of New Common Stock to convertible note holders (53,400)
Issuance of series A warrants to convertible note holders (15,683)
Issuance of series B warrants to senior subordinated note holders (6,398)
Reinstatement of liabilities subjeb ct to compromise (708,553)

Gain on settlement of liabilities subjeb ct to compromise $ 1,024,864

(7) Represents the cancellation of the Predecessor’s common stock, treasury stock, and related components of the
Predecessor’s paid-in capita al in excess of par. Paid-in capita al in excess of par includes $4.6 million as a result of
terminated Predecessor stock compensation plans.
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(8) Represents the Successor’s common stock and additional paid-in capital as follows:

In thousands
Capita al in excess of par value of 47,499,999 issued and outstanding shares of New Common Stock
issued to holders of the senior secured second lien note claims $ 1,014,608
Capita al in excess of par value of 2,500,000 issued and outstanding shares of New Common Stock
issued to holders of the convertible senior note claims 53,400
Fair value of series A warrants issued to convertible senior note holders 15,683
Fair value of series B warrants issued to senior subordinated note holders 6,398
Fair value of series B warrants issued to Predecessor equity holders 5,330
Total change in Successor common stock and additional paid-in capital 1,095,419

Less: Par value of Successor common stock (50)
Change in Successor additional paid-in capital $ 1,095,369

(9) Reflects the cumulative net impact of the effects on accumulated deficit as follows:

In thousands
Cancellation of Predecessor common stock, paid-in capia tal in excess of par, and treasury stock $ 2,763,824
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise 1,024,864
Acceleration of Predecessor stock compensation expense (4,601)
Recognition of tax expenses related to reorganization adjustments (128,556)
Professional service provider fees recognized at emergence (9,700)
Issuance of series B warrants to Predecessor equity holders (5,330)
Other (1,092)
Net impact to Predecessor accumulated deficit $ 3,639,409

Fresh StartS Adjustmentstt

(10)Reflects faiff r value adjustments to our (i) oil and naturalt gas properties, CO2 properties, pipelines, and other property
and equipment, as well as the elimination of accumulated depletion, depreciation, and amortization, (ii) operating lease
right-of-use assets and liabilities, and (iii) asset retirement obligations.

(11)Reflects fair value adjustmd ents to our long-term contracts to sell CO2 to industrial customers.

(12)Reflects fair value adjustmd ents to our other assets as follows:

In thousands
Fair value adjustd ment for CO2 and oil pipeline line-fill $ (3,698)
Fair value adjustments forff escrow accounts 671
Fair value adjustments to other assets $ (3,027)

(13)Reflects faiff r value adjustments to accounts payable and accrued liabia lities as follows:

In thousands
Fair value adjustd ment for the current portion of an unfavorable vendor contract $ 3,500
Fair value adjustd ment for the current portion of Predecessor asset retirement obligation 689
Write-off accrued interest on NEJD pipeline financing (451)
Fair value adjustd ments to accounts payable and accrued liabia lities $ 3,738

Denbury Inc.
Notes to Consolidatll edtt Finanii ciali Statett ments

99



(14)Represents adjustments to current and long-term maturities of debt associated with pipeline lease finaff ncings. The
cumulative effecff t is as followff s:

In thousands
Fair value adjustd ment for Free State pipeline lease finaff ncing $ (24,699)
Fair value adjustment for NEJD pipeline lease financing (88)
Fair value adjustments to current and long-term maturities of debt $ (24,787)

Our pipeline lease finaff ncings were restructured in late October 2020 (see Note 8, Long-Term Debt – Restructuring of
Pipeli ine Financing Transactions).

(15)Represents (i) adjustment to deferred taxes, including the recognition of tax expenses related to reorganization
adjustments as a result of the cancellation of debt and retaining tax attributes forff the Successor and the reinstatement of
deferred tax liabia lities subject to compromise totaling $128.6 million and (ii) adjustments to deferred tax liabia lities
related to fresh start accounting of $414.1 million.

(16)Represents a faiff r value adjustment for the long-term portion of an unfavorablea vendor contract.

(17)Represents the cumulative effecff t of the fresh start accounting adjustmd ents discussed abovea .

Note 3. Predecessor Divestiture

On March 4, 2020, the Predecessor sold half of its working interest positions in four southeast Texas oil fields forff $40
million net cash and a carried interest in ten wells to be drilled by the purchaser. The Predecessor did not record a gain or
loss on the sale of the properties in accordance with the full cost method of accounting.

Note 4. Revenue Recognition

We record revenue in accordance with FASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts wtt ith Ctt ustCC omers. The core principle
of FASC Topic 606 is that an entity should recognize revenue for the transfer of goods or services equal to the amount of
consideration that it expects to be entitled to receive for those goods or services. This principle is achieved through
applying a fiveff -step process for customer contract revenue recognition:

• Identify the contract or contracts with a customer – We derive the majoa rity of our revenues from oil and naturalt
gas sales contracts and CO2 sales and transportation contracts. The contracts specify each party’s rights regarding the
goods or services to be transferred and contain commercial substance as they impact our financial statements. A high
percentage of our receivables balance is currr ent, and we have not historically entered into contracts with counterparties that
pose a credit risk without requiring adequate economic protection to ensure collection.

• Identify the perfoff rmance obligations in the contract – Each of our revenue contracts specify a volume per day, or
production from a lease designated in the contract (a distinct good), to be delivered at the delivery point over the term of
the contract (the identified performance obligation). The customer takes delivery and physical possession of the product at
the delivery point, which generally is also the point at which title transferff s and the customer obtains the risks and rewards
of ownership (the identified performance obligation is satisfied).

• Determine the transaction price – Typically, our oil and naturalt gas contracts define the price as a formulff a price
based on the average market price, as specified on set dates each month, for the specific commodity during the month of
delivery. Certain of our CO2 contracts define the price as a fixeff d contractualt price adjusted to an inflation index to reflect
market pricing. Given the industry practice to invoice customers the month following the month of delivery and our high
probability of collection of payment, no significant financing component is included in our contracts.

• Allocate the transaction price to the perforff mance obligations in the contract – The majoria ty of our revenue
contracts are short-term, with terms of one year or less, to which we have applied the practical expedient permitted under
the standard eliminating the requirement to disclose the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations.
In limited instances, we have revenue contracts with terms greater than one year; however, the future delivery volumes are
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wholly unsatisfied as they represent separate performance obligations with variablea consideration. We utilized the practical
expedient which eliminates the requirement to disclose the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
if the variable consideration is allocated entirely to wholly unsatisfied performance obligations. As there is only one
performance obligation associated with our contracts, no allocation of the transaction price is necessary.

• Recognize revenue when, or as, we satisfy aff perforff mance obligation – Once we have delivered the volume of
commodity to the delivery prr oint and the customer takes delivery and possession, we are entitled to payment and we invoice
the customer forff such delivered production. Payment under most oil and CO2 contracts is made within a month follff owing
product delivery arr nd for naturalt gas and NGL contracts is generally made within two months following delivery. Timing
of revenue recognition may differ fromff the timing of invoicing to customers; however, as the right to consideration after
delivery is unconditional based on only the passage of time before payment of the consideration is due, upon delivery we
record a receivablea in “Accrued production receivablea ” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In addition to revenues from oil and naturalt gas sales contracts and CO2 sales and transportation contracts, the
Company enters into marketing arrangements forff the purchase and sale of crude oil for third parties in the Gulf Coast
region. Revenues and expenses from these transactions are presented on a gross basis, as we act as a principal in the
transaction by assuming control of the commodities purchased and the responsibility to deliver the commodities sold.
Revenue is recognized when control transfers to the purchaser at the delivery point based on the price received from the
purchaser.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tablea summarizes our revenues by product type:
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Oil sales $ 199,769 $ 489,251 $ 1,205,083 $ 1,412,358
Natural gas sales 1,339 2,850 6,937 10,231
CO2 sales and transportation fees 9,419 21,049 34,142 31,145
Oil marketing revenues 5,376 8,543 14,198 1,921
Total revenues $ 215,903 $ 521,693 $ 1,260,360 $ 1,455,655

Note 5. Leases

We evaluate contracts for leasing arrangements at inception. We lease office space, equipment, and vehicles that have
non-cancelablea lease terms. Currently, our outstanding leases have remaining terms up to 7 years, with certain land leases
having remaining terms up to 49 years. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recorded on our balance sheet. As
part of the Chapter 11 Restructuring, the Predecessor elected to terminate some of its operating and finance leases,
primarily related to office space. The tablea below reflects our operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease
liabilities, which primarily consist of our office leases:

Successor Predecessor
In thousands December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Operating leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 20,342 $ 34,099

Operating lease liabia lities – current $ 1,350 $ 6,901
Operating lease liabila ities – long-term 19,460 41,932
Total operating lease liabilities $ 20,810 $ 48,833
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The majority of our leases contain renewal options, typically exercisablea at our sole discretion. At emergence, we
recorded right-of-use assets and liabilities based on the fair value of lease payments and utilized our incremental borrowing
rate based on information available at the Emergence Date. The following weighted average remaining lease terms and
discount rates related to our outstanding operating leases:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Weighted average remaining lease term 6.3 years 5.7 years
Weighted average discount rate 5.6 % 6.7 %

Lease costs for operating leases or leases with a term of 12 months or less are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. For finaff nce leases, interest on the lease liability and the amortization of the right-of-use asset are
recognized separately, with the depreciable life reflective of the expected lease term. The Predecessor Company previously
subleased part of the office space included in its operating leases for which it received rental payments. Since those office
space leases were terminated during the Chapter 11 Restructuring, the underlying sublease agreements were also
terminated. The Successor Company subsequently entered into an operating lease for a new corporate office space which
commenced in October 2020. The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the components of lease costs and sublease income:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended

In thousands Income Statement Dec. 31, 2019
Operating lease cost General and administrative

expenses $ 872 $ 5,683 $ 8,924
Lease operating expenses 158 214 58
CO2 operating and
discovery expenses 14 37 5

$ 1,044 $ 5,934 $ 8,987
Finance lease cost
Amortization of right-of-use assets Depletion, depreciation, and

amortization $ 3 $ 9 $ 1,188
Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense 1 3 40
Total finance lease cost $ 4 $ 12 $ 1,228

Sublease income General and administrative
expenses $ 100 $ 2,584 $ 4,127
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Our statement of cash flows included the folff lowing activity related to our operating and finance leases:
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended
Dec. 31, 2019In thousands

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities
Operating cash flows fromff operating leases $ 341 $ 7,341 $ 10,995
Operating cash flows fromff interest on finance leases 1 3 40
Financing cash flows from finance leases 78 10 1,275

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
Operating leases 19,902 1,049 415
Finance leases — 162 —

The following table summarizes by year the maturities of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020:

In thousands
Operating
Leases

2021 $ 2,496
2022 4,149
2023 4,135
2024 4,111
2025 4,149
Thereafter 6,263
Total minimum lease payments 25,303
Less: Amount representing interest (4,493)
Present value of minimum lease liabia lities $ 20,810
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Note 6. Asset Retirement Obligations

The following tabla e summarizes the changes in our asset retirement obligations:
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended

In thousands Dec. 31, 2019
Beginning asset retirement obligations $ 163,368 $ 181,760 $ 176,585
Liabilities incurred and assumed during period 738 736 4,354
Revisions in estimated retirement obligations 22,660 3,592 9,206
Liabilities settled and sold during period (3,439) (10,041) (24,342)
Accretion expense 2,954 11,329 15,957
Fresh start accounting adjustment — (24,008) —

Ending asset retirement obligations 186,281 163,368 181,760
Less: current asset retirement obligations(1) (6,943) (4,930) (4,652)

Long-term asset retirement obligations $ 179,338 $ 158,438 $ 177,108

(1) Included in “Accounts payable and accrued liabia lities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Liabilities assumed relate to minor acquisitions, with liabilities incurred generally relating to wells and facilities.

We have escrow accounts that are legally restricted for certain of our asset retirement obligations. The balances of
these escrow accounts were $55.2 million and $53.4 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These
balances are primarily invested in U.S. Treasury bonds, recorded at amortized cost, and money market accounts, which
investments are included in “Other assets” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. A portion of these investments are
included in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balances on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (see Note 1,
Nature of Oo peratO ions and Summary of Signifii cant Accounting Policies – Cash,CC Cash Equivalents,tt and Restricted Cash).
The carrying values of these investments approxima ate their estimated faiff r market value as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Note 7. Unevaluated Property

A summary of the unevaluated property costs excluded from oil and naturalt gas properties being amortized at
December 31, 2020, and the year in which the costs were incurred follff ows:

December 31, 2020
Costs Incurred During:

In thousands Successor 2020

Fresh Start
Adjustments

(Sept. 18, 2020)(1) Total
Property acquisition costs $ — $ 84,019 $ 84,019
Exploration and development 46 — 46
Capita alized interest 1,239 — 1,239
Total $ 1,285 $ 84,019 $ 85,304

(1) Reflects the carryingrr values of our unevaluated properties as a result of the application of fresh start accounting upon
emergence from bankruptcy (see Note 2, Fresh StartS Accounting, forff additional information) that remain in
unevaluated properties as of December 31, 2020.
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Our property acquisition costs reflected in the tablea above relate to faiff r values assigned during fresh start accounting
and are primarily associated with our Cedar Creek Anticline fields and CO2 tertiary potential at Tinsley, Oyster Bayou and
Salt Creek fieff lds. Exploration and development costs shown as unevaluated properties are primarily associated with
our tertiary oil fieff ld projects that are under development but did not have associated proved reserves at December 31, 2020.

Costs are transferred into the amortization base on an ongoing basis as projects are evaluated and proved reserves
establia shed or impairment determined. We review the excluded properties forff impairment at least an lnually.ly. We cur lrentlr yy
es itimate thhat evallua ition of hthe majorjora ityity of hthese propertiies a dnd hthe i lincl iusion of htheiir costs iin hthe amor itizatiion bbas ie is
expect ded to bbe com lpletedd wi hiithin fiiveff to te yn yea .rs Until we are able to determine whether there are any proved reserves
attributablea to the abovea costs, we are not able to assess the futuret impact on the amortization rate of the full cost pool.

Note 8. Long-Term Debt

The tablea below reflects long-term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Successor Predecessor
In thousands December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Successor Senior Secured Bank Credit Agreement $ 70,000 $ —
Predecessor Senior Secured Bank Credit Agreement — —
9% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes dued 2021 — 614,919
9¼% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes dued 2022 — 455,668
7¾% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes dued 2024 — 531,821
7½% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes dued 2024 — 20,641
6⅜% Convertible Senior Notes dued 2024 — 245,548
6⅜% Senior Subordinated Notes dued 2021 — 51,304
5½% Senior Subordinated Notes dued 2022 — 58,426
4⅝% Senior Subordinated Notes dued 2023 — 135,960
Pipeline financings 68,008 167,439
Total debt principal balance 138,008 2,281,726

Debt discount — (101,767)
Future interest payable — 164,914
Debt issuance costs — (10,009)
Total debt, net of debt issuance costs and discount 138,008 2,334,864

Less: current maturities of long-term debt (68,008) (102,294)
Long-term debt and capia tal lease obligations $ 70,000 $ 2,232,570

The ultimate parent company in our corporate structr ure,t Denbury Inc., is the sole issuer of all our outstanding
obligations under our Successor Bank Credit Agreement. Denbury Inc. has no independent assets or operations. Each of
the subsidiary guarantors of such obligations is 100% owned, directly or indirectly, by Denbury Inc, and the guarantees of
such obligations are full and unconditional and joint and several.

Prior to our emergence from bankruptcy, our debt consisted of the Predecessor’s Bank Credit Agreement, senior
secured second lien notes, convertible senior notes, senior subordinated notes, pipeline financings, and capita al lease
obligations. On the Emergence Date, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, all outstanding obligations under the senior secured
second lien notes, convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes were fully extinguished, relieving approximately
$2.1 billion of debt by issuing equity and/or warrants in the Successor to the holders of that debt. See Note 1, Nature ofo
Operations and Summary of Signifii cant Accounting Policies – Emergence froff m VoluntaryVV Reorganization Under Chapter
11 of the Bankruptcy Cc odeCC , forff additional information.
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Successor Senior Secured Bank Credit Facility

In connection with our emergence from Chaptea r 11 proceedings on September 18, 2020, we entered into a new credit
agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and other lenders party thereto (the “Successor Bank
Credit Agreement”). The Successor Bank Credit Agreement is a senior secured revolving credit facility with an initial
borrowing base and lender commitments of $575 million. Additionally, under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement,
letters of credit are available in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100 million, and short-term swingline loans are
available in an aggregate amount not to exceed $25 million, each subject to the availablea commitments under the Successor
Bank Credit Agreement. Availabila ity under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement is subject to a borrowing base, which is
redetermined semiannually on or around May 1 and November 1 of each year, with our next scheduled redetermination
around May 1, 2021. The borrowing base is adjusted at the lenders’ discretion and is based, in part, upon external factors
over which we have no control. The borrowing base is subject to a reduction by twenty-fivet percent (25%) of the principal
amount of any unsecured or subordinated debt issued or incurred. The borrowing base may also be reduced if we sell
borrowing base properties and/or cancel commodity derivative positions with an aggregate value in excess of 5% of the
then-effective borrowing base between redeterminations. If our outstanding debt under the Successor Bank Credit
Agreement exceeds the then-effective borrowing base, we would be required to repay the excess amount over a period not
to exceed six months. The Successor Bank Credit Agreement matures on January 30, 2024.

The Successor Bank Credit Agreement prohibits us from paying dividends on our common stock through September
17, 2021. Commencing on September 18, 2021, we may pay dividends on our common stock or make other restricted
payments in an amount not to exceed Distributable Free Cash Flow (as defined in the Successor Bank Credit Agreement),
but only if (1) no event of default or borrowing base deficiency exists; (2) our total leverage ratio is 2 to 1 or lower; and (3)
availability under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement is at least 20%. The Successor Bank Credit Agreement also limits
our ability to, among other things, incur and repay other indebtedness; grant liens; engage in certain mergers,
consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; engage in sales of assets; make acquisitions and investments; make other
restricted payments (including redeeming, repurchasing or retiring our common stock); and enter into commodity
derivative agreements, in each case subjeu ct to customary exceptions.

The Successor Bank Credit Agreement is secured by (1) our proved oil and naturalt gas properties, which are held
through our restricted subsidiaries; (2) the pledge of equity interests of such subsidiaries; (3) a pledge of our commodity
derivative agreements; (4) a pledge of deposit accounts, securities accounts and commodity accounts of Denbury Inc. and
such subsidiaries (as applicablea ); and (5) a security interest in substantially all other collateral that may be perfected by a
Uniform Commercial Code filing, subject to certain exceptions.

The Successor Bank Credit Agreement contains certain financial performance covenants including the following:

• A Consolidated Total Debt to Consolidated EBITDAX covenant, with such ratio not to exceed 3.5 times; and
• A requirement to maintain a current ratio (i.e., Consolidated Current Assets to Consolidated Current Liabia lities) of

at least 1.0 times.

For purposes of computing the current ratio per the Successor Bank Credit Agreement, Consolidated Current Assets
exclude the current portion of derivative assets but include availablea borrowing capaca ity under the Successor Bank Credit
Agreement, and Consolidated Current Liabia lities exclude the current portion of derivative liabia lities as well as the current
portions of long-term indebtedness outstanding.

Loans under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement are subject to varying rates of interest based on either (1) for ABR
Loans, a base rate determined under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement (the “ABR”) plus an applicable margin ranging
from 2% to 3% per annum, or (b) for LIBOR Loans, the LIBOR rate (subject to a 1% floor) plus an applicablea margin
ranging from 3% to 4% per annum (capitalized terms as defined in the Successor Bank Credit Agreement). The weighted
average interest rate on borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2020 under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement was
4.0%. The undrawn portion of the aggregate lender commitments under the Successor Bank Credit Agreement is subject to
a commitment fee of 0.5%. As of December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with all debt covenants under the Successor
Bank Credit Agreement.
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The above description of our Successor Bank Credit Agreement and defined terms are contained in the Successor Bank
Credit Agreement.

Restructuring of Pipeline Financing Transactions

In May 2008, we closed two transactions with Genesis Energy, L.P. (“Genesis”) involving two of our pipelines. The
NEJD pipeline system included a 20-year secured financing lease, and the Free State Pipeline included a long-term
transportation service agreement. On August 7, 2020, Genesis, as the beneficiary of the $41.3 million letter of credit issued
as financial assurances under the NEJD pipeline lease financing, drew the full amount of such letter of credit in accordance
with its terms as a result of the Predecessor’s Chapter 11 Restructuring, which resulted in a corresponding reduction to the
principal balance outstanding under such financing. In late October 2020, we restructuredt our CO2 pipeline financing
arrangements with Genesis, whereby (1) Denbury reacquired the NEJD pipeline system from Genesis in exchange for
$70 million to be paid in four equal payments during 2021, representing full settlement of all remaining obligations under
the NEJD secured financing lease; and (2) Denbury reacquired the Free State Pipeline from Genesis in exchange for a one-
time payment of $22.5 million on October 30, 2020.

Predecessor Senior Secured Bank Credit Facility

From December 2014 through September 18, 2020, the Company maintained a senior secured revolving credit facility
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and other lenders party thereto (the “Predecessor Bank Credit
Agreement”). All but a minor portion of the Predecessor Bank Credit Agreement was refinanced through the DIP Facility
from August 4, 2020 through September 18, 2020, which was in turn refinanced by the Successor Bank Credit Agreement
upon emergence from the Chapter 11 Restructuring.

Extinguishment of Predecessor Senior Secured Second Lien Notes, Convertible Senior Notes, and Senior
Subordinated Notes

Upon emergence from the Chapter 11 Restructuringt on September 18, 2020, the Predecessor’s 9% Senior Secured
Second Lien Notes due 2021 (the “2021 Notes”), 9¼% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes due 2022, 7¾% Senior Secured
Second Lien Notes due 2024 (the “7¾% Senior Secured Notes”), 7½% Senior Secured Second Lien Notes due 2024 (the
“7½% Senior Secured Notes”), 6⅜% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 (the “2024 Convertible Notes”), 6⅜% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2021 (the “Subordinated 2021 Notes”), 5½% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2022 (the
“Subordinated 2022 Notes”), and 4⅝% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2023 (the “Subordinated 2023 Notes”) were fully
extinguished by issuing equity and/or warrants in the Successor to the holders of that debt. The Predecessor debt
discussions that follow are included to provide context on the impact of these transactions on the Predecessor’s financial
statements.

Second Quarter 2020 Conversion of 2024 Convertible Notes

During the second quarter of 2020, holders of $19.9 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of the
Predecessor’s 2024 Convertible Notes converted their notes into shares of the Predecessor’s common stock, at the rates
specified in the indenturet for the notes, resulting in the issuance of 7.4 million shares of Predecessor common stock upon
conversion. The debt principal balance, net of debt discounts, totaling $13.9 million, was reclassified to “Paid-in capita al in
excess of par” and “Common stock” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Predecessor upon the conversion of the notes
into shares of Predecessor common stock.

First Quarter 2020 Repurchases of Senior Secured Notes

During March 2020, the Predecessor repurchased a total of $30.2 million aggregate principal amount of its 2021 Notes
in open-market transactions for a total purchase price of $14.2 million, excluding accrued interest. In connection with
these transactions, the Predecessor recognized a $19.0 million gain on debt extinguishment, net of unamortized debt
issuance costs and futuret interest payable written off.
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2019 Predecessor Debt Reduction Transactions

During the third quarter of 2019, the Predecessor repurchased $11.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its then
outstanding Subordinated 2022 Notes in open market transactions for a total purchase price of $5.3 million, excluding
accrued interest. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2019, the Predecessor repurchased principally through
exchanges an additional $25.3 million in aggregate principal amount of its then outstanding Subordinated 2022 Notes and
$75.7 million in aggregate principal amount of its then outstanding Subordinated 2023 Notes for $11.2 million in cash and
issuance of 38.3 million shares of the Predecessor’s common stock. In connection with these transactions, the Predecessor
recognized a $55.5 million gain on debt extinguishment, net of unamortized debt issuance costs written off, during the year
ended December 31, 2019, in its Consolidated Statements of Operations.

During June 2019, in a series of debt exchanges, the Predecessor extended the maturities of its outstanding long-term
debt and reduced the amount of outstanding debt principal. As part of these transactions, holders exchanged a total of
$468.4 million aggregate principal amount of the Predecessor’s then outstanding senior subordinated notes for $102.6
million aggregate principal amount of 7¾% Senior Secured Notes, $245.5 million aggregate principal amount of 2024
Convertible Notes and $120.0 million of cash. The exchanged senior subordinated notes consisted of $152.2 million
aggregate principal amount of Subordinated 2021 Notes, $219.9 million aggregate principal amount of Subordinated 2022
Notes and $96.3 million aggregate principal amount of Subordinated 2023 Notes. In addition, holders also exchanged
$425.4 million of 7½% Senior Secured Notes for $425.4 million aggregate principal amount of 7¾% Senior Secured
Notes. In July 2019, holders exchanged an additional $4.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7½% Senior Secured
Notes for $3.8 million aggregate principal amount of 7¾% Senior Secured Notes. As a result, the Predecessor recognized a
noncash gain on debt extinguishment, net of transaction costs, totaling $100.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2019, in its Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In accordance with FASC 470-50, Modificff ations and Extinguishments, the June 2019 exchange of the Predecessor’s
existing senior subordinated notes was accounted for as a debt extinguishment. Therefore, the 7¾% Senior Secured Notes
and 2024 Convertible Notes were recorded on the balance sheet at fair market value based upon initial trading prices
following their issuance, resulting in a discount to their principal amount of $22.6 million and $79.9 million, respectively.

Separately, the June 2019 exchange of the Predecessor’s existing senior secured second lien notes was accounted for
as a modification of those notes. Therefore, no gain or loss was recognized, and previously deferred debt issuance costs of
$6.9 million were treated as a discount to the principal amount of the 7¾% Senior Secured Notes.

Debt Issuance Costs

In connection with the issuance of our outstanding long-term debt, we have incurred debt issuance costs, which are
being amortized to interest expense using the straight line or effective interest method over the term of each related facility
or borrowing. Remaining unamortized debt issuance costs were $8.4 million and $14.0 million at December 31, 2020
(Successor) and 2019 (Predecessor), respectively. Issuance costs associated with our Successor Bank Credit Agreement
(Successor period) and Predecessor Bank Credit Agreement (Predecessor period) are included in “Other assets” in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, and issuance costs associated with the Predecessor’s senior secured second lien notes,
convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes are included as a reduction of “Long-term debt, net of current
portion” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the Predecessor period.
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Indebtedness Repayment Schedule

At December 31, 2020, our indebtedness is payablea over the next fivff e years and thereafter as follows:
In thousands
2021 $ 68,008
2022 —
2023 —
2024 70,000
2025 —
Thereafter —
Total indebtedness $ 138,008

Note 9. Income Taxes

Our income tax provision (benefit) is as follows:
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Current income tax expense (benefit)
Federal $ — $ (6,407) $ 2,645 $ (17,885)
State 30 (853) 1,236 1,884
Total current income tax expense (benefit) 30 (7,260) 3,881 (16,001)

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Federal — (319,011) 89,950 93,395
State (2,556) (89,858) 10,521 9,839
Total deferred income tax expense (benefit) (2,556) (408,869) 100,471 103,234
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (2,526) $ (416,129) $ 104,352 $ 87,233

At December 31, 2020, we had no federal net operating loss carryfrr orff war rds (“NOLs”), tax effected business interest
expense carryfrr orff warr rd, or tax credits, as the Company’s federal tax attributes were fullff y reduced in accordance with the
attribute reduction and ordering rules of Section 108 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 pertaining to discharge of
indebtedness. At December 31, 2020, we had $0.6 million of alternative minimum tax credits, which under the Tax Cut
and Jobs Act passed in 2017 will be fullff y refundablea by 2021, and are recorded as a receivable on the balance sheet, and
state NOLs and tax credits totaling $56.0 million (before provision for valuation allowance) related to all our state
operations, which continue as carryforwards for the Successor. Our state NOLs expire in various years, starting in 2025.

Deferred income taxes reflectff the availabla e tax carryforwards and the temporary differences based on tax laws and
statutory rates in effect at the December 31, 2020 and 2019 balance sheet dates. As of December 31, 2020, we had $75.1
million of net state deferred tax assets associated with operations in Louisiana, Mississippi, Montana, North Dakota and
Alabama, which were fullff y offset with valuation allowances. The valuation allowances will remain until the realization of
future deferred tax benefits are more likely than not to become utilized.
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The changes in our valuation allowance are detailed below:
Successor Predecessor

Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020

Year Ended

In thousands Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2018
Beginning balance $ 129,840 $ 77,215 $ 51,093 $ 51,134
Charges 2,269 77,138 26,122 —
Deductions (2,701) (24,513) — (41)

Ending balance $ 129,408 $ 129,840 $ 77,215 $ 51,093

As of December 31, 2020, we had no unrecognized tax benefits recorded related to an uncertain tax position.

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabia lities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as followff s:

Successor Predecessor
In thousands December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Deferred tax assets
Property and equipment $ 59,207 $ —
Loss and tax credit carryforwards – state 55,979 52,917
Accrued liabia lities and other reserves 15,632 29,788
Derivative contracts 13,090 —
Lease liabilities 6,354 10,841
Business interest expense carryforward — 24,513
Business credit carryforwards — 71,555
Unrecognized gain and original issue discount on debt exchange — 41,556
Other 4,092 15,664
Valuation allowances (129,408) (77,215)
Total deferred tax assets 24,946 169,619

Deferred tax liabila ities
CO2 and other contracts (20,030) —
Operating lease right-of-use assets (6,190) (7,780)
Property and equipment — (569,254)
Derivative contracts — (1,120)
Other — (1,695)
Total deferred tax liabila ities (26,220) (579,849)
Total net deferred tax liabila ity $ (1,274) $ (410,230)
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Our reconciliation of income tax expense computed by appla ying the U.S. federal statutory rrr ate and the reported
effective tax rate on income fromff continuing operations is as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Income tax provision calculated using the federal
statutory income tax rate $ (11,169) $ (388,228) $ 67,475 $ 86,086
State income taxes, net of fedff eral income tax benefit (2,532) (86,937) 7,435 11,968
Tax shortfall (windfall) on stock-based
compensation deduction — (1,502) 1,912 (1,565)
Valuation allowance 9,653 19,344 26,122 (42)
Tax attributes reduction – net of CODI exclusion — 31,667 — —
Enhanced oil recovery tax credits generated — — — (10,818)
Other 1,522 9,527 1,408 1,604
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (2,526) $ (416,129) $ 104,352 $ 87,233

We file consolidated and separate income tax returnst in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state
jurisdictions. The statutes of limitation for our income tax returns forff tax years ending prior to 2017 have lapsa ed and
therefore are not subject to examination by respective taxing authorities. We have not paid any significant interest or
penalties associated with our income taxes.

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity

Registration Rights Agreement

On the Emergence Date, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”) with certain former beneficial holders of the second lien notes of the Predecessor who entered into the RSA
dated July 28, 2020, and that together with their affiliates received 4% or more of New Common Stock (including shares to
which they are entitled uponu exercise of series A warrants of the Successor) pursuant to the Plan, or their affilff iates.

Under the Registration Rights Agreement, security holders have customary demand and piggyback registration rights,
subject to the limitations set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement. Securityholders have the right to demand the
Company to effectuatt e the distribution of any or all of its Registrable Securities (as defined in the Registration Rights
Agreement) by means of an underwritten offering pursuant to an effective registration statement; provided, however, that
the expected aggregate offering price is equal to or greater than $25.0 million or includes at least 20% of the then-
outstanding Registrable Securities.

These registration rights are subject to certain conditions and limitations, including the right of the underwriters to
limit the number of shares to be included in an offering and the Company’s right to delay or withdraw a registration
statement under certain circumstances. The Company will generally pay all registration expenses in connection with its
obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement, regardless of whether a registration statement is filed or becomes
effective. The registration rights granted in the Registration Rights Agreement are subject to customary indemnification
and contribution provisions, as well as customary rrr estrictions such as blackout periods and, if an underwritten offering is
contemplated, limitations on the number of shares to be included in the underwritten offering that may be imposed by the
managing underwriter.

401(k) Plan

We offer a 401(k) plan to which employees may contribute earnings subject to IRS limitations. We match 100% of an
employee’s contribution, up to 6% of compensation, as defined by the plan, which is vested immediately. Matching
contributions to the 401(k) plan totaled $1.1 million for the period September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020
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(Successor) and $4.4 million for the period January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020 (Predecessor). During 2019 and
2018, our matching contributions to the 401(k) plan were approxia mately $6.3 million and $6.2 million, respectively.

Note 11. Stock Compensation

Below is a description of stock compensation relating to both the Predecessor periods (2018, 2019 and January 1, 2020
through September 18, 2020) and the Successor period (September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020). All stock
compensation plans and awards in effect during the Predecessor periods were cancelled upon emergence of the Company
from its Chaptea r 11 Restructuringt on September 18, 2020. The plans and awards described below which are designated as
Successor plans or awards are the only such plans and awards in effect as of December 31, 2020. Each of the plans and
awards described below are designated as either Predecessor or Successor, with the exception of the section labela ed “Stock-kk
Based Compensation – Predecessor and Successor” which pertains to both Predecessor and Successor periods.

Stock-based Compensation – Predecessor and Successor

Stock-based compensation expense is included in “General and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Stock-based compensation associated with our employees involved in exploration and drilling
activities is capitalized as part of “Oil and naturalt gas properties” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our accounting
policy is to account for forfeiturest as they occur.

The following tablea sets forth stock-based compensation costs for the periods indicated:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Stock-based compensation expense included in
G&A $ 8,212 $ 4,111 $ 12,470 $ 11,951
Stock-based compensation capia talized 695 1,660 4,018 3,487
Total cost of stock-based compensation
arrangements $ 8,907 $ 5,771 $ 16,488 $ 15,438

Income tax benefit recognized forff stock-based
compensation arrangements $ 2,053 $ 1,028 $ 3,118 $ 2,988

Management Incentive Plan – Successor

In connection with our emergence from bankruptcy, the Plan provided forff the adoption of a management incentive
plan, the Denbury Inc. 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”), effectff ive as of the Emergence Date, through
an amendment and restatement of the Denbury Resources Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus Stock and Incentive
Plan, as amended and restated as of March 26, 2020. The LTIP reserved 6.2 million shares of Denbury’s common stock
for awards to officers, other employees, directors and other service providers. The LTIP provides for,ff among other things,
the grant of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation
rights, dividend equivalents, other stock-based awards, cash awards, or any combination of the foregoing. On December 2,
2020, Denbury’srr board of directors approved and ratified the LTIP, with initial awards covering 2.2 million shares of
common stock granted on December 4, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, 4.0 million shares were available forff future grants
under the LTIP, all of which could be issued in the form of restricted stock units or performance stock units. Our incentive
compensation program is administered by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. The LTIP will expire
September 2030.
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Restricted Stock Units – Successor

In December 2020, non-performance-based restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards were granted to directors and a
limited number of employees under the Successor’s LTIP. Holders of non-performance-based RSUs will receive shares of
Successor common stock equal to the number of RSUs that have vested uponu settlement. Non-performance-based RSUs
generally vest over a three-year vesting period with delivery of the shares occurring at the end of the three-year vesting
period. Shares to be delivered to participants are expected to be made available fromff authorized but unissued shares
reserved under the LTIP. The grant-date faiff r value of the RSUs is based on the fair market value of our common stock on
the date of grant.

As of December 31, 2020, there was $29.3 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the Successor’s
nonvested non-performance-based restricted stock unit grants. This unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.9 years.

A summary of the status of our nonvested non-performance-based RSUs issued and the changes duringd the Successor
period is presented below:

Number
of Awards

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at September 19, 2020 (Successor) — $ —
Granted 1,219,867 24.67
Vested — —
Forfeited — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2020 (Successor) 1,219,867 24.67

Performance-Based Stock Units – Successor

In December 2020, the Successor Board of Directors granted performance stock unit (“PSU”) awards to a limited
number of employees. The PSU awards vest based on Denbury’s stock price reaching certain levels (based on the daily
volume-weighted average common stock price on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) for any consecutive 60-day
trading period), as shown in the tablea below, but delivery of the shares will not occur until the conclusion of the three-year
performance period. Shares to be delivered to participants are expected to be made available fromff authorized but unissued
shares reserved under the LTIP.

Tier Stock Price Hurdle
Cumulative Percentage of PSUs
Granted Hereunder that Become

V d(1)0 Less than $18.75 0%
1 $18.75 25%
2 $21.00 50%
3 $23.25 75%
4 $25.75 100%

(1) If the 60-day volume-weighted average price falff ls between the Stock Price Hurdles in Tier 1, 2, 3 or 4, then the
cumulative percentage of PSUs granted that become vested shall be calculated using straight-line interpolation
between the corresponding percentages in the table above.a

PSU awards are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation. Expected volatilities utilized in the model were estimated
using historical volatility of the Predecessor stock over a look-back term generally equivalent to the expected life off f the
award from the grant date.
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As of December 31, 2020, there was $16.6 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the Successor’s
nonvested PSU awards. This unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period
of 0.2 years, though the underlying shares will not be delivered until the conclusion of the three-year performance period.
The range of assumptim ons used in the Monte Carlo simulation valuation approach is as follows:

Successor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020
Weighted average fair value of PSU awards granted $ 24.19
Risk-frff ee interest rate 0.21 %
Expected life 0.23 years
Expected volatility 110.0 %
Dividend yield — %

A summary of the status of the nonvested PSU awards during the Successor period is as follows:

Number
of Awards

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date Fair
Value

Nonvested at September 19, 2020 (Successor) — $ —
Granted 1,021,222 24.19
Vested — —
Forfeited — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2020 (Successor) 1,021,222 24.19

June 2020 Compensation Adjustments – Predecessor

In response to the then ongoing significant economic and market uncertainty affecting the oil and gas industry, in June
2020 the Predecessor and its Board of Directors and Compensation Committee implemented a revised compensation
structure under which for 21 of the Company’s executives (including our named executive officers) and senior managers,
all outstanding equity awards and 2020 targeted variable cash-based compensation were canceled and replaced with a cash
retention incentive. In total, $15.2 million in cash retention incentives were prepaid to those employees in June 2020, with
an obligation of the executives to repay up tu o 100% of the compensation (on an after-tax basis) if specified conditions were
not satisfied. The Predecessor’s named executive officers’ cash retention incentives were earned 50% based on their
continued employment for a period of up to 12 months and 50% based on achieving certain specified incentive metrics.

In accordance with FASC Topic 718, Compensationm – Stock ComCC pensatim on, we accounted forff the transaction
involving equity compensation as an award modification and reclassified the awards from equity to liability awards. As a
result of the modification of the awards, unrecognized compensation at the time of modification was determined to be
$18.7 million ($4.1 million of incremental compensation expense), which was higher than the $15.2 million cash payment,
and was calculated as the greater of (i) grant date fairff value of the previously-outstanding awards plus incremental
compensation (defined as cash paid related to the cash retention incentive in excess of the modification date faiff r value of
the previously-existing awards) or (ii) cash paid forff the cash retention incentive for each award. The value was recognized
as total compensation expense for each award over the service period. The compensation expense was recognized in
“General and administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during the period January 1, 2020
through September 18, 2020 (Predecessor). The accounting for the Predecessor’s remaining share-based compensation
awards continued throughout the period covered by the Chapter 11 Restructuring, and upon cancellation of the awards, an
additional $4.6 million of compensation expense was recognized duringd the Predecessor period ended September 18, 2020.
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2004 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan – Predecessor

The Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of March 26, 2020 (the
“2004 Plan”), was an incentive plan that provided forff the issuance of incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricted
stock awards, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) settled in stock, and performance-based awards to
officers, employees and directors. Since the 2004 Plan’s inception, awards covering a total of 61.4 million shares of
common stock were authorized for issuance pursuant to the 2004 Plan. In connection with our emergence from
bankruptcy, all outstanding equity as of September 18, 2020 was cancelled.

SARs – Predecessor

Prior to January 1, 2016, the Predecessor granted SARs settled in stock to employees. The SARs generally became
exercisable over a three-year vesting period, with the specific terms of vesting determined at the time of grant based on
guidelines established by the Predecessor’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The SARs expired over
terms not to exceed 7 years from the date of grant, 90 days after termination of employment, 90 days or one year after
permanent disability, depending on the award, or one year after the death of the optionee. The SARs were granted with a
strike price equal to the fair market value at the time of grant, which was equal to the closing price on the NYSE on the
date of grant.

The following is a summary of the Predecessor’s SAR activity:

Number
of Awards

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 (Predecessor) 1,981,156 $ 9.12
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Forfeited — —
Expired (580,087) 12.38
Cancelled (1,401,069) 7.77
Outstanding at September 18, 2020 (Predecessor) — — — $ —

Exercisable at end of period — $ — — $ —

As of December 31, 2018, all SARs vested and there was no remaining compensation cost to be recognized in future
periods related to nonvested share-based SAR compensation arrangements. The grant-date faiff r value of SARs vested
during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1.1 million. There were no exercises of SARs forff the period January 1,
2020 through September 18, 2020 (Predecessor) or the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. In connection with our
emergence from bankruptcy, all SARs outstanding as of September 18, 2020 were cancelled.

Restricted Stock – Predecessor

During the Predecessor period, we granted non-performance-based restricted stock to employees and directors as part
of our long-term compensation program. Holders of non-performance-based restricted stock awards had the rights of
owning non-restricted stock (including voting rights) except that the holders were not entitled to delivery of a portion
thereof until certain requirements were met. Beginning in 2014, non-performance-based restricted stock awards provided
the holders with forfeitablea dividend equivalent rights which vested with the underlying shares. Non-performance-based
restricted stock vested over a three-year vesting period, with the specific terms of vesting determined at the time of grant.
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The folff lowing is a summary of the total vesting date faiff r value of non-performance-based restricted stock:
Predecessor

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Fair value of restricted stock vested $ 707 $ 5,743 $ 23,060

A summary of the status of our nonvested non-performance-based restricted stock grants issued and the changes
during the Predecessor period is presented below:

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2019 (Predecessor) 12,407,436 $ 1.91
Granted — —
Vested (2,743,473) 2.10
Forfeited — —
Cancelled (9,663,963) 1.85
Nonvested at September 18, 2020 (Predecessor) — —

In connection with our emergence from bankruptcy, all restricted stock outstanding as of September 18, 2020 was
cancelled and there was no remaining compensation cost to be recognized in future periods related to nonvested non-
performance-based restricted stock arrangements.

Performance-Based Equity Awards – Predecessor

The Predecessor’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors annually granted performance-based equity
awards to Denbury’s officers. Performance-based awards generally vested over 3.25 years for awards granted in 2018,
2019 and 2020. The number of performance-based shares earned (and eligible to vest) during the perforff mance period was
dependent upon: (1) the level of success in achieving specifically identified performance targets (“Performance-Based
Operational Awards”) and (2) performance of the Predecessor’s stock relative to that of a designated peer group
(“Performance-Based TSR Awards”). As discussed above, in conjunction with our 2020 compensation adjustments, all
outstanding Predecessor performance-based equity awards were canceled and replaced with a cash retention incentive in
June 2020.

Performance-Based Operational Awards were valued using the fair market value of the Predecessor’s stock, and
Performance-Based TSR Awards were valued using a Monte Carlo simulation. Expected volatilities utilized in the model
were estimated using historical volatility of the Predecessor stock over a look-back term generally equivalent to the
expected life of the award from the grant date. The range of assumptim ons used in the Monte Carlo simulation valuation
approach for Performance-Based TSR Awards (presented at the target level) is as follff ows:

Predecessor
Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Weighted average fair value of Performance-Based TSR Awards
granted $ 0.15 $ 1.95 $ 2.29
Risk-free interest rate 0.27 % 2.27 % 2.37 %
Expected life 3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years
Expected volatility 89.6 % 77.2 % 102.9 %
Dividend yield — % — % — %
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A summary of the status of the nonvested performance-based equity awards (presented at the target level) duringd the
Predecessor period is as follows:

Performance-Based
Operational Awards

Performance-Based
TSR Awards

Number
of Awards

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date Fair
Value

Number
of Awards

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date Fair
Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2019 (Predecessor) 1,838,584 $ 2.27 4,475,998 $ 2.65
Granted(1) — — 3,041,774 0.15
Vested(2) — — (742,996) 3.42
Forfeited (102,469) 2.28 (385,183) 1.26
Cancelled (1,736,115) 2.27 (6,389,593) 1.23
Nonvested at September 18, 2020 (Predecessor) — — — —

(1) Amounts granted reflect the number of performance units granted. The actual payout of the shares were between 0%
and 200%, with any amounts earned above the 100% target levels payable in cash, rather than in shares of stock, in
order to conserve available shares.

(2) During 2020, the service period lapsea d on these TSR perforff mance unit awards. The lapsea d units earned a weighted
average of 59% of target for each vested TSR perforff mance-based award, representing 438,363 aggregate shares of
Predecessor common stock issued. There were no vestings related to the Predecessor’s Operational performance-
based awards during 2020.

The following is a summary of the total vesting date faiff r value of performance-based equity awards for the
Predecessor:

Predecessor
Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Vesting date faiff r value of Performance-Based Operational Awards $ — $ — $ 595
Vesting date faiff r value of Performance-Based TSR Awards 79 2,783 542

Note 12. Commodity Derivative Contracts

We do not apply hedge accounting treatment to our oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts; therefore, the changes in
the fair values of these instruments are recognized in income in the period of change. These faiff r value changes, along with
the settlements of expired contracts, are shown under “Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Historically, we have entered into various oil and naturalt gas derivative contracts to provide an economic hedge of our
exposure to commodity price risk associated with anticipated futureff oil and naturalt gas production and to provide more
certainty to our future cash flows. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments forff trading
purposes. Generally, these contracts have consisted of various combinations of price floors,ff collars, three-way collars,
fixed-price swaps, fixeff d-price swaps enhanced with a sold put, and basis swaps. The production that we hedge has varied
from year to year depending on our levels of debt, finaff ncial strength and expectation of future commodity prices. Under
the terms of our Successor Bank Credit Agreement, by December 31, 2020, we were required to have hedges in place
covering a minimum of 65% of our anticipated crude oil production for the twelve calendar months between August 1,
2020 through July 31, 2021 and 35% of our anticipated crude oil production for the second twelve calendar months
between August 1, 2021 through July 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with the hedging
requirements of our Successor Bank Credit Agreement.

We manage and control market and counterparty credit risk through establia shed internal control procedures that are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. We attempt to minimize credit risk exposure to counterparties through formal credit
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policies, monitoring procedures and diversificff ation, and all of our commodity derivative contracts are with parties that are
lenders under our Successor Bank Credit Agreement (or affiliates of such lenders). As of December 31, 2020, all of our
outstanding derivative contracts were subject to enforceablea master netting arrangements whereby payablea s on those
contracts can be offset against receivables from separate derivative contracts with the same counterparty. It is our policy to
classify derivative assets and liabilities on a gross basis on our balance sheets, even if the contracts are subject to
enforceablea master netting arrangements.

The following tablea summarizes our commodity derivative contracts as of December 31, 2020, none of which are
classified as hedging instruments in accordance with the FASC Derivatives and Hedging topic:

Months Index Price

Volume
(Barrels per
day)

Contract Prices ($/Bbl)

Range(1)
Weighted Average Price

Swap Sold Put Floor Ceiling
Oil Contracts:
2021 Fixeii d-Price SwaSS psap
Jan – Dec NYMEX 26,000 $ 38.68 – 47.69 $ 42.54 $ — $ — $ —

2021 Collars
Jan – Dec NYMEX 3,000 $ 45.00 – 51.30 $ — $ — $ 45.00 $ 50.95

2022 Fixeii d-Price SwaSS psap
Jan – June NYMEX 8,500 $ 42.65 – 45.50 $ 43.55 $ — $ — $ —

(1) Ranges presented for fixed-price swapsa represent the lowest and highest fixed prices of all open contracts for the
period presented. For collars, ranges represent the lowest floor price and the highest ceiling price forff all open contracts
for the period presented.

Note 13. Fair Value Measurements

The FASC Fair ValVV ue Measurement topic defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liabia lity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (ofteff n referff red to as the
“exit price”). We utilize market data or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability,
including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily
observable, market corroborated or generally unobservable. We primarily apply the income approaa ch for recurring fair
value measurements and endeavor to utilize the best available information. Accordingly, we utilize valuation techniques
that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. We are able to classify fff aiff r value
balances based on the observability of those inputs. The FASC establia shes a faiff r value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forff
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurement). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as followff s:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.

• Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either
directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date. Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are
valued using models or other valuation methodologies. Instruments in this category include non-exchange-traded
oil derivatives that are based on NYMEX and regional pricing other than NYMEX (e.g., Light Louisiana
Sweet). Our costless collars and the sold put features of our three-way collars are valued using the Black-Scholes
model, an industry standard option valuation model that takes into account inputs such as contractual prices forff the
underlying instruments, maturity, quoted forwardff prices for commodities, interest rates, volatility factors and
credit worthiness, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these assumptim ons are
observable in the marketplat ce throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from observable data or
are supported by observablea levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplat ce.
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• Level 3 – Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable. These inputs may be used
with internally developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value. As of December
31, 2019, instruments in this category included non-exchange-traded three-way collars that were based on regional
pricing other than NYMEX (e.g., Light Louisiana Sweet). The valuation models utilized forff three-way collars
were consistent with the methodologies described above; however, the implied volatilities utilized in the valuation
of Level 3 instruments were developed using a benchmark, which was considered a significant unobservable
input.

We adjust the valuations from the valuation model forff nonperformance risk, using our estimate of the counterparty’s
credit quality forff asset positions and our credit quality forff liability positions. We use multiple sources of third-party credit
data in determining counterparty nonperformance risk, including credit default swaps.a

The following tablea sets forth,ff by level within the fair value hierarchy, our financial assets and liabilities that were
accounted forff at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Fair Value Measurements Using:

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

In thousands (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
December 31, 2020 (Successor)
Assets
Oil derivative contracts – current $ — $ 187 $ — $ 187
Total Assets $ — $ 187 $ — $ 187

Liabilities
Oil derivative contracts – current $ — $ (53,865) $ — $ (53,865)
Oil derivative contracts – long-term — (5,087) — (5,087)
Total Liabilities $ — $ (58,952) $ — $ (58,952)

December 31, 2019 (Predecessor)
Assets
Oil derivative contracts – current $ — $ 8,503 $ 3,433 $ 11,936
Total Assets $ — $ 8,503 $ 3,433 $ 11,936

Liabilities
Oil derivative contracts – current $ — $ (6,522) $ (1,824) $ (8,346)
Total Liabilities $ — $ (6,522) $ (1,824) $ (8,346)

Since we do not apply hedge accounting for our commodity derivative contracts, any gains and losses on our assets
and liabilities are included in “Commodity derivatives expense (income)” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

The following tablea summarizes the changes in the fair value of our Level 3 assets and liabilities for the periods
indicated:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended

In thousands Dec. 31, 2019
Fair value of Level 3 instruments, beginning of period $ — $ 1,609 $ 13,624
Transfers out of Level 3 — (1,609) —
Fair value adjustd ments on commodity derivatives — — (8,205)
Receipt on settlements of commodity derivatives — — (3,810)

Fair value of Level 3 instruments, end of period $ — $ — $ 1,609

The amount of total losses forff the period included in earnings
attributablea to the change in unrealized losses relating to assets or
liabilities still held at the reporting date $ — $ — $ (556)

Instruments previously categorized as Level 3 included non-exchange-traded three-way collars that were based on
regional pricing other than NYMEX, whereby the implied volatilities utilized were developed using a benchmark, which
was considered a significant unobservable input. The transfers between Level 3 and Level 2 duringd the period generally
relate to changes in the significant relevant observable and unobservable inputs that are availablea for the fair value
measurements of such financial instruments.

Other Fair Value Measurements

The carryirr ng value of our loans under our Successor Bank Credit Agreement approximate faiff r value, as they are
subject to short-term floating interest rates that approximate the rates availablea to us for those periods. We use a market
approach to determine the fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt using observable market data. The faiff r values of the
Predecessor’s senior secured second lien notes, convertible senior notes, and senior subordinated notes were based on
quoted market prices, which are considered Level 1 measurements under the fair value hierarchy. The estimated faiff r value
of the principal amount of our debt as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, excluding pipeline financing obligations, was $70.0
million and $1,833.1 million, respectively, which decrease is primarily the result of the cancellation of $2.1 billion
principal amount of debt as part of the Chapter 11 Restructuring. See Note 1, Nature of Oo peratO ions and Summary of
Signifii cant Accounting Policies – Emergence froff m VoluntaryVV Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of to hett Bankruptcyc
Code, forff additional information. We have other finff ancial instrumer nts consisting primarily of cash, cash equivalents, U.S.
Treasury notes, short-term receivables and payablea s that approxia mate fair value dued to the naturet of the instrument and the
relatively short maturities.

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

We have entered into long-term commitments to purchase CO2 that are either non-cancelablea or cancelablea only upon
the occurrence of specified future events. The commitments continue for up to 8 years. The price we will pay for CO2
generally varies depending on the amount of CO2 delivered and the price of oil. Our annual commitment under these
contracts could range from $15 million to $23 million per year, assuming a $60 per Bbl NYMEX oil price. In addition, we
have a processing fee contract related to our overriding royalty interest in the CO2 at LaBarge Field. We estimate our
annual commitment under this contract could range from $8 million to $11 million per year based on current processing fee
rates.
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We are party to long-term contracts that require us to deliver CO2 to our industrial CO2 customers at various contracted
prices. Based upon the maximum amounts deliverable as stated in the industrial contracts, we estimate that we may be
obligated to deliver up to 673 Bcf of CO2 to these customers over the next 14 years. The maximum volume required in any
given year is approximately 276 MMcf/d, which we judge to be minor given the size of our Jackson Dome proved CO2
reserves at December 31, 2020, our current production capabia lities and our projected levels of CO2 usage for our own
tertiary flooding program.

Chapter 11 Proceedings

On July 30, 2020, Denbury Resources Inc. and each of its wholly-owned subsidiaries filed for relief under chaptea r 11
of the Bankruptcy Code. The chaptea r 11 cases were administered jointly under the capta ion “In“ re Denbury Resources Inc.,
et al., Case No. 20-33801”. On September 2, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Confirmation Order and on the
Emergence Date, all of the conditions of the Plan were satisfiedff or waived and the Plan became effeff ctive and was
implemented in accordance with its terms. On September 30, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court closed the chapter 11 cases of
each of Denbury Inc.’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. The chaptea r 11 case captia oned “In“ re Denbury Resources Inc., et al.,
Case No. 20-33801” will remain pending until the final resolution of all outstanding claims.

Litigation

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims and regulatory proceedings incidental to our businesses. While we
currently believe that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows, litigation is subject to inherent
uncertainties. We accrue for losses from litigation and claims if we determine that a loss is probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated.

Rileye Ridge Helium Supply Contract Claim

As part of our 2010 and 2011 acquisitions of the Riley Ridge Unit and associated gas processing facility that was
under construction, the Company assumed a 20-year helium supply contract under which we agreed to supply the helium
separated from the full well stream by operation of the gas processing facility to a third-party purchaser, APMTG Helium,
LLC (“APMTG”).

As the gas processing facility was shut-in during mid-2014 due to significant technical issues, we were not able to
supply helium under the helium supplyu contract. In a case filed in November 2014 in the Ninth Judicial District Court of
Sublette County, Wyoming, APMTG claimed multiple years of liquidated damages for non-delivery of volumes of helium
specified under the helium supplyu contract. The Company claimed that its contractual obligations were excused by virtuet
of events that fall within the force majea ure provisions in the helium supply contract.

On March 11, 2019, the trial court entered a final judgment that a force majeua re condition did exist, but such condition
only excused the Company’s performance for a 35-day period in 2014, and as a result the Company should pay APMTG
liquidated damages and interest thereon for all other time periods for performance from contract commencement to the
close of evidence (November 29, 2017). On December 4, 2020, the Wyoming Supreme Court entered a judgment
affirming the trial court’s ruling on all counts and, as a result, the Company paid total liquidated damages (including
interest) of $52.1 million to APMTG on December 23, 2020 in full satisfaction of all claims. The Company had previously
recorded an accrual for these costs in “Accounts payablea and accruedr liabilities” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Other Contingencies

We are subjeu ct to audits for various taxes (income, sales and use, and severance) in the various states in which we
operate, and from time to time receive assessments for potential taxes that we may owe. In the past, settlement of these
matters has not had a material adverse financial impact on us, and currently we have no material assessments for potential
taxes.

We are subjeu ct to various possible contingencies that arise primarily from interpretation of federal and state laws and
regulations affecting the oil and natural gas industry. Such contingencies include differff ing interpretations as to the prices at
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which oil and naturalt gas sales may be made, the prices at which royalty owners may be paid forff production from their
leases, environmental issues and other matters. Although we believe that we have complied with the various laws and
regulations, administrative rulings and interpretations thereof, adjustments could be required as new interpretations and
regulations are issued. In addition, production rates, marketing and environmental matters are subject to regulation by
various federal and state agencies.

Note 15. Additional Balance Sheet Details

Rollforward of Allowance forff Doubtful Accounts

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended

In thousands Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2018
Beginning balance $ 22,146 $ 17,137 $ 17,070 $ 229
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,060 5,297 68 16,911
Write-offs — (288) (1) (70)

Ending balance $ 23,206 $ 22,146 $ 17,137 $ 17,070

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Successor Predecessor
In thousands December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Accrued general and administrative expenses $ 21,825 $ 21,838
Accrued lease operating expenses 21,294 26,686
Accounts payablea 18,629 29,077
Taxes payable 17,221 21,274
Accrued compensation 7,512 36,366
Accrued exploration and development costs 1,861 7,811
Accrued interest 1,833 25,253
Other 22,496 15,527
Total $ 112,671 $ 183,832
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Note 16. Supplemental Cash Flow Informationff

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Successor Predecessor

Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid forff interest, expensed $ 813 $ 29,357 $ 72,842 $ 50,076
Cash paid forff interest, capia talized 1,261 22,885 36,671 37,079
Cash paid forff interest, treated as a reduction of
debt — 46,417 85,303 79,606
Cash paid forff income taxes — 453 2,361 492
Cash received from income tax refunds 10,457 1,932 9,820 8,280

Noncash investing and financing activities
Increase in asset retirement obligations 23,398 4,328 13,560 4,499
Increase (decrease) in liabilities for capia tal
expenditurest 1,867 (12,809) (17,740) 14,600
Conversion of convertible senior notes into
common stock — 11,501 — 162,004

Note 17. Subsequent Event

On March 3, 2021, we closed on an agreement to acquire working interest positions in the Big Sand Draw and Beaver
Creek oil fields located in Wyoming, including surface facilities and a CO2 transportation pipeline to the acquired fieff lds,
for a cash purchase price of $12 million before closing adjustments.
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SUPPLEMENTAL OIL AND NATURAL GAS DISCLOSURES (UNAUDITED)

Costs Incurred

The following tablea summarizes costs incurred and capita alized in oil and naturalt gas property acquisition, exploration
and development activities. Property acquisition costs are those costs incurred to purchase, lease or otherwise acquire
property, including both undeveloped leasehold and the purchase of reserves in place. Exploration costs include costs of
identifying areas that may warrant examination and examining specific areas that are considered to have prospects
containing oil and naturalt gas reserves, including costs of drilling exploratory wells, geological and geophysical costs, and
carrying costs on undeveloped properties. Development costs are incurred to obtain access to proved reserves, including
the cost of drilling development wells, and to provide facilities for extracting, treating, gathering and storing the oil and
naturalt gas, and the cost of improvedm recovery systems.

We capita alize interest on unevaluated oil and naturalt gas properties that have ongoing development
activities. Included in costs incurred in the tablea below is capita alized interest of $1.2 million for the period September 19,
2020 through December 31, 2020 (Successor), $22.0 million for the period January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020
(Predecessor), and $34.1 million and $36.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Costs incurred also include new asset retirement obligations established, as well as changes to asset
retirement obligations resulting fromff revisions in cost estimates or abaa ndonment dates. Asset retirement obligations
included in the tablea below were $3.4 million for the period September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020 (Successor),
$2.5 million for the period January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020 (Predecessor), and $15.2 million and $6.8 million
during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. See Note 6, Asset Retirement Obligations, forff
additional information.

Costs incurred in oil and naturalt gas activities were as follff ows:
Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands 2019 2018
Property acquisitions
Proved $ 130 $ 278 $ 1,542 $ 2,030
Unevaluated — — — —

Exploration 60 260 2,575 1,030
Development 23,741 92,212 259,641 338,203
Total costs incurred(1) $ 23,931 $ 92,750 $ 263,758 $ 341,263

(1) Capita alized general and administrative costs that directly relate to exploration and development activities were
$5.6 million for the period September 19, 2020 through December 31, 2020 (Successor), $19.5 million for the period
January 1, 2020 through September 18, 2020 (Predecessor), and $39.5 million and $37.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Oil and Natural Gas Operating Results

Results of operations from oil and naturalt gas producing activities, excluding corporate overhead and interest costs,
were as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Period from
Sept. 19, 2020
through

Dec. 31, 2020

Period from
Jan. 1, 2020
through

Sept. 18, 2020
Year Ended December 31,

In thousands, excee ept per-BOE dOO atdd a 2019 2018
Oil, naturalt gas, and related product sales $ 201,108 $ 492,101 $ 1,212,020 $ 1,422,589
Lease operating expenses 101,234 250,271 477,220 489,720
Transportation and marketing expenses 10,595 27,164 41,810 43,942
Production and ad valorem taxes 15,061 38,647 86,820 96,589
Depletion, depreciation, and amortization 37,549 104,504 161,400 144,423
CO2 properties and pipelines depletion and
depreciation(1) 1,744 33,839 53,120 48,792
Write-down of oil and natural gas properties 1,006 996,658 — —
Commodity derivatives expense (income) 61,902 (102,032) 70,078 (21,087)
Net operating income (loss) (27,983) (856,950) 321,572 620,210

Income tax provision (benefit) — (214,238) 80,393 155,053
Results of operations from oil and naturalt gas
producing activities $ (27,983) $ (642,712) $ 241,179 $ 465,157

Depletion, depreciation, and amortization per BOE $ 7.72 $ 10.15 $ 10.10 $ 8.77

(1) Represents an allocation of the depletion and depreciation of our CO2 properties and pipelines associated with our
tertiary oil producing activities.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

Net proved oil and naturalt gas reserve estimates forff all years presented were prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton,
independent petroleum engineers located in Dallas, Texas. These oil and naturalt gas reserve estimates do not include any
value for probable or possible reserves that may exist, nor do they include any value for undeveloped acreage. The reserve
estimates represent our net revenue interest in our properties. See Standardized Measure of Discounted FutFF ure Net CasCC h
Flows and Changes Therein Relating to Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves below for a discussion of the effect of the
different prices on reserve quantities and values. Operating costs, production and ad valorem taxes, and future
development costs were based on current costs as of December 31, 2020.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting the future rates
of production and timing of development expenditures. The following reserve data represents estimates only and should
not be construed as being exact. Moreover, the present values should not be construed as the current market value of our
oil and naturalt gas reserves or the costs that would be incurred to obtain equivalent reserves. Estimates of reserves as of
year-end 2020, 2019 and 2018 were prepared using an average price equal to the unweighted arithmetic average of
hydrocarbon prices received on a fieff ld-by-field basis on the first day of each month within the applicablea fiscal 12-month
period. All of our reserves are located in the United States.
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Estimated Quantities of Proved Reserves
Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Oil

(MBbl)
Gas

(MMcf)
Total
(MBOE)

Oil
(MBbl)

Gas
(MMcf)

Total
(MBOE)

Oil
(MBbl)

Gas
(MMcf)

Total
(MBOE)

Balance at beginning of
year 226,133 24,334 230,189 255,042 43,008 262,210 252,625 42,721 259,745
Revisions of previous
estimates (63,359) (5,822) (64,329) (6,799) (15,299) (9,348) 21,658 6,115 22,677
Improved recovery(1) — — — 977 — 977 2,314 (157) 2,288
Production (18,237) (2,905) (18,721) (20,685) (3,375) (21,248) (21,364) (3,962) (22,024)
Sales of minerals in place (4,038) (3) (4,039) (2,402) — (2,402) (191) (1,709) (476)
Balance at end of year 140,499 15,604 143,100 226,133 24,334 230,189 255,042 43,008 262,210

Proved Developed
Reserves – end of year 136,402 15,604 139,003 202,816 24,333 206,872 222,736 42,912 229,888
Proved Undeveloped
Reserves – end of year 4,097 — 4,097 23,317 1 23,317 32,306 96 32,322

(1) Improved recovery reflects reserve additions that result from the application of secondary recovery methods such as
water floodiff ng or tertiary recovery methods such as CO2 flooding. In order to recognize proved tertiary oil reserves,
we must either have an oil production response to CO2 injections or the field must be analogous to an existing tertiary
flood. The magnitudet of proved reserves that we can book in any given year will depend on our progress with new
floods and the timing of the production response.

Revisions of previous estimates duringd 2020, 2019, and 2018 primarily reflect changes in commodity prices between
December 31, 2017 and 2020.

There were no significant additions to our oil and naturalt gas reserves, as the magnitudet of proved reserves that we can
book in any given year depends on our progress with new floods and the timing of the production response, and we
initiated no new floodsff in 2020, 2019 or 2018.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows and Changes Therein Relating to Proved Oil and
Natural Gas Reserves

The Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows and Changes Therein Relating to Proved Oil and
Natural Gas Reserves (“Standardized Measure”) does not purport to present the fair market value of our oil and naturalt gas
properties. An estimate of such value should consider, among other facff tors, anticipated futureff prices of oil and naturalt gas,
the probability of recoveries in excess of existing proved reserves, the value of probable reserves and acreage prospects,
and perhapsa different discount rates. It should be noted that estimates of reserve quantities, especially fromff new
discoveries, are inherently imprecise and subject to substantial revision.

Under the Standardized Measure, future cash inflowsff were estimated by appla ying a first-daff y-of-the-month 12-month
average price to the estimated future production of year-end proved reserves. These prices have a significant impact on
both the quantities and value of the proved reserves, as reductions in oil and naturalt gas prices can cause wells to reach the
end of their economic life mff uch sooner and can make certain proved undeveloped locations uneconomical, both of which
reduce the reserves. The following representative oil and naturalt gas prices were used in the Standardized Measure. These
prices were adjusted d by fieff ld to arrive at the appropriaa te corporate net price.

December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Oil (NYMEX price per Bbl) $ 39.57 $ 55.69 $ 65.56
Natural Gas (Henry Hub price per MMBtu) 1.99 2.58 3.10
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The changes in the Standardized Measure of discounted futureff net cash flows in the tablea s that follow were
significantly impacted by the movement in first-day-of-the-month average NYMEX oil prices between 2018 and 2020.
The weighted-average oil prices we receive relative to NYMEX oil prices (our NYMEX oil price differential) utilized were
$3.73 per Bbl below representative NYMEX oil prices as of December 31, 2020, compared to $0.14 per Bbl below
representative NYMEX oil prices as of December 31, 2019, and $0.24 per Bbl below representative NYMEX oil prices as
of December 31, 2018.

Future cash inflows were reduced by estimated future production, development and abandonment costs based on
current cost, with no escalation to determine pre-tax cash inflows. Our future net inflowsff do not include a reductd ion for
cash previously expended on our capita alized CO2 assets that will be consumed in the production of proved tertiary
reserves. Future income taxes were computed by appla ying the statutory tax rate to the excess of net cash inflowsff over our
tax basis in the associated proved oil and naturalt gas properties. Tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards were also
considered in the future income tax calculation. Future net cash inflows after income taxes were discounted using a 10%
annual discount rate to arrive at the Standardized Measure.

December 31,
In thousands 2020 2019 2018
Future cash inflows $ 5,010,288 $ 12,494,358 $ 16,657,988
Future production costs (3,300,890) (6,813,610) (8,000,884)
Future development costs (962,224) (1,434,934) (1,524,476)
Future income taxes (59,600) (586,441) (1,186,769)
Future net cash flows 687,574 3,659,373 5,945,859

10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flowsff (32,840) (1,398,334) (2,594,474)
Standardized measure of discounted futureff net cash flows $ 654,734 $ 2,261,039 $ 3,351,385

The following tablea sets forth an analysis of changes in the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash
Flows fromff proved oil and naturalt gas reserves:

Year Ended December 31,
In thousands 2020 2019 2018
Beginning of year $ 2,261,039 $ 3,351,385 $ 2,232,429
Sales of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs (250,237) (608,060) (797,132)
Net changes in prices and production costs (1,753,248) (1,244,859) 1,963,333
Improved recovery(1) — 5,785 11,536
Previously estimated development costs incurred 28,182 81,024 109,214
Change in future development costs 11,200 (35,624) (42,240)
Revisions due to timing and other (127,046) 41,841 10,915
Accretion of discount 233,663 367,313 234,434
Sales of minerals in place (55,102) (16,892) 1,281
Net change in income taxes 306,283 319,126 (372,385)
End of year $ 654,734 $ 2,261,039 $ 3,351,385

(1) Improved recovery additions result from the application of secondary recovery methods such as water floff oding or
tertiary recovery methods such as CO2 flooding.
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SUPPLEMENTAL CO2 DISCLOSURES (UNAUDITED)

Based on engineering reports prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, proved CO2 reserves were estimated as
follff ows:

Year Ended December 31,
In MMcf 2020 2019 2018
CO2 reserves
Gulf Coast region(1) 4,641,812 4,786,881 4,982,440
Rocky Mountain region(2) 1,089,101 1,120,060 1,155,538

(1) Proved CO2 reserves in the Gulf Coast region consist of reserves fromff our reservoirs at Jackson Dome and are
presented on a gross (8/8ths) basis, of which our net revenue interest was approxia mately 3.7 Tcf, 3.8 Tcf and 4.0 Tcf at
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and include reserves dedicated to volumetric production payments
of 3.1 Bcf at December 31, 2018.

(2) Proved CO2 reserves in the Rocky Mountain region consist of our overriding royalty interest in LaBarge Field, of
which our net revenue interest was approxima ately 1.1 Tcf, 1.1 Tcf and 1.2 Tcf at December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosureg g g

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) was performed under the
supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effecff tive as of December 31, 2020, to ensure that information that is required to be disclosed
in the reports the Company files and submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded; that it is processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms; and that information that is
required to be disclosed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Evaluation of Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, we have determined that, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, there were no changes in our
internal control over financial reporting that have materially affecff ted, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establia shing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we
assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on the framework in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that assessment, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements forff external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in the report that appears herein.

Important Considerations

The effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting is subject
to various inherent limitations, including cost limitations, judgments used in decision making, assumptim ons about the
likelihood of future events, the soundness of our systems, the possibility of human error, and the risk of fraud. Moreover,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions and the risk that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate
over time. Because of these limitations, there can be no assurance that any system of disclosure controls and procedures or
internal control over financial reporting will be successfulff in preventing all errors or fraud or in making all material
information known in a timely manner to the appropriate levels of management.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance, p

Except as disclosed below, information as to Item 10 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement (“Proxy Statement”) for
the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 26, 2021 (“Annual Meeting”) and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers. This Code of Ethics, including any amendments or
waivers, is posted on our website at www.denbury.com.y

Item 11. Executive Compensationp

Information as to Item 11 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Mattersy p g

Information as to Item 12 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independencep , p

Information as to Item 13 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servicesp

Information as to Item 14 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting and is incorporated herein
by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Schedules. Financial statements and schedules filed as a part of this report are presented on
page 70. All financff ial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information
is presented in the financial statements or the notes to consolidated finaff ncial statements.

Exhibits. The following exhibits are included as part of this report.
Exhibit No. Exhibit
2(a) Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Denbury Resources Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates (Technical

Modifications) (incorprr orated by reference to Exhibit A of the Order Approving the Debtors’ Disclosure
Statement For, and Confirming, the Debtors’ Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Denbury
Resources Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates, filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed by the Company on
September 4, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

3(a) Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Denbury Resources Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of Form 8-K filed by the Company on September 18, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

3(b) Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Denbury Resources Inc., as of September 18, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Form 8-K filed by the Company on September 18, 2020, File
No. 001-12935).

4(a) Series A Warrant Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2020, by and between Denbury Inc., and
Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 8-K filed
by the Company on September 18, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

4(b) Series B Warrant Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2020, by and between Denbury Inc., and
Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 8-K filed
by the Company on September 18, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

4(c) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2020, among Denbury Inc. and certain holders
identified therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 8-K filed by the Company on
September 18, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

10(a) Credit Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2020, by and among Denbury Inc., as borrower, the lenders
party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, swingline lender, and letter of
credit issuer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed by the Company on September
18, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

10(b) ** Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between Denbury Inc. and its officers and directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Form 8-K filed by the Company on September 18, 2020,
File No. 001-12935).

10(c) Restructuring Support Agreement, dated July 28, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 29, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

10(d) ** 2020 Form of Incentive Bonus Agreement for Denbury Resources Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(g) of Form 10-Q filed by the Company on August 11, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

10(e) ** Denbury Inc. 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form
8-K filed by the Company on December 4, 2020, File No. 001-12935).

10(f) * ** 2020 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan forff
Denbury Inc.
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Exhibit No. Exhibit
10(g) * ** 2020 Form of Director Deferreff d Stock Unit Award under the 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan forff

Denbury Inc.

10(h) * ** 2020 Form of Performance Stock Unit Award under the 2020 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan forff
Denbury Irr nc.

21* List of subsidiaries of Denbury Inc.

23(a)* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

23(b)* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

23(c)* Consent of DeGolyer and MacNaughton.

31(a)* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31(b)* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99* The summary of DeGolyer and MacNaughton’s Report as of December 31, 2020, on oil and gas reserves
(SEC Case) dated February 5, 2021.

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Document Labela Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Included herewith.
** Compensation arrangements.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summaryy

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Denbury Inc. has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dulyd authorized.

DENBURY INC.

March 5, 2021 /s/ Mark C. Allen
Mark C. Allen
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

March 5, 2021 /s/ Nicole Jennings
Nicole Jennings
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of Denbury Inc. and in the capaa cities and on the dates indicated.

March 5, 2021 /s/ Christian S. Kendall
Christian S. Kendall
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 5, 2021 /s/ Mark C. Allen
Mark C. Allen
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 5, 2021 /s/ Nicole Jennings
Nicole Jennings
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 5, 2021 /s/ Kevin O. Meyers
Kevin O. Meyers
Director

March 5, 2021 /s/ Anthony Abate
Anthony Abate
Director

March 5, 2021 /s/ Caroline Angoorly
Caroline Angoorly
Director

March 5, 2021 /s/ James Chapman
James Chapman
Director

Denbury Inc.
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March 5, 2021 /s/ Lynn A. Peterson
Lynn A. Peterson
Director

March 5, 2021 /s/ Brett Wiggs
Brett Wiggs
Director

Denbury Inc.
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Exhibit 21

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization

Denbury Operating Company Delaware

Denbury Onshore, LLC Delaware

Denbury Pipeline Holdings, LLC Delaware

Denbury Holdings, Inc. Delaware

Denbury Green Pipeline – Texas, LLC Delaware

Greencore Pipeline Company, LLC Delaware

Denbury Gulf Coast Pipelines, LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23(a)

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-251121) of
Denbury Inc. of our report dated March 5, 2021 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 5, 2021



Exhibit 23(b)

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-251121) of
Denbury Resources Inc. of our report dated March 5, 2021 relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form
10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 5, 2021



Exhibit 23(c)

DeGolyer and MacNaughton
5001 Spring Valley Road

Suite 800 East
Dallas, Texas 75244

March 1, 2021

Denbury Inc.
5851 Legacy Circle
Plano, Texas 75024

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We hereby consent to the use of the name DeGolyer and MacNaughton, to references to DeGolyer and MacNaughton,
to the inclusion of our report of third party dated February 5, 2021, regarding the proved reserves of Denbury Inc., and to
the inclusion of information taken from our reports entitled “Report as of December 31, 2020 on Reserves and Revenue of
Certain Properties with interests attributablea to Denbury Inc.,” “Report as of December 31, 2019 on Reserves and Revenue
of Certain Properties with interests attributablea to Denbury Resources Inc.,” and “Report as of December 31, 2018 on
Reserves and Revenue of Certain Properties with interests attributablea to Denbury Rrr esources Inc. SEC Case” in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Denbury Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Very truly yours,

/s/ DeGolyer and MacNaughton
DeGolyer and MacNaughton
Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-716



Exhibit 31(a)

CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christian S. Kendall, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Denbury Inc. (the registrant);

2. Based on my knowledgek , this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material facff t or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other finaff ncial information included in this report, faiff rly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establia shing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscff al quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over finaff ncial reporting.

March 5, 2021 /s/ Christian S. Kendall
Christian S. Kendall
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31(b)

CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark C. Allen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Denbury Inc. (the registrant);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material facff t or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other finaff ncial information included in this report, faiff rly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establia shing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscff al quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over finaff ncial reporting.

March 5, 2021 /s/ Mark C. Allen
Mark C. Allen
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer, and Assistant Secretary



Exhibit 32

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officff er
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the Report) of
Denbury Inc. (Denbury) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, each of the undersigned, in his capaca ity as
an officer of Denbury, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Denbury.

Dated: March 5, 2021 /s/ Christian S. Kendall
Christian S. Kendall
Director, President and Chief Executive Officff er

Dated: March 5, 2021 /s/ Mark C. Allen
Mark C. Allen
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer, and Assistant Secretary
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
REQUESTS
For additional information and to receive 

additional copies of the Annual Report on 

Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or to  

obtain other Denbury public documents,  

please contact:

Denbury Inc.  

Investor Relations 

5851 Legacy Circle, Suite 1200  

Plano, Texas 75024 

972.673.2000 

Email: ir@denbury.com

Our Form 10-K filed with the SEC is included 

herein, excluding all exhibits other than our 

Section 302, 404 and 906 certifications by the 

CEO and CFO. We will send shareholders our 

Form 10-K exhibits and any of our corporate 

governance documents, without charge, 

upon request. These documents are also 

available on our website at   

www.denbury.com.

ANNUAL MEETING
The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be 

held virtually at 

 

(1-800-586-1548 for questions)  at 8:00 A.M. 

CDT on Wednesday, May 26, 2021.

LEGAL COUNSEL
Baker & Hostetler LLP

BANKERS
J.P. Morgan (Agent)

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED  
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

RESERVE ENGINEERS
DeGolyer and MacNaughton

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 

Ticker Symbol: DEN

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS 
 
Denbury Inc. 

5851 Legacy Circle, Suite 1200 

Plano, Texas 75024 

972. 673. 2000 

www.denbury.com

STOCK TRANSFER AGENT  
& REGISTRAR
For questions concerning dividends, stock 

certificates, transfer procedures or  

address changes, please contact:

Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions 

P.O. Box 1342, Brentwood, NY 11717 

866.804.4482 

Email: shareholder@broadridge.com 

www.shareholder.broadridge.com/bcis

INVESTOR INQUIRIES

Investor Relations

972. 673. 2000

Email: ir@denbury.com

ANNUAL CERTIFICATIONS
During 2020, our Chief Executive Officer 

certified to the NYSE that he is not aware of 

any violation by the Company of the NYSE’s 

corporate governance listing standards.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Kevin O. Meyers

Chairman of the Board

Independent Consultant

Anthony M. Abate

Founder, Chief Operating Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer

Echo360, Inc.

Caroline G. Angoorly

Managing Partner

GreenTao LLC

James N. Chapman

Independent Consultant

Christian S. Kendall

President and

Chief Executive Officer

Denbury Inc.

Lynn A. Peterson

Chief Executive Officer and 

President

Whiting Petroleum Corporation

Brett R. Wiggs

Chief Executive Officer

Oryx Midstream Services

Cindy A. Yeilding 

Independent Consultant

CONTACTING BOARD MEMBERS
You may contact our board members 

by addressing a letter to Denbury Inc., 

Attn: Corporate Secretary, or by email to 

secretary@denbury.com

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Christian S. Kendall

President and

Chief Executive Officer

Mark Allen

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial

Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary

Jim Matthews

Executive Vice President,

Chief Administrative Officer, General

Counsel and Secretary
DEN

CORPORATE INFORMATION

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/DEN2021



Denbury Inc.

5851 Legacy Circle, Suite 1200

Plano, Texas 75024

972.673.2000

www.denbury.com
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